

Attachments Excluded From Agenda

Meeting of Singleton Council

Tuesday 15 March 2022

"To provide quality services to the community in an efficient and friendly manner encouraging responsible development"

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Organisation and Community Capacity Report (Items Requiring Decision)

DOCC8/22 Draft Internal Audit Policy

	Draft Guidelines for Risk Management and Internal Audit
	Framework for Local Councils in NSW - August 2021
2:	Draft Internal Audit Policy 116

Infrastructure & Planning Report (Items Requiring Decision)

DI&P5/22	Finalisation of Planning Proposal for Proposed Reclassification of Land at 1-3 Bathurst Street Singleton	
1:	Planning Proposal - 1-3 Bathurst street Singleton - Post	

	exhibition	133
2:	Singleton Council - Public Hearing Independent Report - 8	
	December 2021	234

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL AUDIT for local councils in NSW



August 2021





GUIDELINES FOR RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL AUDIT FOR LOCAL COUNCILS IN NSW

2021

ACCESS TO SERVICES

The Office of Local Government is located at:Street Address: Levels 1 & 2, 5 O'Keefe Avenue, NOWRA NSW 2541Postal Address: Locked Bag 3015, Nowra, NSW 2541Phone:02 4428 4100Fax:02 4428 4199TTY:02 4428 4209Email :olg@olg.nsw.gov.auWebsite:www.olg.nsw.gov.au

OFFICE HOURS

Monday to Friday 9.00am to 5.00pm (Special arrangements may be made if these hours are unsuitable) All offices are wheelchair accessible.

ALTERNATIVE MEDIA PUBLICATIONS

Special arrangements can be made for our publications to be provided in large print or an alternative media format. If you need this service, please contact Client Services on 02 4428 4100.

DISCLAIMER

While every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information in this publication, the Office of Local Government expressly disclaims any liability to any person in respect of anything done or not done as a result of the contents of the publication or the data provided.

© NSW Office of Local Government, Department of Planning, Industry and Environment 2021 Produced by the NSW Office of Local Government, Department of Planning, Industry and Environment

Contents

Background	5
Purpose	6
Statutory framework	8
Annual attestation	100
Monitoring	11
Core requirement 1: Audit, risk and improvement committees	12
Guiding principles for audit, risk and improvement committees	13
Role and functions	13
Workplans	13
Providing advice to the governing body	155
Terms of Reference	18
Structure	18
Size and composition	19
Shared committees	22
Independence requirements	23
Eligibility requirements	23
Appointment	25
Membership terms	26
Fees	27
Roles of committee members	28
Key relationships	29
Meetings	30
Confidentiality	33
Secretariat	33
Access to council, staff, resources and information	33
Disputes	344
Conduct	344
Insurance	35
Learning and development	35
Review of committee performance Annual attestation	36 37
Resignation of committee members	377
Dismissal of committee members	38
Further resources	39
Tuttler resources	55
Core requirement 2: Risk management	41
Guiding principles for risk management	42
Standards	42
County councils and joint organisations	44
Resourcing	45

Guidelines for Risk Management and Internal Audit for Local Government in NSW

3

Roles and responsibilities	45
Review and reporting	48
Annual attestation	49
Further resources	50
Core requirement 3: Internal audit function	51
Guiding principles for internal audit	52
Independence	522
Resourcing	52
Internal Audit Charter	53
Role of the general manager	53
Role of the audit, risk and improvement committee	54
Structure	54
In-house internal audit function	55
Outsourced internal audit function	58
Shared internal audit function	60
Workplans	62
Performing internal audits	62
Providing advice to the audit, risk and improvement committee	644
Internal audit documents	64
Review of internal audit function performance	65
Reporting concerns about councillors or council staff	66
Annual attestation	66
Further resources	68
Implementation	69
Audit, risk and improvement committees	70
Risk management framework	70
Internal audit function	700
Attestation	700
Appendix 1: Attestation template and Determination template	711
Appendix 2: Audit, risk and improvement committee – role and responsibilities	766
Appendix 3: Model Terms of Reference for audit, risk and improvement committees	822
Appendix 4: Council categories	95
Appendix 5: Example risk management policy	99
Appendix 6: Model Internal Audit Charter	1022

Background





Background

The Local Government Act 1993 ('Local Government Act') and the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 ('Local Government Regulation') require each council in NSW to have:

- → an audit, risk and improvement committee that continuously reviews and provides independent advice to the council on how it is functioning and managing risk
- → a robust risk management framework that accurately identifies and mitigates the risks facing the council and its operations, and
- → an effective internal audit function that provides independent advice as to whether the council is functioning effectively and the council's internal controls to manage risk are working.

These three mandatory governance mechanisms are a vital part of the NSW Government's plan to ensure that councils are doing things the best way they can for their communities and are on track to delivering their community's goals and objectives.

Communities themselves will ultimately be the greatest beneficiaries.

If implemented effectively, audit, risk and improvement committees, risk management and internal audit will lead to councils:

- → achieving their strategic objectives in the most efficient, effective and economical manner
- → having better and more efficient levels of service delivery
- → having increased accountability and transparency
- → achieving better decision-making and having the confidence to make difficult decisions
- → having increased financial stability
- → achieving and maintaining compliance with all laws, regulations, internal policies and procedures, and
- → better safeguarding their public assets.

Purpose

These guidelines have been developed to assist councils, county councils and joint organisations to comply with statutory requirements under the Local Government Act and Local Government Regulation.

They also seek to strengthen risk management and internal audit practices in NSW councils by setting a minimum standard that reflects a 'best practice' approach.

The Guidelines have been issued under the Local Government Regulation (clause #tbc) which confers on the Secretary of the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment, ('Secretary DPIE'), the power to issue guidelines on the appointment and operation of audit, risk and improvement committees and the implementation by councils, county councils and joint organisations of risk management and internal audit activities.

Councils are required under the Local Government Regulation to comply with these Guidelines when establishing and operating their audit, risk and improvement committees, risk management framework and internal audit functions.

They replace the NSW Government's *Internal Audit Guidelines for Local Government in NSW* issued in 2010.

The three core requirements outlined in the Guidelines reflect international standards and the recommendations and opinions of internal audit practitioners, councils, councillors, audit, risk and improvement committee members, risk management practitioners, government agencies, experts and community members.

They are also informed by practices in other Australian jurisdictions and give effect to the recommendations of the:

→ Independent Commission Against Corruption in its inquiries into Burwood Council (2011) and Botany Bay Council (2017)

- → Local Government Acts Taskforce in its review of the Local Government Act 1993 (2013)
- → Independent Local Government Review Panel in its *Revitalising Local Government* inquiry (2013), and
- → various performance audits and other reviews conducted by the NSW Auditor-General since 2010.

Based on these recommendations:

- → the core requirements outlined in the Guidelines relating to the operation of a council's audit, risk and improvement committee have been modelled on the Internal Audit and Risk Management Policy for the General Government Sector (TPP 20-08) developed by NSW Treasury and best practice in the public and private sectors
- → the core requirements relating to risk management have been modelled on the current Australian risk management standard, AS/NZS ISO 31000:2018 Risk Management – Guidelines, and
- → the core requirements relating to a council's internal audit function have been modelled on the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing (the 'International Professional Practices Framework') and best practice in the public and private sectors.

The framework balances these professional standards and best practice approaches with the unique structure, needs and operating environments of metropolitan, regional and rural councils, county councils and joint organisations across NSW.

The release of these Guidelines follows an extensive consultation process. The Office of Local Government thanks all the individuals, councils and bodies involved in the development of the risk management and internal audit regulatory framework.

Further resources

There has been a wide range of information and guidance developed in recent times by government agencies, experts, practitioners and other bodies to help organisations establish effective audit, risk and improvement committees, risk management frameworks and internal audit functions.

As a starting point, a list of further resources has been included at the end of each core requirement. These resources provide practical information and tools such as examples, templates, checklists and sample documents that councils may find useful when implementing these Guidelines.

Terminology

When a joint organisation is applying these Guidelines, it should substitute the term "council" for "joint organisation", "governing body" for "board", "chairperson" for 'mayor". "voting representative" for "councillor" and "executive officer" for "general manager" and "annual report" for "annual performance statement", where appropriate.

Where a county council is applying these guidelines, it should substitute the terms "county council" for "council" and "member" for "councillor", where appropriate.

7

Statutory framework

The Local Government Act and Local Government Regulation provide the statutory foundations and prescribe the desired outcomes for councils' audit, risk and improvement committees, risk management frameworks and internal audit functions.

Relevant provisions of the Local Government Act and Local Government Regulation are detailed below.

Guiding principles of local government

The guiding principles of the Local Government Act (sections 8A, 8B and 8C) require each council to carry out its functions in a way that provides the best possible value for residents and ratepayers.

The guiding principles also specify that councils are to:

- → spend money responsibly and sustainably, and align general revenue and expenses
- → invest in responsible and sustainable infrastructure for the benefit of the local community
- → effectively manage their finances and assets and have sound policies and processes for performance management and reporting, asset maintenance and enhancement, funding decisions, and risk management practices
- → ensure the current generation funds the cost of its services and achieves intergenerational equity, and
- → manage risks to the local community, area or council effectively and proactively.

Role of the governing body

To achieve these guiding principles, the Local Government Act (section 223) provides that the role and responsibilities of the governing body include:

→ directing and controlling the affairs of the council in accordance with the Local Government Act

- → ensuring, as far as possible, the financial sustainability of the council
- → ensuring, as far as possible, that the council complies with the guiding principles of the Local Government Act
- → keeping the performance of the council under review
- → making the decisions necessary to ensure the council properly exercises its regulatory functions, and
- → being responsible for ensuring that the council acts honestly, efficiently and appropriately.

Role of the general manager

The Local Government Act (section 335) provides that the general manager is responsible for:

- → conducting the day-to-day management of the council in accordance with the strategic plans, programs, strategies and policies of the council – this includes establishing the council's organisational structure and appointing and dismissing council staff (section 332)
- → implementing, without undue delay, the lawful decisions of the council
- advising the governing body on the development and implementation of the council's plans, programs, strategies and policies, and
- → ensuring that the mayor and other councillors are given timely information and advice and the administrative and professional support necessary to effectively discharge their functions.

The Local Government Regulation (clause 209) also requires the general manager to ensure that:

- → the council complies with all legal financial obligations, including the keeping of accounting records
- → effective measures are taken to secure the effective, efficient and economical management of financial operations within each division of the council's administration

- → authorised and recorded procedures are established to provide effective control over the council's assets, liabilities, revenue and expenditure and secure the accuracy of the accounting records, and
- → lines of authority and the responsibilities of members of the council's staff for related tasks are clearly defined.

Role of a joint organisation

The Local Government Act establishes joint organisations as a strategic regional body of councils.

The role and responsibilities of a joint organisation under the Local Government Act (section 400R) are to:

- → establish regional priorities for the joint organisation area and strategies and plans to deliver these priorities
- → provide regional leadership for the joint organisation area and advocate for strategic regional priorities, and
- → identify and take-up opportunities for intergovernmental cooperation.

Joint organisations also deliver services and provide assistance to, or on behalf of, councils, and councils are able to delegate certain functions to their joint organisation (sections 355, 379 and 400S).

The Local Government Act (section 400Y) provides that the Executive officer of a joint organisation is to:

- → conduct the day-to-day management of the joint organisation in accordance with the strategic regional priorities and other plans, programs, strategies and policies of the organisation, and
- \rightarrow appoint, direct and dismiss staff.

Audit, risk and improvement committee

The Local Government Act (section 428A) requires each council to establish an audit, risk and improvement committee to continuously review and provide independent advice to the general manager and the governing body of the council on:

- → whether the council is complying with all necessary legislation, regulations and other legal requirements
- → the adequacy and effectiveness of the council's risk management framework, fraud and corruption prevention activities, financial management processes, and the council's financial position and performance
- \rightarrow the council's governance arrangements
- → the achievement by the council of the goals set out in the council's community strategic plan, delivery program, operational plan and other strategies
- how the council delivers local services and how it could improve the performance of its functions more generally
- the collection of performance measurement data by the council, and
- → any other matters prescribed by the Local Government Regulation (including internal audit).

The Local Government Act (section 428B) allows councils to establish a joint audit, risk and improvement committee with other councils including through joint or regional organisations of councils.

The Local Government Regulation (clause #tbc):

- → requires each council to appoint an audit, risk and improvement committee comprising of a chair and two or more other persons as specified by these Guidelines
- → allows councils and joint organisations to share committees
- → requires the Chair and other members of an audit, risk and improvement committee to satisfy the eligibility requirements outlined in these Guidelines
- → allows councils to appoint a councillor who satisfies the eligibility requirements outlined in these Guidelines as a nonvoting member of its committee
- → allows joint organisations to appoint a voting representative of the board who satisfies the eligibility requirements

outlined in these Guidelines as a nonvoting member of its committee

- → requires each committee to operate in accordance with terms of reference adopted by the council, based on the approved Model Terms of Reference contained in these Guidelines, and
- → requires councils to provide their committee with direct and unrestricted access to the general manager and other senior staff and any information and resources necessary to undertake its role.

For the purposes of section 428A(2)(i) of the Local Government Act, councils' and joint organisations' audit risk and review committees are to also keep internal audit activities under review.

The requirements for audit, risk and improvement committees in these Guidelines are detailed in core requirement 1.

Risk management

The Local Government Regulation (clause #tbc) requires each council and joint organisation to implement a risk management framework that is consistent with the requirements specified in these Guidelines.

A council's general manager or a joint organisation's executive officer has overall responsibility for the implementation of the council's or joint organisations' risk management framework.

A council's audit, risk and improvement committee is to review and provide independent advice to the council on the implementation of its risk management framework under section 428A(2)(b) of the Local Government Act.

The requirements for risk management in these Guidelines are detailed in core requirement 2.

Internal audit

The Local Government Regulation (clause #tbc):

- → requires each council's internal audit activities to operate in accordance with a charter adopted by the council, based on the approved Model Internal Audit Charter contained in these Guidelines
- → allows councils and joint organisations to share the performance of internal audit activities
- → specifies that a council's audit, risk and improvement committee is to oversee the council's internal audit activities
- → requires that a member of the council's staff is appointed to direct internal audit activities – for shared arrangements this can be a staff member of one of the participating councils or joint organisation in the shared arrangement
- requires this member of staff to report only to the audit, risk and improvement committee regarding internal audit activities
- requires the general manager to consider the views of the chair of the council's audit, risk and improvement committee before making any decision affecting the employment of the staff member appointed to direct internal audit activities, and
- requires the audit, risk and improvement committee to review the performance and efficacy of the council's internal audit activities once each council term and report to the governing body of the council on the outcome of its review and make recommendations.

The requirements for internal audit in these Guidelines are detailed in core requirement 3.

Annual attestation

The Local Government Regulation (clause #tbc) requires the general manager of a council or the executive officer of a joint organisation to publish each year an attestation statement in the council's or joint organisation's annual report indicating whether, during the preceding financial year, the council's or joint organisation's audit, risk and improvement committee, risk management framework and

internal audit function complied with these Guidelines.

An attestation certificate template is provided at **Appendix 1** and attestation requirements are highlighted with this symbol throughout these Guidelines.

=%	— 🗸	
	— 🗸	
-~	- 🗸	

The details of each member of the council's audit, risk and improvement committee must also be included in the attestation statement.

This is to ensure that the council takes independent assurance and risk management seriously and is accountable to the community for how it has implemented these requirements.

Compliance status is to be self-assessed by the general manager, in consultation with the audit, risk and improvement committee.

The general manager or executive officer must consider the views of the chair of the council's or joint organisation's audit risk and improvement committee on the content of the attestation statement when preparing the statement.

If the chair disagrees with the content of the attestation statement prepared by the general manager or executive officer, they may prepare their own report and submit this to the Secretary DPIE.

Exemptions

There may be times where a council or joint organisation will not be able to comply with all requirements relating to its audit, risk and improvement committee, risk management framework or internal audit function.

In these circumstances, the Local Government Regulation (clause #tbc) confers on the Secretary DPIE the power to exempt the council or joint organisation from compliance with a requirement under these Guidelines where the council or joint organisation requests such an exemption. The Secretary DPIIE may grant an exemption where they are satisfied that:

- → the council or joint organisation cannot comply with the requirement because of temporary extenuating circumstances or resourcing constraints that will significantly impact the council's or joint organisation's budget
- → the council or joint organisation is not able to enter into an agreement with another council to share the performance of internal audit activities, and
- → current or proposed alternative arrangements will achieve outcomes equivalent to the requirement under these Guidelines.

Under the Local Government Regulation, a council's application to the Secretary for an exemption must be in the form and contain the information specified in these Guidelines.

Where the Secretary exempts a council from a requirement under these Guidelines, the council must publish the Secretary's approval for the exemption in their annual report.

A council is not prevented from applying for a further exemption when a previous exemption expires.

Accountability

Councils that are non-compliant with statutory requirements and are not granted an exemption may face enforcement action under the Local Government Act.

Monitoring

The NSW Auditor-General may undertake an assurance role in monitoring council's compliance with the core requirements outlined in the Local Government Act, Local Government Regulation and these Guidelines.

This may include conducting sector-wide performance audits, or compliance audits of individual councils and undertaking reviews of the statutory exemptions granted by the Secretary DPIE.

Core requirement 1:

Audit, risk and improvement committee

→ Each council and joint organisation has an audit, risk and improvement committee that reviews the matters referred to in section 428A of the Local Government Act

Guiding principles for audit, risk and improvement committees

- An audit, risk and improvement committee is independent of the council
- The committee is equipped with the relevant expertise and has the access to council resources and information necessary to fulfil its role and responsibilities effectively
- Each council receives relevant and timely advice and assurance from the committee on the matters listed in section 428A of the Local Government Act
- The work of the committee is thoroughly planned and executed, risk-based and linked to the council's strategic goals
- The committee adds value to the council and is held accountable by the governing body for its performance
- The council is accountable to the community for complying with statutory requirements relating to the committee.

Role and functions

Under section 428A of the Local Government Act, each council (including county councils and joint organisations) must have an audit, risk and improvement committee to independently review and advise on the following aspects of the council's operations:

- (a) compliance
- (b) risk management
- (c) fraud control
- (d) financial management
- (e) governance
- (f) implementation of the strategic plan, delivery program and strategies
- (g) service reviews
- (h) collection of performance measurement data by the council, and
- (i) any other matters prescribed by the regulation.

The Committee must also provide information to the council for the purpose of improving the council's performance of its functions.

The Local Government Regulation (clause #tbc) also requires a council's audit, risk and improvement committee to review and provide advice on the council's internal audit activities.

The audit, risk and improvement committee's role also extends to any entities established by or operated by the council.

The exact nature of each audit, risk and improvement committee's role and the specific activities it reviews on behalf of a council under section 428A of the Local Government Act will vary depending on the council's needs, risks and business functions.

These activities are to be agreed by the audit, risk and improvement committee and the council during the development of the committee's terms of reference. Suggested activities are provided in **Appendix 2**.

Level of assurance

Audit, risk and improvement committees are to have an advisory and assurance role only. They are to exercise no administrative functions, delegated financial responsibilities or any management functions for a council.

It is expected that each audit, risk and improvement committee will provide independent advice to the council that is informed by the council's internal audit and risk management activities and information and advice provided by council staff, relevant external bodies and other subject matter experts.

Workplans

Strategic work plan

It is essential that the work of the audit, risk and improvement committee is thoroughly planned and executed to ensure that no

council activity or function is missed by the committee and that councils receive value for money from their assurance investment.

A council's audit, risk and improvement committee must develop a strategic plan every four years to



ensure that all the matters listed in section 428A of the Local Government Act are reviewed by the committee and internal audit function over each council term.

The plan must be developed by the audit, risk and improvement committee in consultation with the governing body, general manager, the head of the internal audit function and senior managers (where appropriate) and adopted by the governing body of the council at the start of the council term.

To maintain the independence of the audit, risk and improvement committee, the governing body of the council must be careful when adopting the strategic workplan not to direct the committee's work over the council term.

Content

The nature of the strategic plan will be commensurate with the size and complexity of the council, as well as the council's risk profile, and consistent with the requirements of the International Professional Practices Framework.

At a minimum, it should document:

- $\rightarrow\,$ the goals and expected outcomes of the audit, risk and improvement committee for the council term
- → key organisational issues and risks faced by the council and how the committee will review these, and
- → key performance indicators to measure progress across council terms.

When developing the council's strategic workplan, the audit, risk and improvement committee should consider at a minimum:

- \rightarrow the council's strategic objectives
- \rightarrow risks facing the council
- → the work of other review activities or functions (for example, external and

performance audits, and reviews or audits by other government agencies)

- → an assurance map of the council's assurance activities which may assist to determine where the Committee's and internal audit function's work should focus, and
- → stakeholder expectations.

There should also be sufficient flexibility in the strategic plan to accommodate the need for additional audits on emerging risks from time to time.

The audit, risk and improvement committee may, in consultation with the council's governing body, vary the strategic work plan at any time to address new or emerging risks.

The governing body of the council may also, by resolution, request the committee to approve a variation to the strategic work plan. However, any decision to vary the strategic work plan will rest with the committee.

When considering whether to vary the strategic work plan, the committee must consider the impact of the variation on the internal audit function's existing workload and the completion of pre-existing priorities and activities identified under the strategic workplan.

Review

The audit, risk and improvement committee must review the four-year strategic plan at least annually to ensure that it is dynamic, relevant and aligns with the council's risk profile.

This will also ensure that the council remains on track with its audits and any slippage in progress can be quickly addressed.

Annual work plan

A council's audit, risk and improvement committee must develop an annual work plan to guide its work over the forward year.

_	
	~
-	~
-	~
-	~
1	

The annual work plan must be developed by the audit, risk and improvement committee in consultation with the governing body, general manager, head of the internal audit function and senior managers (where appropriate).

The annual work plan must be consistent with the requirements of the International Professional Practices Framework and identify:

- → the internal audits that will be carried out during the year to support the work of the audit, risk and improvement committee
- → the key goals, objectives and scope of the proposed audits
- → the resources needed for each audit (for example, staffing, budget, technology), and
- → key performance indicators to measure annual progress against.

The annual work plan must be flexible enough to allow it to be reviewed and adjusted as necessary throughout the year in response to any changes to the council's risks or operations.

The audit, risk and improvement committee may, in consultation with the council's governing body vary the annual work plan to address new or emerging risks.

The governing body of the council may also, by resolution, request the committee to approve a variation to the annual work plan. However, any decision to vary the annual work plan will rest with the committee.

When considering whether to vary the annual work plan, the committee must consider the impact of the variation on the internal audit function's existing workload and the completion of pre-existing priorities and activities identified under the annual work plan.

Performance measurement

The performance of each council's audit, risk and improvement committee and internal audit function, as well as the council, must be able to be assessed to measure progress and improvement.

The audit, risk and improvement committee must establish key performance indicators for

the councils strategic four-yearly workplan and annual work plan to enable the council to gauge the:

- → performance of the Committee and internal audit function and the value they are providing the council, and
- → council's performance regarding the matters listed in s428A so that the council can assess whether it is improving each council term in these areas.

These key performance indicators are to be reviewed and reset by the audit, risk and improvement committee for each annual work plan and strategic four-yearly work plan to ensure they reflect the changing needs of the council and the increased capacity of the Committee and internal audit function as they mature.

The general manager, in consultation with the audit, risk and improvement committee, must ensure that a data collection or performance management system is established and maintained to collect the data needed to measure progress against these key performance indicators.

Providing advice to the governing body

Quarterly updates

Ongoing reporting by the audit, risk and improvement committee to the governing body (and general manager) is essential for accountability and will ensure that the governing body is kept abreast of matters considered by the Committee and any emerging issues that may influence the strategic direction of the council or the achievement of the council's goals and objectives.

It will also ensure strong linkages between the audit, risk and improvement committee, the governing body and the general manager and lead to a better functioning assurance mechanism.

The audit, risk and improvement committee must provide an update to the governing body of the council of its activities and opinions after every committee meeting.

The audit, risk and improvement committee must also provide its quarterly update to the general manager to ensure they are kept abreast of issues raised and can answer any questions the governing body may have about the committee's opinions and recommendations.

The mayor can request to meet with the Chair of the audit, risk and improvement committee at any time to discuss any issues relating to the work of the committee during the quarter.

The chair of the audit, risk and improvement committee can also request to meet with the mayor at any time.

Content

The nature and content of the audit, risk and improvement committee's quarterly updates is to be determined by the governing body and the committee.

It could simply be providing a copy of the audit, risk and improvement committee's meeting minutes to the governing body if appropriate, or something more formal such as a report for noting by the governing body, or a face-to-face meeting between the committee, governing body and general manager to discuss important issues that have been identified.

Whatever the nature and form the update takes, the governing body and general manager must be advised, at a minimum, of:

- → any formal resolutions of the audit, risk and improvement committee
- → the committee's assessment of any audits conducted, including any breaches or lack of controls that require an immediate response from the council
- → progress on the implementation of corrective actions
- → opportunities for longer-term improvement, and

→ any key opinions or 'take-outs' from the committee's meeting.

Should the governing body require additional information, a request for the information may be made to the Chair by resolution. The Chair may only provide the information requested by the governing body where the Chair is satisfied that it is reasonably necessary for the governing body to receive the information for the purposes of performing its functions under the Local Government Act.

Individual councillors are not entitled to request or receive information from the Committee.

Annual assessment

A council's audit, risk and improvement committee must provide an annual assessment to the governing body each year.



This will ensure that the governing body of the council is fully informed of the audit, risk and improvement committee's work and its opinion on how council is performing.

The annual assessment must include:

- a summary and assessment of the work the audit, risk and improvement committee performed to discharge its responsibilities during the preceding year
- → an overview and assessment of the work of the internal audit function
- progress against key performance indicators
- → advice on the appropriateness of the committee's terms of reference
- → an independent assessment and advice on the matters considered by the committee during the year that, in the committee's opinion, and based on the level of risk facing the council, the governing body should be informed of, and
- → other views or opinions of the council that the committee wishes to impart.

Before providing their annual assessment to the governing body, the audit, risk and improvement committee must provide a copy

of its annual assessment report to the general manager to enable them to develop an action plan to address any issues identified.

Both the audit, risk and improvement committee's annual assessment and the general manager's action plan can then be considered jointly by the governing body at an annual assurance meeting with the committee and the general manager.

Annual assurance meeting

It would be beneficial for the audit, risk and improvement committee, governing body and general manager to come together annually to discuss the committee's annual assessment of the council, how the council proposes to respond to the committee's recommendations for corrective actions and other important internal audit and risk management matters.

The governing body may wish to hold an extraordinary or additional meeting each year for this purpose.

The annual assurance meeting should also discuss:

- → the audit, risk and improvement committee's annual plan and review priorities for the upcoming year, for the approval via resolution of the governing body
- → any resourcing issues for the internal audit or risk management functions that the committee considers the governing body should be informed of
- → any updated committee terms of reference, for approval via resolution by the governing body, and
- → the general manager's annual assessment of the council's risk management function (see core requirement 2).

The mayor, chair of the audit, risk and improvement committee and general manager can invite observers or other participants to the meeting where appropriate.

Strategic assessment

A council's audit, risk and improvement committee must provide to the governing body of the council a comprehensive independent assessment every council term (i.e. four years) of all the matters listed in section 428A of the Local Government Act.

This will ensure that the governing body of the council is fully informed of the council's performance in relation to the matters specified in section 428A of the Local Government Act and what corrective actions are required to address any issues identified.

It will also provide the governing body with essential information that will assist with strategic decision-making and resource allocation during the next council term.

Before providing their strategic assessment to the governing body, the audit, risk and improvement committee must provide a copy of its report to the general manager to enable the general manager to develop an action plan to address any issues identified during the next council term.

Given the audit, risk and improvement committee's functional responsibility for the internal audit function of the council, the committee must also develop an action plan for the governing body to address any internal audit issues identified by the Committee.

The audit, risk and improvement committee's strategic assessment and the action plans can be considered jointly by the governing body at a strategic assurance meeting held every four years.

Strategic assurance meeting

It would be beneficial for the audit, risk and improvement committee, governing body and general manager to come together at the close of the council term or commencement of the new council term to discuss the committee's strategic assessment of the council, how the council proposes to responds to the committee's recommendations during the next council term and any other important internal audit and risk management issues.

This discussion can also inform the strategic plans to be made through the integrated planning and reporting process for the next council term.

The governing body may wish to hold an extraordinary or additional meeting for this purpose.

The four-yearly assessment meeting could also discuss:

- → the audit, risk and improvement committee's four-yearly strategic plan for the upcoming council term, for approval by resolution of the governing body
- → a four-yearly review of the committee's terms of reference, for noting by the governing body and where applicable, an updated terms of reference for approval by resolution
- → the governing body's four-yearly review of the committee's performance and action plan to address any issues identified, for approval by resolution of the governing body
- → the Office of Local Government's determination of which tier the council is assigned to for the next council term for the purpose of structuring their committee.

Terms of Reference

It is important that each audit, risk and improvement committee has clear guidance on how it should serve the council, and that the council has input into how the committee will operate given its investment.

This will ensure there is no ambiguity between the council and the audit, risk and improvement committee, and that the council can measure the committee's performance. The Local Government Regulation (clause #tbc) requires a council's audit, risk and improvement committee to



operate according to terms of reference consistent with the approved Model Terms of Reference provided at Appendix 3.

The audit, risk and improvement committee's terms of reference can include additional provisions that are not inconsistent with the approved Model Terms of Reference or other requirements.

The terms of reference are to be approved by resolution of the governing body and reviewed annually by the audit, risk and improvement committee, and once each council term (i.e. four years) by the governing body.

Structure

Each council will have different audit, risk and improvement committee requirements depending on the council's size, needs, budget and the complexity of its operations.

For this reason, councils can either:

- establish an audit, risk and improvement
 committee for its own exclusive use, or
- share their committee with another council, county council or joint organisation under section 428B of the Local Government Act.

When deciding the most appropriate way to structure a council's audit, risk and improvement committee, the general manager should consider the viability and capacity of a shared committee to achieve its terms of reference given the:

- → size of the council in terms of both staffing levels and budget
- → geographical and functional distribution of the council's operations
- → complexity of the council's core business
- \rightarrow risk profile of the council
- → expectations of stakeholders, and
- likely demands placed on the committee by other councils in the shared arrangement.

Size and composition

Each council, county council and joint organisation has been categorised as a tier 1 (lowest), tier 2 (middle) or tier 3 (highest) council for the purposes of determining the size and composition of their audit risk and improvement committee.

These categories are detailed in Appendix 4.

This categorisation is based on:

- → the population, population density and annual population growth or the local government area
- → the proximity of the local government area to an urban or regional centre
- → the council's financial status (including operating revenue and expenses)
- → the grouping of the council with other similar councils according to the Your Council website
- → the remuneration categories determined by the Local Government Remuneration Tribunal, and
- → an understanding by the Office of Local Government of the council's overall performance and risk profile.

The Local Government

Regulation (clause #tbc) requires each council to appoint an audit, risk and improvement

$- \checkmark$	
 — √	
— ✔	

committee that has three or more members according to the council's categorisation under these Guidelines as a tier 1, tier 2 or tier 3 council.

This is to ensure that the requirements of a council's audit, risk and improvement committee are appropriate for the council's size, risk profile, operational complexity, resources, and its ability to attract suitably qualified committee members.

While there are a number of significant differences in the size and composition of audit, risk and improvement committees established by councils under each tier, councils and joint organisations in all tiers must comply with the following requirements:

- the chair of the audit, risk and improvement committee must:
 - meet the independence requirements for committee members, and
 - be prequalified as a chair under the NSW Government's *Prequalification* Scheme: Audit and Risk Committee Independent Chairs and Members ('prequalification scheme') (unless exemption applies)
- → all other voting members must meet the independence requirements for committee members (see below)
- → the Local Government Regulation (clause #tbc) allows each committee to have an optional non-voting councillor member that meets the committee's eligibility criteria for councillor members (see below), and
- → the size and composition requirements of a committee are the same whether the committee is established by a council for its exclusive use or as part of a shared arrangement.

The minimum requirements for the composition of audit risk and improvement committees in each tier are set out below. It should be noted that these are the minimum requirements.

Councils can establish larger committees and include more prequalified committee members than required should they choose to do so.

Tier review

The tier each council has been placed in will be reviewed by the Office of Local Government each council term.

Any changes must be considered by councils as part of their four-yearly review of the audit, risk and improvement committee. Where a council is re-categorised by the Office of Local Government to a higher or lower tier, the council will need to review the structure and composition of its audit, risk and improvement committee to comply with the requirements of the tier it has been placed in. The governing body of a council can determine via resolution to either:

- → comply immediately i.e. vacate all the redundant membership positions and appoint new members that comply with the new requirements at the same time, or
- → comply later stagger compliance by allowing existing members to complete their current terms and ensure any members appointed thereafter comply with the new requirement.

Where compliance is staggered, the council can request an exemption from the Secretary DPIE from complying with the new requirement in relation to the committee's composition as part of the attestation process.

Any exemption granted will apply for two reporting periods (i.e. two years).

Councils that are categorised in a higher tier may maintain their existing arrangements where they are reviewed by the Office of Local Government and placed in a lower tier should they choose to do so.

General purpose councils

Tier 1 councils

All councils that are categorised as a tier 1 council are required at a minimum to have an audit, risk and improvement committee that has:

- → 3 independent <u>voting</u> members comprising:
 - 1 chair prequalified under the NSW Government's prequalification scheme
 - 2 independent persons that meet the eligibility criteria for non-prequalified committee members (see below), and
- → (optional) 1 <u>non-voting</u> councillor that meets the eligibility criteria for councillor members (see below).

Exemptions

It is recognised that some small councils located in remote local government areas may find it difficult to attract and retain a prequalified chair for their audit, risk and improvement committee.

Whilst prequalification is preferred, where a tier 1 council is unable to appoint a prequalified chair, the council can apply to the Secretary DPIE for an exemption from this requirement.

The council's application for an exemption must:

- \rightarrow be in writing
- → outline the efforts the council has made to appoint a prequalified chair, and
- → outline the reasons why the council has been unsuccessful.

The council must also demonstrate to the Secretary that any alternative chair recommended for appointment meets the following eligibility criteria:

- → strong leadership qualities
- → the ability to promote effective working relationships among audit, risk and improvement committee members and with the council's internal audit function and external auditor
- → the ability to communicate complex and sensitive issues in a tactful manner to the governing body, general manager and council staff
- an understanding of the duties and responsibilities of the position
- a sound understanding of the council and local government
- → functional knowledge in areas such as:
 - financial management and reporting
 - \circ accounting
 - governance (including planning, reporting and oversight)
 - o internal and external audit
 - o performance management
 - o human resources management
 - risk management
 - o internal control frameworks
- → they can lead effective committee meetings, and
- they have appropriate qualifications or membership to a certifying body (desirable).

Where a council is granted an exemption from this requirement by the Secretary, the exemption will apply for the duration of the chair's term.

Exemptions will only be granted in exceptional circumstances.

The Secretary may consult with the administrator of prequalification scheme when making its exemption determination.

Tier 2 councils

All councils that are categorised as a tier 2 council are required at a minimum to have an audit, risk and improvement committee that has:

- \rightarrow 3 <u>voting</u> members comprising:
 - 1 independent chair prequalified under the NSW Government's pregualification scheme
 - 1 independent member prequalified under the NSW Government's prequalification scheme
 - 1 independent person that meets the eligibility criteria for non-prequalified committee members (see below), and
- → (optional) 1 <u>non-voting</u> councillor that meets the eligibility criteria for councillor members (see below).

Tier 3 councils

All councils categorised as a tier 3 council are required to have an audit, risk and improvement committee that has:

- \rightarrow 3-5 <u>voting</u> members comprising:
 - 1 independent chair prequalified under the NSW Government's prequalification scheme
 - A minimum of 2 independent members prequalified under the NSW Government's prequalification scheme, and
- → (optional) 1 <u>non-voting</u> councillor that meets the eligibility criteria for councillor members (see below).

The audit, risk and improvement committee appointed by Tier 3 councils should be large enough to represent a balance of views and experience, but also small enough to operate effectively.

The governing body is to determine the exact size of the audit, risk and improvement committee (3-5 members) in consultation with the chair of the committee and general manager, taking into account the needs and risk profile of the council, and likely workload of the committee.

County councils

Given their lower risk profile, resource base and operational complexity, county councils are categorised as either tier 1 or tier 2 councils for the purpose of establishing their audit, risk and improvement committee.

Whilst a tier 1 county council can establish an audit, risk and improvement committee for its own exclusive use, for administrative and cost efficiency, it is recommended that tier 1 county councils utilise the committee of a member council/s under an independent shared arrangement (see below).

Joint organisations

Given their lower risk profile, resource base and operational complexity, joint organisations are categorised as tier 1 councils for the purpose of establishing an audit, risk and improvement committee.

Where a joint organisation has not established an audit, risk and improvement committee within the joint organisation for its member councils as part of a joint organisation shared arrangement, for administrative and cost efficiency, it is recommended that a joint organisation utilise a committee established by one of its member councils as part of an independent shared arrangement (see below).

To ensure the audit, risk and improvement committee has an understanding of the interrelationships and needs of the joint organisation and its member councils, and of wider regional priorities, joint organisations must only enter into an independent shared arrangement with a member council/s.

Shared committees

Under the Local Government Act (section 428B) and Local Government Regulation (clause #tbc) councils can share an audit, risk and improvement committee. Council can:

- → share their committee with another council/s, county council/s and/or joint organisation/s as part of an independent shared arrangement
- → utilise a committee established by their joint organisation that is shared with all member councils
- → for county councils share their committee with a member council, or
- → for joint organisation share their committee with a member council.

These options allow councils to establish and operate their audit, risk and improvement committee in a more cost-effective way.

For all shared audit, risk and improvement committees:

- → the committee must operate as an individual committee for each council in any shared arrangement and exercise their functions for each council individually
- → a shared committee should only be established and utilised by councils where the committee can maintain a strong understanding of each participating council's assurance needs and is able to meet these needs
- → a shared committee should only be established and utilised by councils where the committee can maintain an effective working and reporting relationship with the general manager and governing body of each participating council
- → councils that are in different tiers but share their internal audit function can, but are not required to, also share their committee
- → where a committee is shared by councils that are in different tiers, the requirements for the higher tier will apply to all participating councils (including joint organisations and county councils)
- → councils that share their Committee, can but are not required to, also share the committee's secretariat, and

→ councils should develop and sign a formal agreement with the other councils in the shared arrangement which outlines how the shared arrangement will operate and costs shared.

Where a joint organisation establishes an audit, risk and improvement committee to serve its member councils, it is at each member council's discretion whether they utilise the shared committee.

Shared councillor members

It is important to note that where an audit, risk and improvement committee is shared between councils as part of an independently established shared arrangement, or an arrangement established by a joint organisation, and the councils elect to have a councillor member on the committee, the councillor member will not be shared by councils.

To maintain the confidentiality of the business of each council in the shared arrangement considered by the shared committee:

- the governing body of each council is to appoint one councillor member to serve on the audit, risk and improvement committee for that council only
- the councillor member is to only attend committee meetings for their council, and
- → the councillor member is to receive information pertaining to their council only.

For joint organisations, the elected councillor member will be a voting representative of the board.

Shared independent members

Unlike councillor members, the chair and independent members of shared audit, risk and improvement committees will serve all councils participating in the shared arrangement.

For audit, risk and improvement committees appointed as part of an independent shared arrangement, the councils in the shared

arrangement are to mutually agree to the independent members that will be appointed to these roles, and each council is to confirm their appointment by resolution.

For audit, risk and improvement committees appointed as part of an arrangement established by a joint organisation by its member councils, the board of the joint organisation will appoint the chair and independent members of the committee by resolution on behalf of member councils under delegation from the member councils.

Independence requirements

All audit, risk and improvement committee voting members must be independent to ensure they have no real or perceived bias or conflicts of interest that may interfere with their ability to act independently and can provide the council with robust, objective and unbiased advice about how the council is functioning.

Each council must ensure that the chair and any voting member appointed to the council's audit, risk and improvement committee meets the following independence criteria.

ΞX	

The independent voting committee member cannot:

- → currently be a councillor of any NSW council
- → be a non-voting representative of the board of a joint organisation
- → be a candidate at the last election of the council
- $\rightarrow\,$ be a person who has held office in the council during its previous term
- → be currently employed by the council or a joint organisation, or been employed during the last 12 months
- → conduct audits of the council on behalf of the Audit Office of NSW
- → have a close personal or business relationship with a councillor or a person

who has a senior role in the council that may lead to a real or perceived conflict of interest

- → currently, or within the last three years, provided any material goods or services (including consultancy, legal, internal audit and advisory services) to the council which directly affect subjects or issues considered by the audit, risk and improvement committee
- → be (or have a close family member who is) a substantial shareholder, owner, officer or employee of a company that has a material business, contractual relationship, direct financial interest or material indirect financial interest with the council or a related entity which could be considered a real or perceived conflict of interest, or
 - currently or have previously acted as an advocate of a material interest on behalf of the council or a related entity which could be considered a real or perceived conflict of interest.

Both the governing body of the council and the general manager must ensure that adequate procedures are in place to preserve the independence of the chair and members of the audit, risk and improvement committee.

Likewise, the chair and members must notify the governing body and/or general manager if a real or perceived threat to their independence arises.

Eligibility requirements

The persons appointed as a chair or a member of an audit, risk and improvement committee must possess the skills, knowledge and experience necessary to undertake their roles on the committee effectively and to ensure the committee is able to operate appropriately and effectively to support the council.

A poorly skilled audit, risk and improvement committee may not be able to provide the assurance needed by the council and may lead to sub-optimal outcomes that jeopardise the

council's capacity to achieve its strategic objectives.

Councils must ensure that the chair and other members of the council's audit, risk and improvement committee meet the below eligibility criteria.

Prequa	alified	mem	bers

In addition to meeting the independence requirements listed above, prequalified audit, risk and improvement committee voting members must be sourced from the NSW Government's prequalification scheme.

Individuals that have been prequalified under the scheme have been assessed by an independent expert panel convened by the NSW Government as having the skills, knowledge and experience to perform the role as a chair or member of a council's audit, risk and improvement committee.

A person prequalified under the scheme as a 'committee member' can only be appointed as a member of an audit, risk and improvement committee – they cannot be appointed as the chair.

Similarly, only a person pre-qualified as a 'chair' can be appointed as the chair of an audit, risk and improvement committee. To preserve their independence, and as a condition of the prequalification scheme, prequalified members can be appointed to up to (#tbc) separate audit, risk and improvement committees in the NSW public sector and the NSW local government sector.

Non-prequalified members

In addition to meeting the independence requirements listed above, non-prequalified audit, risk and improvement committee voting members must satisfy the following eligibility criteria to be appointed as a committee member.

They must:

- → have the qualities and personal attributes needed to serve the council effectively in their role as a committee member
- have a functional knowledge in areas that would provide a valuable contribution to the committee and council such as:
 - local government
 - $\circ ~$ internal audit and external audit
 - o risk management
 - o governance
 - o performance management
 - o financial management and reporting
 - o accounting
 - o human resources management
 - o internal control frameworks
 - o fraud and corruption prevention
 - o IT/cyber security
 - o the local community, or
 - o another relevant subject matter, and
- undertake any training on the operation of audit, risk and improvement committees recommended by the chair based on their assessment of the skills, knowledge and experience of the committee member.

A member of an audit, risk and improvement committee must also demonstrate the following personal qualities and attributes:

- a commitment to the independence of their role
- → integrity
- → a capacity to dedicate sufficient time and energy
- → financial literacy, including an ability to read or understand basic financial statements, ask pertinent questions about them, and interpret and evaluate answers
- → an ability to give direct and honest opinions and offer different perspectives and constructive suggestions, and
- \rightarrow inquisitiveness and independent judgment.

Councils must undertake a criminal record and financial status (bankruptcy) check of an independent non-prequalified audit, risk and improvement committee member before their appointment.

Councillor members

Non-voting councillor members must satisfy the following eligibility criteria to be appointed as an audit, risk and improvement committee member. They must:

- \rightarrow be financially literate
- → have a good understanding of one or more of the following that would provide a valuable contribution to the committee:
 - $\circ \;\;$ internal audit and external audit
 - o risk management
 - o governance
 - o performance management
 - o financial management and reporting
 - o accounting
 - human resources management
 - o internal control frameworks
 - o fraud and corruption prevention
 - o IT/cyber security
 - o the local community, or
 - o another relevant subject matter, and
- → undertake any training on the operation of audit, risk and improvement committees recommended by the chair based on their assessment of the skills, knowledge and experience of the committee member.

The mayor cannot be appointed as a councillor member on a council's audit, risk and improvement committee.

Appointment

Audit, risk and improvement committee chairs and members are appointed by a resolution of the governing body of the council.

The governing body should first appoint the chair of the audit, risk and improvement committee, who is to then assist in the selection and appointment of the other independent committee members.

Skills mix

When selecting individual audit, risk and improvement committee members, the

governing body of the council is required to ensure that the committee has the appropriate mix of skills, knowledge and experience to successfully implement its terms of reference and add value to the council.

The audit, risk and improvement committee should have:

- → at least one member with financial expertise (for example, a qualified accountant or auditor or other financial professional with experience of financial and accounting matters), and
- → a mix of skills and experience in:
 - o business
 - o financial and legal compliance
 - o risk management, and
 - o internal audit, and
 - any specialised business operations of the council, where the committee would benefit from having a member with skills or experience in this area (for example, IT skills or experience where IT systems have an important role in the council's business).

All audit, risk and improvement committee members should have sufficient understanding of the council's financial reporting responsibilities to be able to contribute to the committee's consideration of the annual financial statements.

Each individual should also have sufficient time to devote to their responsibilities as an audit, risk and improvement committee member. Where possible, the governing body should ensure that at least one other audit, risk and improvement committee member is also qualified to act as the chair, if this is ever required.

Letter of appointment

The appointment of chairs and members of audit, risk and improvement committees should be formalised in an official letter of appointment signed by the mayor of the council.

The letter of appointment should set out the terms and conditions of the appointment including:

- \rightarrow duration of appointment
- → role and responsibilities
- → timing and location of meetings
- \rightarrow time commitment
- \rightarrow remuneration
- \rightarrow the management of conflicts of interest
- → confidentiality
- → performance appraisal, and
- \rightarrow termination of appointment.

Induction

Induction of all new audit, risk and improvement committee members is vital to ensure they 'hit the ground running' in their role.

The chair is to provide a thorough induction to each new member of the audit, risk and improvement committee to ensure they understand:

- → the committee's role, responsibilities and terms of reference
- → the business, operations, culture, risks and controls of the council, and
- → the expectations of the council about their responsibilities and performance.

This will include providing new members with any background information or documentation necessary to ensure they understand the work of the audit, risk and improvement committee.

It may also be appropriate for more detailed information or presentations to be provided from various senior staff to assist the new member to understand the operations of the council and any key challenges.

New audit, risk and improvement committee members also have an obligation to ensure that they have an appropriate understanding of the council, including its:

- → operations, functions, service delivery
- \rightarrow key areas of risk
- \rightarrow internal controls, and
- → financial reporting systems.

The mayor, general manager and existing chair (where appropriate) will induct a new chair.

Membership terms

Voting members

To ensure the audit, risk and improvement committee continues to offer new perspectives and remains independent, it is important that committee members are rotated periodically to maintain a fresh approach and avoid any perceptions of bias or conflicts of interest.

Councils are to ensure that chairs and members serve the following time-limited terms to facilitate a rotation of knowledge and perspectives.



The initial term of membership on an audit, risk and improvement committee is four-years (one council term).

Audit, risk and improvement committee members can be reappointed for a further term but the total period of continuous membership on the committee cannot exceed eight years (two council terms). This includes any term as chair of the committee.

Individuals who have served an eight-year term (either as a member or chair) must have a twoyear break from serving on the audit, risk and improvement committee before being appointed again.

Care is to be taken to ensure that membership renewal dates are staggered so knowledge of the council's operations, financial reporting structure and other important aspects are not lost to the audit, risk and improvement committee when members change.

Ideally, no more than one member should leave the committee because of rotation in any one year.

Exemptions

If a tier 1 council is unable to replace the chair or members of its audit, risk and improvement

committee when their maximum term limit has been reached, the council can seek the approval of the Secretary DPIE to extend their term or to reappoint the chair or committee member for a further term.

The council's request must:

- → be in writing
- → describe the efforts the council has made to appoint a different member, and
- → explain why the council has been unsuccessful.

Exemptions will only be granted in exceptional circumstances.

Chair

To ensure that the committee maintains a fresh approach, the initial term of a chair of an audit, risk and improvement committee on any one audit, risk and improvement committee is fouryears (one council term).

The chair can be reappointed as chair for a further term but the total period served by a chair cannot exceed eight years (two council terms).

Where the chair's term expires and another chair is appointed, it is the responsibility of the outgoing chair to ensure the incoming chair is fully briefed on the ongoing work of the audit, risk and improvement committee.

This includes advising the incoming chair of:

- → any activity that may be relevant to the ongoing functioning of the committee, and
- → any outstanding matters of high risk to the council and outstanding audit recommendations.

Councillor members

The initial term of a councillor member of an audit, risk and improvement committee is four years, coinciding the with term of the council.

The councillor member can be reappointed for another term (i.e. four-years), if re-elected at the council's next ordinary election, but the total period of continuous membership on the committee cannot exceed eight years (two council terms).

The councillor member is to be appointed by the governing body at the first meeting of the council after the ordinary election.

The councillor member's term ends at the end of the council term.

Reappointment

Prior to approving the reappointment or extension of the chair or an independent member's term, the governing body of the council must undertake an assessment of the chair's or committee member's performance.

The council may engage an external reviewer to undertake this assessment if they choose.

In undertaking the assessment, the council, or any person appointed to undertake the assessment on behalf of the council, must consult with and consider the views of the chair (in the case of the reappointment or extension of the term of a committee member other than the chair), the general manager and any councillor member of the committee. The reappointment of members is also to be subject to the individual still meeting independence and eligibility requirements.

Fees

The fees a council pays to its chair and independent voting members of its audit, risk and improvement committee are to be agreed by the council and the Chair or member and reflect the time, commitment and responsibility involved in serving on the committee.

Chairs and members can serve on a committee on a voluntary basis if they choose to.

Councils should consider the fees payable under the prequalification scheme when determining the fees paid to prequalified chairs and members.

Superannuation

Councils are obliged under the *Superannuation Guarantee Administration Act* 1992 to make compulsory superannuation guarantee contributions on behalf of audit, risk and improvement committee chairs and voting members

Roles of committee members

Chair

The position of the chair of an audit, risk and improvement committee is pivotal to the committee's effectiveness and is the focal point for the committee's relationship with the council, the internal audit function and external auditor.

The chair acts as the interface between the audit, risk and improvement committee and the general manager and other staff, the governing body, the external auditor, and the internal audit function.

Any individual audit, risk and improvement committee member who wishes to meet with the general manager or governing body of the council to discuss any issues relating to the committee's responsibilities is to do so through the chair of the committee, and vice versa.

To be successful in their role, a chair must:

- → have strong leadership qualities
- → have the personal courage to raise and deal with tough issues and express opinions frankly, and to support other committee members to do the same
- → be able to recommend the appointment of committee members to the governing body
- → maintain effective working relationships between committee members and with the council
- → keep the governing body and general manager informed and brief them on the

strategic and technical aspects of internal audits and risk and control issues

- lead effective committee meetings including:
 - planning for and setting agendas for meetings, ensuring committee members are adequately informed of matters to be considered prior to meetings and allowing sufficient time for discussion of those matters at the meeting
 - ensuring the meeting runs smoothly and that the views of members are heard
 - focus the committee's deliberations on the most important issues
 - seek the input of advisers, observers and other experts to maximise committee deliberations
 - summarise discussion outcomes and actions, including assigning responsibility and timeframes for actions
- maintain an effective working relationship with the council's external auditor
- oversee the internal audit function and be alert to external accountability and internal audit concerns
- → arrange for all committee members to maintain an up-to-date knowledge of the council and its activities, including any financial or regulatory developments, and
- → know the strengths and weaknesses of the committee, and individual committee members and how this may affect the opinions of the committee.

Independent members

Independent audit, risk and improvement committee members are expected to be able to assess information provided to them about the council and to identify and assess key risks and issues.

Each member should be capable of making a valuable contribution to the committee.

To be successful in their role, a member must:

→ take a professional approach to their responsibilities, including an appropriate commitment of time and effort

- → know the business, culture and values of the council and take the time to understand changes that affect how the council operates and its risks
- → have sufficient understanding of the council's financial reporting responsibilities to be able to contribute to the committee's consideration of the annual financial statements
- → understand the role of the committee and the expectations of the council
- \rightarrow act in the best interests of the council
- \rightarrow take a professional approach
- → be a good communicator and build effective relationships with the council and other committee members, and
- → have the personal courage to raise and deal with tough issues, express opinions frankly, ask questions that go to the fundamental core of the issue and pursue independent lines of inquiry.

Councillor members

Councillor members of audit, risk and improvement committees are non-voting members of committees. This is to ensure that decision making by the committee is independent of the council.

Councillor members of committees act as an important link between the governing body and the committee.

Their role is to:

- → relay to the committee any concerns the governing body may have regarding the council and issues being considered by the committee
- → provide insights into local issues and the strategic priorities of the council that would add value to the committee's consideration of agenda items
- → advise the governing body (as necessary) of the work of the committee and any issues arising from it, and
- → assist the governing body to review the performance of the committee each council term.

Issues or information councillor members raise with or provide the audit, risk and improvement committee must relate to the matters listed in section 428A of the Local Government Act, the committee's terms of reference and issues being considered by the Committee.

Councillor members of audit, risk and improvement committees are not entitled to receive information about audit, risk and improvement committee activities outside of established reporting requirements.

Councillor members of audit, risk and improvement committees must conduct themselves in a non-partisan and professional manner.

Councillor members of committees must not engage in any conduct that seeks to politicise the activities of the committee or the internal audit function or that could be seen to do so.

Where councillor members of audit, risk and improvement committees engage in such conduct or in any other conduct that may bring the committee and its work into disrepute, the chair may recommend to the council, that the councillor member be removed from membership of the committee.

Where the council does not agree to the chair's recommendation, it must give reasons for its decision in writing to the chair.

Key relationships

General manager

A key role of audit, risk and improvement committees is to act as an independent source of advice and opinion to both the governing body and the general manager, and to act as a forum for the resolution of any disagreements between the council and internal audit function.

The general manager, in turn, also has a key role in supporting the work and effectiveness of the audit, risk and improvement committee. To be effective, audit, risk and improvement committees need to maintain a positive working relationship with the general manager (and vice versa) and view them as a significant source of advice and information about the council and its operations.

Chairs of audit, risk and improvement committees should meet regularly with general managers to discuss key issues and review performance.

External audit

There are strong linkages between the work of councils' audit, risk and improvement committees and their external auditor and committees should actively engage with the external auditor.

Councils' external auditor can offer valuable insights on issues such as the effectiveness of the council's risk, controls, financial reporting, and compliance frameworks.

For the external auditor, communication with the audit, risk and improvement committee can in turn facilitate an effective and efficient audit and assist the communication of matters arising from the external audit to the council.

Audit, risk and improvement committees should:

- → provide input on, and discuss, planned financial and performance audit coverage
- → monitor councils' responses to financial statement management letters and performance audit reports, including the implementation of audit recommendations
- → provide advice to the council on action taken on significant issues raised in relevant external auditor reports or better practice guides, and
- → have a voting-members only meeting with the external auditor at least once per year so that the committee can obtain the views of the external auditor without internal audit or management advisers being present.

Internal audit

The audit, risk and improvement committee should maintain a strong, positive relationship with the council's internal audit function and view it as a significant source of information about what is going on in the council.

The internal audit function can also assist the audit, risk and improvement committee to develop the annual and four-yearly workplans that will guide the committee's and internal audit function's work.

The chair of the audit, risk and improvement committee should routinely meet with council staff undertaking internal audit activities to discuss key issues and review performance if needed.

At least one private meeting should be held each year and any potential compromises to the internal audit activity's independence reported.

More information about this is provided in core requirement 3.

Meetings

The audit, risk and improvement must meet at least quarterly over the course of each year.

The chair of the audit, risk and improvement committee is to decide the frequency and timing of the committee's meetings and plan them annually in advance to ensure the availability of all members and observers.

Generally, meetings should correspond with major phases of the council's financial reporting, external audit and internal audit cycles.

For example, the audit, risk and improvement committee should meet to review the council's financial statements before they are certified by the council.

Audit, risk and improvement committee meetings should also correspond with meetings of the governing body, and allow sufficient time between audit, risk and improvement committee meetings and council meetings for the committee to action any items and prepare any reports that are to be provided to the governing body at the council meeting.

Special meetings may be held, if needed, to review the council's financial statements prior to them being submitted to the governing body of the council, or to consider the audit, risk and improvement committee's annual or four-yearly assessments.

Audit, risk and improvement committee meetings can be held in person, by telephone or videoconference.

The audit, risk and improvement committee can hold additional meetings when significant unexpected issues arise, or if the chair is asked to hold an additional meeting by a committee member or the general manager.

The governing body can also resolve to request the audit, risk and improvement committee to hold an additional meeting.

Where such a request is made, the chair can decide whether the additional meeting is required, taking into consideration the issues that the governing body has requested the audit, risk and improvement committee to consider at the meeting.

Proxies

As audit, risk and improvement committee members are appointed on the basis of their skills, knowledge and personal qualities, proxies are not permitted to attend meetings on behalf of members who are unable to attend.

Quorum

A quorum consists of a majority of audit, risk and improvement committee independent voting members.

Where the vote is tied, the chair is to have the casting vote.

Agenda

Forward agenda

The chair should prepare a 12-month forward meeting agenda to ensure that the audit, risk and improvement committee covers all its responsibilities at the appropriate time of the year.

For example, the forward agenda will set out, at the appropriate meeting, the various internal and external audit reports and management responses to be tabled and discussed.

It will also allocate appropriate time for a review of the progress of the internal audit function against the annual work plan, and to follow-up the implementation of corrective actions.

Meeting agenda

The chair of the audit, risk and improvement committee is to determine the agenda for each committee meeting.

It is recommended that the chair consult with other committee members, the general manager, the head of the internal audit function and external auditor prior to setting the agenda so that any urgent issues or risks that arise can be included.

The chair of the audit, risk and improvement committee is to decide an appropriate timescale for receiving the final agenda in the lead-up to the meeting.

Papers

The audit, risk and improvement committee is to decide in consultation with the general manager and the head of the internal audit function an appropriate timeframe for receiving papers and other necessary information to support agenda items to be considered at each committee meeting.

Minutes

Each audit, risk and improvement committee meeting must be minuted to preserve a record of the issues considered and the actions and decisions taken by the committee.

Audit, risk and improvement committee meeting minutes must:

- include a record of attendance
- cover each agenda item and document the discussion held and the outcome or conclusion from the discussions, including any recommendations, action points and/or allocation of tasks to relevant people
- be approved by the chair before circulation
- be provided to committee members, the governing body of the council, the general manager, the head of the internal audit function and external auditor
- be provided soon after the meeting date to ensure relevant individuals are made aware of any significant issues discussed at the meeting that need to be dealt with. The exact time period is to be determined by the committee and the general manager.

The minutes must be confirmed as an accurate record of the meeting at the next meeting of the audit, risk and improvement committee.

If any important details have been incorrectly recorded or omitted, they can be discussed and the minutes amended prior to confirmation at a subsequent meeting.

After the minutes are confirmed as an accurate record of the meeting, they must be signed by the chair.

All audit, risk and improvement committee members and observers should receive a copy of the minutes of all meetings.

Attendance of observers

Due to the sensitive nature of issues to be discussed, audit, risk and improvement committee meetings should not be open to the public. In addition to audit, risk and improvement committee members, the general manager and the head of the internal audit function are to attend committee meetings as non-voting observers.

The NSW Auditor-General, as council's external auditor, or their representative, is to be invited to each committee meeting as an independent non-voting observer and can choose whether to attend.

The chair of the audit, risk and improvement committee can request the following people to attend a committee meeting or to meet with the committee in order to provide additional information relevant to its role:

- council's chief financial officer (or equivalent) given their knowledge of, and responsibility for, council's financial management
- the head of the council's risk management function
- senior managers
- any councillor
- any employee or contractor of the council, and/or
- → any external independent expert or external party whose advice is needed (subject to confidentiality considerations).

These individuals must attend meetings where requested and, as far as is practicable, provide the information requested.

Observers have no voting rights at audit, risk and improvement committee meetings and can be excluded from a meeting by the chair of the committee at any time where necessary.

Private meetings

The audit, risk and improvement committee can hold closed meetings whenever it needs to discuss confidential or sensitive issues with only voting members of the committee present.

In addition to attending audit, risk and improvement committee meetings, the committee can meet privately at any time with the head of the internal audit function and/or

external auditor without the general manager present. At least one private meeting must occur annually.

Confidentiality

It is at the discretion of the governing body of the council whether audit, risk and improvement committee agendas, business papers, minutes and other reports are made available to the public.

Given the sensitivity of information it is likely to contain, it is recommended that all information pertaining to the audit, risk and improvement committee and internal audit activities is to be treated as confidential unless otherwise determined by the committee or a resolution of the council.

Secretariat

The general manager of a council is to appoint a council employee/s to provide secretariat support to the audit, risk and improvement committee.

The main functions of this role are:

- → liaising with the chair to prepare agendas for audit, risk and improvement committee meetings
- ensure that committee papers are of an appropriate standard and provided with enough time to allow appropriate review and consideration
- \rightarrow recording minutes of meetings
- providing assistance to the chair in arranging meetings and council site visits
- → supporting the chair to prepare reports for the council
- → arranging appropriate meeting facilities and equipment
- \rightarrow keeping members abreast of developments affecting the council that may relate to the work of the committee
- \rightarrow maintaining a record of when member's terms of appointment are due for renewal or termination

- \rightarrow ensuring new members receive appropriate induction, and
- managing expenditures relating to the committee.

Shared arrangements

If the audit, risk and improvement committee has been established by a joint organisation, the executive officer of the joint organisation is responsible for organising secretariat support.

Councils that share their audit, risk and improvement committee can also share their secretariat function if they choose to.

Access to council, staff, resources and information

It is essential for the audit, risk and improvement committee to be able to access the staff and information about the council it needs to review the matters listed in section 428A of the Local Government Act and the resources necessary to undertake its other responsibilities.

Council staff

A council's audit, risk and improvement committee must have direct and unrestricted access to the general manager and senior management of the council in order to fulfil its responsibilities.

-	~
	~ I
-	~
	~

Should the audit, risk and improvement committee need to meet with another council staff member or contractor to obtain information to fulfil its role, the chair of the committee is to obtain permission from the general manager before inviting the staff member or contractor to meet with the Committee

Subject to the general manager's permission being given, the staff member or contractor must attend.

Any disputes between the general manager and audit, risk and improvement committee regarding access to council staff are to be resolved by the governing body.

Council resources and information

A council's audit, risk and improvement committee must have direct and unrestricted access to any council resources or information it needs to fulfil its responsibilities.

-~	L
-~	
-~	

In its dealings with the council, the audit, risk and improvement committee should be mindful of the environment the council is operating in and the priorities that the general manager needs to manage.

The audit, risk and improvement committee should therefore keep to a minimum the demands it places on the council and utilise as far as is practicable, existing information to obtain the necessary level of assurance in relation to its responsibilities.

The audit, risk and improvement committee may only release council information to external parties that are assisting the committee to fulfil its responsibilities with the approval of the general manager, except when it is being provided to an external investigative, audit or oversight agency for the purpose of informing that agency of a matter that may warrant its attention.

After their engagement ends with a council, a chair or member of an audit, risk and improvement committee must not disclose or make use of any confidential information acquired in the course of their engagement with the council without the approval of the council.

External advice

The audit, risk and improvement committee can obtain any external legal or other professional/expert advice it needs to exercise its responsibilities. For example, where a council has implemented a specialised IT system, the committee can seek the expert opinion of an IT specialist to assist its review of its implementation.

To minimise the potential costs to council, the governing body and the chair of the audit, risk and improvement committee must agree at the start of each council term how costs are to be met, i.e.:

- → the governing body will set a fixed budget at the start of each council term for external expenses, or
- → the committee will seek the governing body's permission prior to engaging external advice.

Disputes

Members of an audit, risk and improvement committee should maintain an effective working relationship with each other and the council and try to resolve any differences they may have professionally.

In the event of a disagreement between the audit, risk and improvement committee and the general manager or other senior managers (for example, about findings or recommendations of audits), the dispute is to be resolved by the governing body of the council.

Unresolved disputes regarding compliance with statutory or other requirements are to be referred to the Secretary DPIE in writing.

Conduct

Audit, risk and improvement committee members are to be held to the same ethical and behavioural standards as other officials of
the council and must comply with the council's code of conduct.

As required under the council's code of conduct, audit, risk and improvement committee members (a well as any council officials attending as observers) must declare and appropriately manage any conflicts of interest they may have in matters being dealt with by the committee.

Declarations of conflicts of interest and the actions taken to manage them must be recorded in the minutes of meetings.

Councils should identify the chairs and members of audit risk and improvement committees as 'designated persons' for the purposes of the council's code of conduct and require them to complete and submit returns of their interests.

Complaints of breaches of the council's code of conduct by audit, risk and improvement committee members are to be dealt with in accordance with the *Procedures for the Administration of the Model Code of Conduct for Local Councils in NSW*.

Under the Procedures, the general manager is responsible for managing and resolving any code of conduct complaints made against audit, risk and improvement committee members.

However, to safeguard the independence of audit, risk and improvement committee members, the general manager must consult with the governing body of the council prior to taking disciplinary action against Committee members under the Procedures.

Prequalified audit, risk and improvement committee members are also required to comply with the code of conduct governing the prequalification scheme.

Any proven breaches of the council's code of conduct should be reported by the council to the administrator of the prequalification scheme so that action can also be taken under that scheme, where appropriate.

Insurance

It is at each council's discretion whether professional indemnity and public liability insurance is required for chairs and members of audit, risk and improvement committee members.

In some cases, the chair or a member of an audit, risk and improvement committee may already be covered by the council's professional indemnity and public liability insurance policies or by their own insurance.

This will need to be ascertained by the council and chair or member on a case-by-case basis having regard to the terms of any relevant insurance policy.

Where a council determines that professional indemnity or public liability is absent but required, the chair or member can obtain their own insurance, or the council can consider obtaining it on their behalf.

Learning and development

Audit, risk and improvement committee chairs and members are encouraged to keep informed of current developments and to maintain and develop the skills, knowledge and capabilities necessary to exercise their functions effectively.

Several professional development networks and programs are available, for example, through organisations such as:

- → the Australian Institute of Company Directors
- → Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand
- \rightarrow The Actuaries Institute, and the
- → Local Government Professionals Association.

Audit, risk and improvement chairs and members are also encouraged to serve on more than one local government committee to

extend the breadth of their experience and understanding of councils and their operations and risks.

Review of Committee performance

It is important that the work of each council's audit, risk and improvement committee is regularly assessed, and the committee is held accountable for its performance.

This will ensure that the audit, risk and improvement committee is providing a valuable contribution to the council and enable the governing body to determine whether any changes to the committee's terms of reference or membership are required.

At least once each council term (i.e. four years)[,] the governing body of the council is to conduct a review of the effectiveness of the audit, risk and improvement committee

Ξ¥	
=*	
	1

in conformance with the International **Professional Practice Framework.**

This will ensure that audit, risk and improvement committees are assessed consistently across all councils and allow councils to have confidence in the work of their committees.

To conduct the review, the governing body can:

- \rightarrow engage a suitably qualified external assessor or peer to undertake the review, or
- \rightarrow undertake the review itself and engage an external assessor or peer to conduct an independent evaluation of the findings.

The external assessor or peer should have specific skills relevant to the major risks of the council and a strong understanding of what constitutes best practice in relation to the operations and performance of audit, risk and improvement committees.

Review criteria

The review of the audit, risk and improvement committee's performance must consider:

- \rightarrow the appropriateness of the committee's terms of reference and whether these have been complied with
- the processes and procedures undertaken by the committee
- the collective performance of the committee - for example:
 - the quality and timeliness of assurance 0 and advice provided by the committee to the governing body and general manager
 - the effectiveness of the committee in meeting its responsibilities
 - the relationship and quality of 0 communication with the council and other stakeholders

the individual performance of each member - for example, their:

- understanding of the council, its key 0 risk and internal controls
- ability to act objectively and 0 independently
- preparation for committee meetings 0
- contribution to the work of the committee through their participation in discussion and decision-making,
- skills and experience the performance of the chair, including whether the chair has (in addition to their performance as a member of the committee):
 - demonstrated positive leadership
 - maintained effective working 0 relationships among audit, risk and improvement committee members and with the council, council's external auditor and the internal audit function
 - ensured the governing body and 0 general manager was well informed and briefed on the strategic and technical aspects of internal audits and risk and control issues, and
 - o lead effective committee meetings.
- the way the committee, external auditor, council and internal audit function work together to manage risk and support the council and how effective this is

- → whether the committee has effectively reviewed the factors identified in section 428A of the Local Government Act and contributed to an improvement in these areas, and
- → whether the composition of the committee is appropriate and whether the council should be assigned to a different tier under these guidelines.

When conducting the review, the governing body is to consider feedback on each member's performance by the chair and councillor member of the committee and the general manager.

Self-assessments by the chair and members of the audit, risk and improvement committee can also be used.

The governing body of council is also able to request the chair of the Committee to address the council and answer any questions about the operation of the committee.

The chair of the audit, risk and improvement committee is to develop an action plan for the governing body of the council to address any issues identified in the performance review and present it to the governing body at the fouryearly assessment meeting.

Annual attestation

It is important that councils are accountable to their communities for the efficacy of their internal controls and assurance mechanisms and the operations of their audit, risk and improvement committees.

The Local Government Regulation (clause #tbc) requires the general manager to attest each year in the council's annual report whether the council has complied with the following requirements in relation to its audit, risk and improvement committee, as detailed in these Guidelines:

→ council's audit, risk and improvement committee is independent of the council and has three or more members according to the council's prescribed category as a tier 1, tier 2 or tier 3 council

- → the chair and all members of the committee meet the eligibility and independence criteria required of their position, and have been appointed in accordance with prescribed membership term limits
- → council's audit, risk and improvement committee operates according to terms of reference approved by the governing body of the council that are consistent with the approved Model Terms of Reference contained in these Guidelines
- → council's audit, risk and improvement committee operates according to annual and four-yearly strategic plans endorsed by the governing body of the council
- → council's audit, risk and improvement committee provides an annual assessment to the governing body each year, and a strategic assessment of all the matters listed in section 428A of the Local Government Act to the governing body each council term
 - the council provides the committee with direct and unrestricted access to the general manager, senior management, council information and council resources so it can fulfil its responsibilities, and
- → at least once each council term⁷ the governing body of the council reviews the effectiveness of the audit, risk and improvement committee.

Further information about annual attestation requirements is also detailed in the statutory framework section of these Guidelines.

Resignation of committee members

Where the Chair or a member of an audit, risk and improvement committee is unable to complete their term, or does not intend to seek reappointment after the expiry of their term, they should give sufficient notice to the chair (in the case of a committee member) and the governing body (in the case of the chair) prior to their resignation to enable the council to ensure a smooth transition to a new committee member.

The notice period is to be agreed by the governing body of the council and the committee.

A member of an audit, risk and improvement committee should have the opportunity to have an exit meeting with the Chair to discuss their reason for leaving and to provide feedback on their experience serving on the committee as well as any other issues.

Resigning chairs should have the opportunity to have an exit meeting with the mayor and general manager (if appropriate).

Dismissal of committee members

The governing body of a council can terminate via resolution the engagement of the chair or any member of the audit, risk and improvement committee under certain circumstances before the expiry of their terms.

Dismissal of any independent chair or member is to be reported to the Office of Local Government.

Prequalified members

A prequalified chair or member can be dismissed by the governing body before the expiry of their term where the chair or member has:

- breached the conditions of the prequalification scheme, or become ineligible under it
- breached the council's code of conduct
- performed unsatisfactorily or not to expectations, or
- declared, or is found to be in, a position of a conflict of interest which is unresolvable.

The council must also report the dismissal to the NSW government agency responsible for administering the prequalification scheme to ensure action can also be taken under the scheme, if necessary.

Non-prequalified members

A non-prequalified independent member of the audit, risk and improvement committee can be dismissed by the governing body before the natural expiry of their term where the chair or member has:

- breached the council's code of conduct
- performed unsatisfactorily or not to expectations
- declared, or is found to be in, a position of a conflict of interest with is unresolvable
- been declared bankrupt or found to be insolvent
- experienced an adverse change in business status
- been proven to be in a serious breach of their obligations under any NSW legislation, or
- experienced an adverse change in capacity or capability.

Councillor members

The position of a councillor member on an audit, risk and improvement committee can be terminated at any time by the governing body via resolution.

Further resources

The following resources may be useful to councils seeking more information about the establishment and operation of their audit, risk and improvement committee.

This is not an exhaustive list but provides a useful starting point for councils that seek to better understand what audit, risk and improvement committees do, and how they can be supported to add maximum value to councils.

<u>Audit Committees – A Guide to Good</u>

<u>Practice (3rd edition)</u> – Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, Australian Institute of Company Directors and The Institute of Internal Auditors-Australia (2017)

Provides a checklist to assess the performance of audit, risk and improvement committees and members.

<u>Audit Committees – A Guide to Good</u> <u>Practice for Local Government</u> – Victorian Government, Department of Planning and Community Development (2011)

Provides detailed information on the activities audit, risk and improvement committees can perform in relation to external audit, financial management, risk management and internal audit.

<u>Audit Committee Guidelines – Improving</u> <u>Accountability and Performance</u> – The State of Queensland (Queensland Treasury and Trade) (2012)

Provides sample:

- → letter of appointment for audit, risk and improvement committee members
- → self-assessment questionnaire for committee members, external peer review checklist and management feedback questionnaire when assessing committee performance, and
- \rightarrow committee meeting agenda.

<u>Audit Committees (RM-G2)</u> – Australian Government, Department of Finance

Provides a list of professional peak bodies councils could contact to source audit, risk and improvement committee members.

<u>Chairing an Audit Committee</u> – KPMG

Provides information about the role of audit, risk and improvement committee chairs, particularly in relation to:

- → leadership, and
- → managing the work of audit, risk and improvement committee members.

<u>Code of Conduct: Audit and Risk Committee</u> <u>Chairs and Members</u> – NSW Treasury (2015)

Outlines the conduct requirements and ethical standards of members and chairs under the prequalification scheme.

Dealing with Corruption, Fraud and the ICAC: the role of public sector Audit and <u>Risk Committees</u> – Independent Commission Against Corruption (2020)

Provides information about the role of audit, risk and improvement committees and risk management in relation to fraud and corruption.

<u>Establishing a skills-based audit committee</u> – Institute of Internal Auditors-Australia (2020)

Provides an analysis matrix template to assess the skills mix of an audit, risk and improvement committee when appointing committee members.

<u>Guide for Audit & Risk Committees:</u> <u>Understanding Financial Statements</u> – NSW Treasury (2017)

Provides information on activities audit, risk and improvement committee can undertake when reviewing financial statements.

<u>How can audit committee members add</u> <u>value?</u> – PriceWaterhouseCoopers (2011)

Provides a checklist for measuring the performance of audit, risk and improvement committees

Internal Audit and Risk Management Policy for the General Government Sector (TPP-20-08) – NSW Treasury (2020)

Provides information on the NSW public sector risk management and internal audit policy, including:

- → the operation of shared audit, risk and improvement committees in the NSW public sector
- → matters to consider when deciding whether to enter into a shared arrangement, and
- → recommended content for shared use agreements.

<u>Prequalification Scheme: Audit and Risk</u> <u>Committee Independent Chairs and</u> <u>Members – Guidelines for Members and</u> <u>Agencies</u> – NSW Treasury (2020)

Provides information on the operation of the prequalification scheme.

<u>Prequalification Scheme: Audit and Risk</u> <u>Committee Independent Chairs and</u> <u>Members – Scheme Conditions</u> – NSW Treasury (2020)

Provides information about the prequalification scheme's application process, including:

- → the eligibility criteria for members and Chairs, and
- \rightarrow remuneration rates.

<u>Public Sector Audit Committees:</u> <u>Independent assurance and advice for</u> <u>Accountable Authorities</u> – Australian National Audit Office (2015)

Provides information about the role and functions of audit, risk and improvement committees, including:

- \rightarrow member roles and responsibilities
- → how to foster good relationships between the council and committee, and
- → checklists for:
 - o secretariat actions
 - planning forward meeting agendas, and
 - assessing the performance of members.

<u>Service Delivery Review: A how to manual</u> <u>for local government (second edition)</u> – Australian Centre of Excellence for Local Government (2015)

Outlines the factors councils and audit, risk and improvement committees may consider when reviewing service delivery by the council.

<u>Setting up the Audit Committee</u> – PriceWaterhouseCoopers (2011)

Provides information on:

- → how a council might assess the financial literacy of an audit, risk and improvement committee member, and
- → best practice for inducting new committee members.

<u>The Role of the Audit Committee Chair</u> – KPMG (2019)

Provides information on the role of audit, risk and improvement committee chairs, particularly in relation to:

- \rightarrow running committee meetings, and
- → oversighting risk management.

Core requirement 2:

Risk management

→ Each council and joint organisation must implement a risk management framework that is consistent with current Australian standards for risk management

Guiding principles for risk management

- → Each council must accept responsibility and accountability for risk management in the council
- → Each council has a risk management framework that is appropriate for that council and is consistent with the accepted Australian risk management standard
- → Risk management is an integral part of all council management, operations, functions and activities and it is clear who is responsible for managing each risk
- → Each council supports the development of a positive risk culture
- → Councils regularly review their risk management framework and can flexibly adapt their risk management activities to suit their operations and risk profiles
- → Each council is accountable to the community for complying with its statutory obligation to adopt and maintain a risk management framework.

Standards

Each council must manage its strategic and operational risks and implement a risk management framework that is consistent with the current Australian risk management standard and appropriate for the council's risks.

It is recognised that each council will have different risk management requirements depending on its size, needs, budget, operational complexity and risk management maturity.

Councils have the flexibility under the Australian risk management standard to adapt the size, scope and delivery of their risk management framework provided it reflects the principles, key elements and processes set out in the standard for managing risks in any sized council or organisation. Councils can adopt additional requirements that supplement those in the standard provided they do not conflict with the standard.

The current risk management standard at the time of the release of these Guidelines is AS ISO 31000:2018 Risk Management – Guidelines.

Under current licensing and copyright requirements, each council will need to purchase an individually licensed copy of AS ISO 31000:2018 from Standards Australia to obtain a full copy of the standard.

The following is a summary of the definitions, principles, key elements and process of *AS ISO 31000:2018*.

Definitions

The definition of 'risk' and 'risk management' adopted by councils as part of their risk management framework will be the same as that adopted in the current Australian risk management standard.

At the time of printing, *AS ISO 31000:2018* defines:

- risk as the "effect of uncertainty on objectives, where an effect is a deviation from the expected. It can be positive, negative or both, and can address, create or result in opportunities and threats", and
- → risk management as "coordinated activities to direct and control an organisation with regard to risk".

Principles

In summary, *AS ISO 31000:2018* requires a council's approach to risk management to be based on the following eight specific principles to ensure it is effective:

- → integrated risk management is integrated into all council activities and decision-making processes
- → structured and comprehensive risk management is a structured and comprehensive process that achieves consistent and comparable results

- → customised the risk management framework and process are customised to the council
- → inclusive risk management is inclusive of all stakeholders and enables their knowledge, views and perceptions to be considered
- → dynamic risk management is dynamic and able to respond to changes and events in an appropriate and timely manner
- → best available information risk management decisions are based on the best available information and takes into account any limitations and uncertainties
- → human and cultural factors risk management takes into account human and cultural factors, and
- → continual improvement risk management is continuously and periodically evaluated and improved through learning and experience.

Key elements

To achieve these principles, *AS ISO 31000:2018* requires each council to ensure its risk management framework demonstrates the following six elements:

Leadership and commitment

AS ISO 31000:2018 requires risk management to be supported by a positive culture that promotes and communicates risk management as part of everyday activities and decisionmaking.

The standard states that this culture can only exist when management (i.e. the governing body, general manager and senior staff) demonstrate strong leadership and commitment to risk management.

Practical measures the governing body and/or general manager can take under AS ISO 31000:2018 to exhibit strong leadership in risk management are set out further below.

Integration

AS ISO 31000:2018 requires that risk management be fully integrated within a council and made part of the council's purpose, governance, leadership, strategy, objectives and operations.

Risk is to be managed in every part of the council's organisational structure and every council employee be responsible for managing risk.

Design

AS ISO 31000:2018 requires that the design of a council's risk management framework:

- → is based on the unique needs, characteristics and risks of the council, and its external and internal context
- → demonstrates the council's continual commitment to risk management
 - assigns risk management roles, responsibilities and accountabilities within the council
- allocates appropriate council resources for risk management, and
- effectively documents and communicates risk management across the council.

Implementation

AS ISO 31000:2018 requires that each council implements its risk management framework by:

- → developing a risk management plan that provides structure for how the council will implement its risk management policy and conducts its risk management activities, and
- ensuring the council's risk management activities are clearly understood and practiced.

The plan should identify decision makers for risk within the council and ensure risk management processes and arrangements are well understood by the council and practiced.

Evaluation

AS ISO 31000:2018 requires that each council regularly evaluates the effectiveness of its risk management framework and determines whether it remains suitable.

Improvement

AS ISO 31000:2018 requires that each council continually adapts and improves the design of its risk management framework and how it is integrated throughout the council to help the council move to a higher level of risk maturity.

Process

AS ISO 31000:2018 provides each council with a systematic process to identify, assess and prioritise risks, decide how they will be managed, and document and communicate them across the council.

The process defined in *AS ISO 31000:2018* consists of the following steps:

- → defining the scope of the council's risk management activities to assist in planning the council's risk management approach
- → establishing the internal and external context to ensure that the council understands the internal and external environment it operates in and how risk management will impact, and be impacted by these
- → deciding the performance indicators the council will use to measure the effectiveness of its risk management framework and identify gaps between its actual and desired performance
- → defining the council's risk criteria/appetite - that is, the amount and type of risk that the governing body is willing to take, or not take, in order to achieve its strategic plan and objectives
- → conducting risk assessments to determine what risks need to be managed
- \rightarrow deciding risk treatment options
- → developing risk treatment plans that document how controls will be implemented, and
- → writing risk reports that will document and communicate the risk management

framework to all staff and be used by the council to regularly review the risk management framework.

County councils and joint organisations

County councils and joint organisations have a lower risk profile than larger and more operationally complex general-purpose councils.

However, they are still responsible for the expenditure of public money, providing services (in the case of county councils), and delivering outcomes on behalf of their member councils and regions (in the case of joint organisations), and need to identify and manage risks appropriately.

Given their lower risk profiles, county councils and joint organisations can share the administration of their risk management framework with another council to reduce costs.

Alternatively, joint organisations can undertake the coordination and administration of their member councils' risk management frameworks on behalf of the councils.

Any shared risk management function must operate as an individual resource for each council in the shared arrangement and fulfil the statutory requirements for each council individually.

A shared risk management function should only be established and utilised by a county council or joint organisation where the shared function can maintain a high level of understanding and fulfilment of each council's risk management needs, as well as effective working and reporting relationships with the general manager and senior staff of each council in the shared arrangement.

Councils that establish a shared risk management function should develop and sign a formal agreement with the other councils in the shared arrangement which outlines how

the shared arrangement will operate and costs are shared.

Resourcing

AS ISO 31000:2018 requires each council to ensure sufficient resources are allocated to implement the council's risk management framework and deliver the internal controls needed to ensure the council's risks are appropriately managed.

In practice, this responsibility will fall to the governing body and/or general manager of the council.

These resources include the necessary:

- human resources (with appropriate skills and experience)
- technology, equipment, tools and information management systems for managing risk
- documented processes and procedures, and
- professional development and training for staff to ensure they can fulfil their risk management responsibilities.

To ensure that the governing body and/or general manager makes informed budgeting decisions, the audit, risk and improvement committee is to advise of the resources it considers that the council needs to effectively implement its risk management framework, having regard to any budgetary constraints facing the council and the council's operational environment.

Roles and responsibilities

AS ISO 31000:2018 requires that each council assign risk management roles and responsibilities to all relevant roles within the council.

To ensure effective implementation, the standard also requires each council to

demonstrate strong leadership and commitment to risk management.

In practice, this will see the general manager, governing body and council staff take on the following responsibilities:

Governing body – strategic leadership

Consistent with the governing body's strategic leadership role under section 223 of the Local Government Act, the governing body is responsible for setting the foundational elements of council's risk management framework and the 'tone at the top'.

This includes approving via resolution the council's risk criteria/appetite – a statement that conveys how much risk will be tolerated by the governing body in the pursuit of the strategic objectives for the council, and how risk is to be managed and decisions made within this context.

The councils risk criteria/appetite is to be approved in consultation with the audit, risk and improvement committee.

General manager – operational leadership

Consistent with the general manager's role under section 335 of the Local Government Act to conduct the day-to-day management of the council, the general manager has ultimate responsibility and accountability for risk management in the council. The responsibility is also specified in the Local Government Regulation (clause #tbc).

This includes:

- → overseeing the council's risk management framework and ensuring it is effectively communicated, implemented and reviewed regularly
- → approving the council's risk management policy, plans and risk reports (where applicable)
- → promoting and championing a positive risk culture

- → assigning authority and accountability for risk management at appropriate levels and to appropriate staff in the council, and ensuring they are held accountable for these responsibilities
- → annually attesting that council's risk management framework complies with statutory requirements (see below), and
- → approving the council's implementation of corrective actions recommended by the council's internal audit function, external audit and audit, risk and improvement committee.

Depending on the council's needs, resources and organisational structure, and to assist the integration of risk management across the council, the general manager may wish to delegate responsibility for key aspects of the council's risk management framework to a senior manager or group of senior managers established for this purpose.

The delegate would report to the general manager on risk management issues.

An example risk management policy is provided at **Appendix 5**.

Risk management function – oversight and facilitation

Each council is to establish a risk management function responsible for the day-to-day activities required to implement the council's risk management framework and provide specialist risk management skills and knowledge.

The council's risk management function is a key support to the general manager in meeting their risk management responsibilities and reports directly to the general manager or their delegate.

Each council will have the flexibility to establish its risk management function based on its structure, resourcing, risk management needs and risk management maturity.

Regardless of its structure and composition, the role and responsibilities of the risk management function should include:

- → supporting the general manager by coordinating and providing clear and concise risk information, advice and/or reports that can be used in planning and decision-making
- → coordinating the various activities relating to risk management within the council
- → helping to build a risk management culture within the council, including facilitating and driving risk management at the strategic and operational level within the council and ensuring consistency in practice
- → ensuring there are easily accessible systems and processes in place to enable all staff to conveniently undertake risk management in their day-to-day work
- ensuring risk management processes are applied consistently across the council
- organising appropriate staff risk management training and development
 developing and maintaining a risk reporting framework to enable regular advising/reporting of key risks, and the management of those risks, to the general manager or their delegate
- supporting council staff with their risk management obligations and providing staff with advice and tools to ensure risk management compliance
- implementing effective risk management communication mechanisms and information system/s
- → establishing and maintaining an ongoing monitoring system to track the risk management activities undertaken within council and assessing the need for further action
- → assessing risk management information for completeness, accuracy and consistency (for example, risk registers, risk treatment plans), and
- → preparing advice or reports for the audit, risk and improvement committee and attending committee meetings (where requested).

In order to fulfil its role, the risk management function needs to:

→ have a well-developed understanding of the council and its operations

- → have the skills, knowledge and leadership qualities required to support and drive risk management
- → have sufficient authority to intervene in instances where risk management efforts are being hampered by a lack of cooperation or through lack of risk management capability or maturity, and
- → be able to add value to the risk management process by providing guidance and support in managing difficult risk, or risks spread across a number of the council's business units or operational areas.

Dual responsibilities

It is important that the risk management function is independent of line management to reduce the potential for management influence on the risks that are reported on, and to ensure independence.

Where risk management oversight or facilitation activities are performed by council staff with other council responsibilities, the council must put safeguards in place to limit any cognitive bias (which can lead to faulty risk assessments and decision-making errors).

Depending on the specific needs and circumstances of the council, these safeguards could include:

- → the audit, risk and improvement committee being informed of the other council responsibilities the risk management function has, including reporting lines, responsibilities and expectations related to the role/s
- → any potential issues or conflicts of interest arising from these other roles being formally documented and communicated to the committee
- → risk management staff being prohibited from undertaking risk management evaluations and reviews in relation to the council operations they are responsible for, and/or
- → the committee regularly assessing that the safeguards put in place are effective.

Internal audit function – review and assurance

Council's internal audit function is responsible for reviewing and providing advice to the audit, risk and improvement committee and the council on the effectiveness of the council's risk management framework.

Given the need to maintain the independence and objectivity of the internal audit function, the following boundaries are to apply with respect to the role of the internal audit function in relation to the council's risk management framework:

- \rightarrow it is to be clear that council management remains responsible for risk management
- the internal audit function is to provide advice and challenge and support management's decision-making, as opposed to taking risk management decisions themselves
- the internal audit function should not:
 - manage any of the risks on behalf of the council
 - o set the council's risk criteria/appetite
 - o impose risk management processes
 - $\circ\;\;$ decide or implement risk responses, or
 - be held accountable for risk management activities.

Audit, risk and improvement committee – advice and assurance

An audit, risk and improvement committee's role in relation to risk management is to support the governing body and general manager to ensure that the council's risk management framework is appropriate and operationally effective.

The breadth and depth of this assurance role is to be determined by the council and the audit, risk and improvement committee and could include:

→ assessing whether risks at all levels are identified, assessed and reviewed regularly by the council

- → being involved in the regular review of the council's risk register
- → reviewing the integration of risk management into business planning and program implementation activities, and/or
- → providing assurance in relation to the management of risk or governance arrangements on individual projects, programs or activities.

Appendix 4 provides further examples of the activities the audit, risk and improvement committee could perform in relation to risk management.

Review and reporting

Quarterly reporting

Each council is to ensure its risk management framework is regularly monitored and reviewed to ensure it is relevant, effective and complies with the current Australian risk management standard.

Each council is to base its ongoing monitoring and review process on its own needs, however, this should include at a minimum, providing quarterly advice from the risk management function to the general manager or their delegate.

This will ensure that risks are being correctly identified, prioritised and treated, and any emerging problems are known and rectified quickly.

Annual assessment

Each council's risk management function is to conduct an annual self-assessment of the council's risk management framework.

The annual self-assessment is to report to the general manager whether the council's risk management framework:

- → complies with statutory requirements
- → is sufficiently resourced
- → operates effectively, this includes whether:

- the internal control framework appropriately reflects the council's risk criteria/appetite
- risks are formally considered when developing and implementing all council policies, programs, projects and other activities, including procurement
- risk management covers all relevant risk categories including strategic, operational, compliance, reputational and reporting risks
- major risks have been identified and assessed by the council and appropriate risk treatments have been implemented that reflect the council's risk criteria
- the council's internal controls are effective and appropriate
- the council's risk register and risk profile are current and appropriate
- risk information is captured and communicated in a timely manner across the council, enabling management and staff to carry out their responsibilities, and
- the council's risk management policies, procedures and plans are being complied with.

The general manager should discuss the annual assessment of the council's risk management function with the governing body and audit, risk and improvement committee at the council's strategic assurance meeting held each council term.

Strategic assessment

The Local Government Regulation (clause #tbc) requires that a council's audit, risk and improvement committee keep the implementation of a council's risk management framework under review and provide advice to the council on its implementation.

A council's audit, risk and improvement committee must provide an assessment of the effectiveness of the council's risk management framework to the governing body each council term, as part of the committee's four-yearly strategic assessment.

As part of the audit, risk and improvement committee's assessment of the council's risk management function, it should consider whether:

- → the council is providing sufficient resources for risk management
- → the council's risk management framework complies with statutory requirements, and
- → the council's risk management framework operates effectively, is being complied with and supports the achievement of the council's strategic goals and objectives

The general manager is to develop an action plan for the governing body to address any risk management issues identified by the committee.

The audit, risk and improvement committee and general manager should discuss the strategic assessment and action plan with the governing body at the council's strategic assurance meeting held each council term.

Performance measures

To ensure the effectiveness of council's risk management activities can be regularly monitored and reviewed, each council must ensure that it:

- → assigns performance targets to risk management activities that can be measured against goals and objectives, and
- → can obtain the data needed to measure the impact of the council's risk management framework.

Annual attestation

The Local Government Regulation (clause #tbc) requires the general manager to attest each year in the council's annual report whether the council has complied with the following requirements in relation to its risk management activities:

- → council has adopted a risk management framework that is consistent with current Australian risk management standards and appropriate for the council's risks, and
- → the council's audit, risk and improvement committee reviews the implementation of the council's risk management framework and issues an assessment of the effectiveness of the council's risk management framework to the governing body each council term.

Further information on annual attestation requirements is provided in the statutory framework section of these Guidelines.

Further resources

The following resources may be useful to councils seeking more information about the establishment and operation of their risk management framework. They provide examples, checklists, samples, templates and other practical tools councils could use.

This is not an exhaustive list but provides a useful starting point for councils that seek further information.

<u>A Guide to Risk Management</u> – The State of Queensland (Queensland Treasury) (2020)

Provides guidance on how to apply the Australian risk management standard, including checklists for each stage of the risk management process.

AS ISO 31000:2018 Risk Management -

<u>Guidelines</u> – International Standards Organisation (2018)

The current Australian risk management standard at the time of printing (for purchase from the International Standards Organisation)

<u>Audit Committee Guidelines – Improving</u> <u>Accountability and Performance</u> – The State of Queensland (Queensland Treasury and Trade) (2012)

Provides checklists of the matters audit, risk and improvement committees are to consider when reviewing a council's risk management framework and internal controls.

<u>Dealing with Corruption, Fraud and the</u> <u>ICAC: the role of public sector Audit and</u> <u>Risk Committees</u> – Independent Commission Against Corruption (2020)

Provides information about the role of risk management in relation to fraud and corruption.

<u>Risk Management Toolkit for Public Sector</u> <u>Agencies (TPP 12-03)</u> – NSW Treasury (2012)

Consists of three parts:

- \rightarrow Executive Guide (TPP 12-03a)
- → Volume 1 Guidance for Agencies (TPP 12-03b), and
- → Volume 2 Templates, Examples and Case Study (TPP 12-03c).

Provides detailed and practical advice on the various elements of the Australian risk management standards (ISO 31000), templates and worked examples.

<u>The Three Lines of Defense in Effective Risk</u> <u>Management and Control</u> – Institute of Internal Auditors (2013)

Outlines the three lines of defence approach to risk management and the role of management and internal audit in risk management.

<u>The Role of Internal Auditing in Enterprise-</u> <u>Wide Risk Management</u> – Institute of Internal Auditors

Outlines what enterprise risk management is, how it can be implemented and the role of internal audit in risk management.

<u>Victorian Government Risk Management</u> <u>Framework Practice Guide</u> – Victorian Managed Insurance Agency (2016)

Provides guidance on how to apply the Australian risk management standard, including examples of a risk appetite/criteria statement.

Core requirement 3:

Internal audit

→ Each council and joint organisation must have an independent internal audit function that reports to the audit, risk and improvement committee and is consistent with current international standards for internal audit

Guiding principles for internal audit

- → The internal audit function operates independently and with appropriate expertise in a manner that is appropriate for the council.
- → The internal audit function has access to all council information necessary to fulfil its role and responsibilities
- → The internal audit function is appropriately positioned in the council's governance framework to ensure its work complements the work of other internal and external assurance providers
- → The internal audit function has a comprehensive work plan linked to the council's strategic objectives and current and emerging risks
- → The audit, risk and improvement committee receives relevant and timely advice from the internal audit function to ensure the committee can fulfil its role and responsibilities
- → The internal audit function operates in a manner consistent with accepted international standards
- → The work of the internal audit function is thoroughly planned and executed, riskbased, client-focused and linked to the council's strategic goals
- → The internal audit function adds value to the council and is held accountable by the committee and governing body for its performance, and
- → Each council is accountable to the community for the effective implementation of its internal audit function.

Independence

Each council in NSW, (including county council and joint organisation) must have an

internal audit function to provide an independent unbiased assessment of the council's operations and risk and control activities.

Guidelines for Risk Management and Internal Audit for Local Government in NSW

Internal audit is defined in the International Professional Practices Framework issued by the Institute of Internal Auditors as 'an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisation's operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objective by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes".

A council's internal audit function must operate independently of the council and internal audit activities cannot be subject to direction by the council.



To ensure that the internal audit function remains independent from council management it must have a dual reporting line that reports:



- → administratively to the general manager or a sufficiently senior role in the council to ensure the internal audit function fulfils its responsibilities, and
- → functionally to the audit, risk and improvement committee.

Resourcing

The governing body and general manager of the council must ensure that the council's internal audit function is sufficiently resourced to effectively carry out its work. The chair of the audit, risk and improvement committee should be consulted on the resourcing required.

The audit, risk and improvement committee's resourcing recommendations are to be minuted by the committee.

Internal audit charter

It is important that council's internal audit function has clear guidance on how it should serve the audit, risk and improvement committee and the council, and that the committee and council has input into how the internal audit function will operate.

This will ensure there is no ambiguity between the audit, risk and improvement committee, the council or the internal audit function and that the performance of the internal audit function can be assessed.

The Local Government Regulation (clause #tbc) requires each council to adopt an internal audit charter, consistent with the approved Model Internal Audit Charter (Appendix 6), to guide how internal audit will be undertaken by the council and measure its effectiveness.

The internal audit charter is to be developed by the audit, risk and improvement committee in consultation with the general manager and the head of the internal audit function and approved via resolution by the governing body of the council.

The Local Government Regulation (clause #tbc) allows councils to include additional provisions in their internal audit charter so long as they are not inconsistent with the approved Model Internal Audit Charter.

The audit, risk and improvement committee is to review the council's internal audit charter annually in consultation with the general manager and the head of the internal audit function.

Role of the general manager

Consistent with their role under the Local Government Act (section 355) to conduct the day-to-day management of the council, the general manager has administrative responsibility for internal audit under the Local Government Regulation (clause #tbc).

This means that the general manager is responsible for:

- → advising the governing body on the resources required for the effective functioning of the internal audit function
- → ensuring appropriate administrative support is provided to support the work of the internal audit function - for example, access to council's human resources networks, payroll, work health and safety, office facilities and resources, council information etc
- → ensuring that the internal audit function is appropriately positioned within the council to work with external bodies and internal business units and fulfil its role and responsibilities
- ensuring the internal audit function complies with the International Professional Practices Framework, and
- annually attesting, on behalf of the council, that the council is fulfilling its statutory obligations in relation to internal audit.

The general manager has no role in the performance of the internal audit function - for example, the conduct of internal audits, the audit techniques used, or the reporting of internal audit findings to the audit, risk and improvement committee.

Delegation

The general manager can, in consultation with the governing body of the council and the audit, risk and improvement committee, delegate their functions in relation to the oversight of the council's internal audit function to another role in the council that is sufficiently senior to ensure the internal audit function meets its responsibilities.

In making a delegation, consideration should be given to how the delegation will influence the internal audit function's ability to achieve the internal audit charter given the:

→ seniority and expertise of the delegate and demands placed on them by their other roles and responsibilities in the council

- → support available to the delegate to successfully execute their delegation in relation to internal audit
- \rightarrow complexity of the council's core business
- \rightarrow risk profile of the council
- \rightarrow expectations of stakeholders, and
- → likely demands placed on the internal audit function.

Role of the audit, risk and improvement committee

Under the Local Government Regulation (clause #tbc), the audit, risk and improvement committee exercises functional oversight of a council's internal audit function to ensure it operates independently from the council.

This means that the audit, risk and improvement committee is responsible for:

- → assisting the governing body to identify the resources necessary for the effective functioning of the internal audit function
- → setting the annual and four-yearly work plans for the internal audit function, including the audits that will be completed
- → assessing the findings and recommendations of completed audits and providing the committee's advice and opinion on issues raised to the general manager and governing body of the council
- → developing the internal audit charter that will guide the work of the internal audit function and how it operates, and
- → reviewing the performance of the internal audit function.

Structure

Each council will have different internal audit function requirements depending on the council's size, needs, budget and operational complexity and can either:

- → establish an internal audit function for their own exclusive use, or
- → share their internal audit function with another council, county council or joint organisation.

For cost and administrative efficiency, councils are also able to:

- → establish an in-house internal audit function comprising of council staff/contractors, and/or
- → outsource their internal audit function to an external provider/s – for example, a private sector accounting firm, internal audit firm, internal audit contractor etc.

These options will assist councils, county councils and joint organisations:

- → to establish their internal audit function in the most cost-effective way
- in remote locations that may find it difficult to appoint or retain the staff necessary to support a stand-alone internal audit function
- to access a larger resource pool than would be available to a single council, and
- create efficiencies through common systems, shared knowledge and internal audit tools.

When deciding the most appropriate way to structure a council's internal audit function, the general manager should consider the viability and capacity of a shared internal audit function to achieve the council's internal audit charter given the:

- → size of the council in terms of both staffing levels and budget
- → geographical and functional distribution of the council's operations
- → complexity of the council's core business
- \rightarrow risk profile of the council
- \rightarrow expectations of stakeholders, and
- likely demands placed on the internal audit function by other councils in the shared arrangement.

Whatever structure is adopted, the head of a council's internal audit function must:



- → be a council employee and cannot be outsourced, other than through a shared arrangement with another council, and
- → meet the eligibility and independence criteria for the position.

This is to ensure that the council retains strategic control of the internal audit function and can actively monitor its performance.

County councils

County councils may enter into a shared arrangement with one of their constituent councils or another county council.

Joint organisations

Joint organisations that do not host a shared internal audit function for the use of their member councils can enter into a shared arrangement with a member council.

In-house internal audit function

An in-house internal audit function is where internal auditors and other staff (where required) are employed by the council to conduct the internal audits and other activities in the audit, risk and improvement committee's annual and four-yearly strategic work plan.

The advantages of establishing an in-house internal audit function may include:

- → council retaining ownership of internal audit information
- → confidentiality of sensitive information contained in audits
- → stronger direction and oversight by the council of the internal audit function with more direct control over the quality of audits conducted

- → internal auditors having council-specific knowledge and experience that delivers better audit results
- → greater agility to respond quickly to emerging issues, and
- → the retention of corporate knowledge within the council.

Disadvantages may include:

- → challenges attracting and retaining suitable staff
- → specialist skills may not be available inhouse
- \rightarrow reduced flexibility, and
- → the need to provide council facilities and office space for internal audit personnel.

Councils that establish an in-house internal audit function are not limited to employing staff members and can supplement the internal audit team's work with audits undertaken by external providers where necessary.

Councils that have been categorised as a tier 2 or tier 3 council are encouraged to establish an in-house internal audit function given their:

- → significant assets
- → higher risk profiles
- \rightarrow higher levels of expenditure, and
- more complex transactions and operations.

Head of an in-house internal audit function

Each council's internal audit function must be led by a staff member with sufficient skills, knowledge, experience and integrity to ensure it undertakes its role appropriately, meets its responsibilities to the audit, risk and improvement committee and makes a valuable contribution to the council.

The head of an in-house internal audit function (described as the 'chief audit executive' in the International Professional Practices Framework) also needs to report to the general manager or a sufficiently senior role in the council that ensures the internal audit function fulfils its responsibilities.

For some councils with larger budgets and higher risks, the head of the internal audit function will require the support of a dedicated internal audit team to fulfil the internal audit charter.

For other smaller councils, their size and risk profile may not justify additional internal audit staff and the head of the internal audit function will be sufficient.

The head of the internal audit function may also have other council responsibilities outside of internal audit.

Role and responsibilities

For all in-house internal audit functions, regardless of size, the key responsibilities of the head of the internal audit function include:

- managing the day-to-day activities of the council's internal audit activities to ensure they add value to council
- managing the council's internal audit budget
- supporting the operation of the audit, risk and improvement committee
- approving internal audit project plans, conducting or supervising audits and assessments and providing independent advice to the committee
- monitoring the council's implementation of corrective actions that arise from the findings of audits
- fulfilling the committee's annual work plan and four-yearly strategic plan
- ensuring the council's internal audit activities comply with statutory requirements
- managing internal audit personnel and ensuring that they have the skills necessary to fulfil the role and responsibilities of the internal audit function (where appropriate), and
- contract management and oversight of supplementary external providers (where appropriate).

Eligibility criteria

To fulfil these responsibilities, the head of the internal audit function:

- → must be a council employee and cannot be outsourced, other than through a shared arrangement with another council – this is to ensure that the council retains strategic control of the internal audit function and is able to actively monitor the performance of the internal audit function
- → must be independent, impartial, unbiased and objective when performing their work and free from conflicts of interest
- → should possess the following skills, knowledge and experience to effectively carry out their role:
 - → the credibility to ensure they can negotiate on a reasonably equal footing with the general manager (or their delegate), governing body and audit, risk and improvement committee
 - → the skills, knowledge and personal qualities necessary to lead credible and accepted internal audit activities in the council
 - strong experience overseeing internal audit
 - appropriate qualifications and professional certifications, and
 - → local government experience (preferred).

The head of the internal audit function must also operate and conduct their internal audit activities in accordance with the International Professional Practices Framework, including its Code of Ethics.

As a council employee, the head of the internal audit function must comply with all relevant council policies and procedures as required by other council staff members, including the council's code of conduct.

Independence

It is important that the head of an in-house internal audit function has the functional independence to ensure that this role has the freedom necessary to independently assess and report on the way council operates. As a safeguard, the Local Government Regulation (clause #tbc) requires the general manager to consult with the chair of the audit, risk and improvement committee before

appointing or changing the employment conditions of the head of the internal audit function (including disciplinary measures).

Where dismissal occurs, the general manager must report to the governing body advising of the reasons why the head of the internal audit function was dismissed.

Where the chair of the audit, risk and improvement committee has any concerns about the treatment of the head of the internal audit function, or any action taken that may compromise the head of the internal audit function's ability to undertake their functions independently, they can report their concerns to the governing body of the council.

The head of the internal audit function is required to confirm at least annually to the audit, risk and improvement committee the independence of internal audit activities from the council.

Access to council staff and information

All internal audit personnel, including the head of an inhouse internal audit function have direct and unrestricted access to council staff, the audit risk and improvement committee and council information and resources necessary to undertake their role and responsibilities.

All council staff and contractors should have unrestricted access to the head of the internal audit function to allow them to alert them to emerging risks or internal audit related issues.

Internal audit team

Any other staff members appointed to council's in-house internal audit function report directly to the head of the internal audit function.

As council employees, internal audit staff must comply with all relevant council policies and procedures including the council's code of conduct. In-house internal auditors must also conduct internal audit activities in accordance with the International Professional Practices Framework.

Internal audit should be performed by professionals with an appropriate level of understanding of the council's culture, systems and processes to provide assurance that the internal controls in place are sufficient to mitigate the risks, that the governance processes are adequate and that organisational goals and objectives are met.

In-house internal auditors should therefore possess the following skills, knowledge and experience to effectively carry out their role:

- → the skills, knowledge and experience necessary to conduct internal audit activities in the council – for example:
 - \circ accounting
 - o finance
 - economics
 - o governance
 - management
 - lawtaxation
 - fraud and corruption
 - o IT
- effective interpersonal and communication skills to ensure they can partner with council staff effectively and collaboratively
- honesty, integrity and due diligence, and
- appropriate qualifications and professional certifications.

Local government experience or expertise is also strongly preferred.

Dual responsibilities

To ensure the internal audit function's independence and objectivity, it is best practice that the head of the in-house internal audit function and any other members of an in-house internal audit team have no other council responsibilities other than internal audit.

However, it is recognised that some councils may find it difficult to employ a stand-alone head of an in-house internal audit function or other supporting internal auditors due to the

cost involved, the council's location and/or that the size of the council's operations and risk profile or the council's organisational structure may not warrant stand-alone employees.

Councils can therefore combine the head of the internal audit function's role and/or the role of a member of the internal audit team with another council role or responsibilities provided there are adequate safeguards put in place by the council to limit any real or perceived bias or conflicts of interest that may lead to faulty decision-making and cognitive bias.

An internal audit role must not be combined with the role of the general manager, chief financial officer or risk management function as it will create conflicts of interest that cannot be resolved.

Councils can also share their head of the internal audit function with another council, county council or joint organisation as part of a shared arrangement.

Depending on the specific needs and circumstances of the council, safeguards could include:

- → any potential issues or conflicts of interest arising from a dual role being formally documented in council's internal audit charter
- → the audit, risk and improvement committee, or another suitably qualified and independent party, reviewing internal audit briefs, findings and recommendations before they are finalised where they concern any key risks overseen by the head of the internal audit function or internal audit team member in another role
- → the head of the internal audit function or an internal audit team member not having responsibility for managing any risks or implementing any audit recommendations or corrective actions in their other role/s, and/or
- → the committee including an assessment of the independence and objectivity (for internal audit purposes) of the head of the internal audit function or any internal audit team members with a dual role in their

annual assessment report to the governing body.

The endorsement of the governing body, in consultation with the audit, risk and improvement committee is also required before any combined roles can commence.

Where the head of the internal audit function has a dual role in a council, they are to remain independent and report functionally to the audit, risk and improvement committee on their internal audit responsibilities.

For other council responsibilities, the head of the internal audit function reports functionally through normal council reporting lines to the general manager.

Outsourced internal audit function

Where a council outsources their internal audit function, the internal audits required by the audit, risk and improvement committee are undertaken by an external provider such as an internal audit or accounting firm, or an individual practitioner.

Contract management is overseen by an employee within the council.

The advantages of using external providers for internal audit activities may include:

- \rightarrow flexibility
- → access to a wide range of expertise and experience, especially outside of local government and provide expertise the council may not have
- → provides a window to better practice methods that small councils may find difficult to access
- → the ability to purchase services as and when required
- → can increase internal audit's independence from the council
- overcoming challenges recruiting a head of an internal audit function or internal audit staff, and
- → potential to negotiate lower fee-for-service costs.

Disadvantages may include:

- → increased costs
- → potential loss of corporate knowledge from the council
- → difficulty building and maintaining professional relationships between council management and external contractors
- → reduced oversight and control of internal audit activities
- → additional in-house staff time required to source and manage external providers and contracts
- → the external provider lacking councilspecific knowledge
- → internal audit coordinator is unlikely to be audit trained and may not have the knowledge to ensure audit quality is maintained, and
- \rightarrow potential confidentiality breaches.

Given their size, resources, geographical isolation, risk profiles and complexity of operations, tier 1 councils are encouraged, at a minimum, to establish an outsourced internal audit function.

Head of an outsourced internal audit function

Compared to the head of an in-house internal audit function which personally conducts or supervises internal audits and provides their personal opinions and recommendations to the audit, risk and improvement committee, the head of an outsourced internal audit function will, in practice, primarily be a coordination and administrative role.

The key responsibilities of any council staff member assigned responsibility for leading an outsourced internal audit function is to include:

- → contract management
- → managing internal audit budget
- → ensuring the external provider completes internal audits in line with the audit, risk and improvement committee's annual plan and four-yearly strategic plan
- → forward audit reports by the external provider to the committee
- → act as a liaison between the external provider and the committee

- → monitoring the council's implementation of corrective actions that arise from the findings of audits and reporting progress to the Committee, and
- → assisting the committee to ensure the council's internal audit activities comply with statutory requirements.

To fulfil these responsibilities, the head of an outsourced function:

- → reports functionally to the audit, risk and improvement committee
- \rightarrow must be free from conflicts of interest
- → must be a council employee and cannot be outsourced, other than through a shared arrangement with another council, county council or joint organisation - this is to ensure that the council retains control of the internal audit function and is able to actively monitor the performance of the external provider
- should possess the following skills, knowledge and experience to effectively carry out their role:
 - → a good understanding of the work of audit, risk and improvement committees and internal audit, and
 - → the skills, knowledge and personal qualities necessary to manage the council's contract with the external provider and liaise between the external provider and the audit, risk and improvement committee.

As a council employee, the head of an outsourced function must comply with all relevant council policies and procedures as required by other council staff members, including the council's code of conduct.

Dual responsibilities

The head of an outsourced internal audit function can be assigned other roles and responsibilities in the council.

Where the head of an outsourced function has a dual role in a council, they are to remain independent and report functionally to the audit, risk and improvement committee in relation to their internal audit responsibilities.

For other council responsibilities, the head of an outsourced function reports functionally through normal council reporting lines to the general manager.

Councils can combine the head of an outsourced function's role with another council role or responsibilities provided that there are adequate safeguards put in place by the council to limit any real or perceived bias or conflicts of interest.

Depending on the specific needs and circumstances of the council, safeguards could include:

- → any potential issues or conflicts of interest arising from a dual role being formally documented in council's internal audit charter
- → the audit, risk and improvement committee endorsing the dual roles before they can commence
- → the head of the outsourced function not having responsibility for managing any risks or implementing any audit recommendations or corrective actions in their other role/s, and/or
- → the committee including an assessment of the independence and objectivity (for internal audit purposes) of the head of the outsourced function in their annual assessment report to the governing body.

External provider/s

It is important that any external provider engaged by a council is independent and can objectively assess and report on the way council operates.

To ensure the independence of an external provider, the head of the outsourced function is to ensure the external provider:

- → does not conduct any audits on specific council operations or area that they have worked on within the last two years
- → is not the same auditor conducting the council's external audit
- → is not the auditor of any contractors of the council that may be possibly subject to the internal audit, and

→ is able to meet the council's statutory internal audit obligations.

The head of the outsourced function must also consult with the audit, risk and improvement committee and general manager regarding the appropriateness of the skills, knowledge and experience of any external provider before they are engaged by the council.

Chair of the audit, risk and improvement committee

The chair of an audit, risk and improvement committee that oversees an outsourced internal audit function is likely to have greater responsibilities than that of an in-house internal audit function.

As the head of an outsourced function is largely a coordination/administrative role, committee members, and in particular the chair of the Committee, will do the 'heavy lifting' and be the primary source of advice on the findings and recommendations of audits conducted by the external provider and assurance to the council.

Councils that establish an outsourced internal audit function must ensure that their audit, risk and improvement committee has the capacity and capability to undertake this increased role.

Shared internal audit function

Under the Local Government Regulation (clause #tbc) councils can:

- → share an internal audit function with another council or joint organisation as part of an independent shared arrangement
- → utilise the internal audit function established by their joint organisation that is shared by member councils
- → for county councils share an internal audit function with a constituent council, or

→ for joint organisations - share an internal audit function with a member council.

Councils can establish an in-house or outsourced internal audit function as part of a shared arrangement.

A shared internal audit function must operate as a standalone internal audit function for each participating council in the shared arrangement and satisfy statutory requirements for each participating council.

A shared internal audit function should only be established and utilised where all participating councils can be confident that the shared function can deliver a high level of understanding and fulfilment of each council's internal audit needs and maintain effective working and reporting relationships with each participating council in the shared arrangement.

Councils that establish a shared internal audit function should develop and sign a formal agreement with the other councils in the shared arrangement which outlines how the shared arrangement will operate and how costs will be shared.

Implementation

Given the administrative complexity of an internal audit function shared between councils and reporting to multiple governing bodies and general managers, the following arrangements are recommended:

- → the internal audit function is hosted by one of the councils, county councils or joint organisations in the shared arrangement
- → the head of the internal audit function and any other internal audit team members are employees of the host council
- → the head of the internal audit function reports administratively to the general manager (or their delegate) of the host council, and
- → the general manager of the host council can only appoint or dismiss the head of the internal audit function in consultation with the general managers and audit, risk and improvement committees of each participating council.

For internal audit functions established by joint organisations and shared between member councils it is recommended that:

- → the internal audit function is physically located at the offices of the joint organisation or a member council
- → the head of the internal audit function reports administratively to the executive officer of the joint organisation
- → the head of the internal audit function and any internal audit staff are employees of the joint organisation, and
- → the Executive officer of the joint organisation can only appoint or dismiss the head of the internal audit function in consultation with the general managers and audit, risk and improvement committees of each member council.

Head of a shared internal audit function

In-house function

The head of a shared in-house internal audit function needs to be able to:

- → liaise with the governing body and general manager of each participating council about that council's internal audit activities
- → implement the annual work plan and fouryearly strategic plan for each council
- → conduct or oversee the individual audits of each council and monitoring the implementation of corrective actions
- → manage any contractual arrangements with external providers on behalf of each council (where required)
- → attend the audit, risk and improvement committee meetings of each respective council on behalf of that council, and
- → maintain separate and confidential information for each council.

Outsourced function

The head of a shared outsourced internal audit function needs to be able to:

 manage contracts with external providers on behalf of all councils in the shared arrangement

- → liaise with the audit, risk and improvement committee and general manager of each council
- → coordinate the completion of audits by the external provider in line with each council's annual plan and four-yearly strategic plan
- → provide audit reports by the external provider to the relevant committee and general manager and coordinate council responses
- → monitor the implementation by each council of corrective actions that arise from the findings of audits and reporting progress to the committee
- → assist each council's committee to ensure the council's internal audit activities comply with statutory requirements, and
- → maintain separate and confidential information for each council.

Workplans

The work of each council's internal audit function will be guided by the strategic fouryearly workplan and annual workplan developed by the aud

	_	
	$- \checkmark$	
	-~	
	-~	
М	-~	

workplan developed by the audit, risk and improvement committee (see core requirement 1).

Performing internal audits

It is essential that a council's internal audit function performs the council's internal audits to a high and consistent standard and that the findings and recommendations that arise from audits can be relied upon by the audit, risk and improvement committee and the council.

Each council's internal audits must be performed in accordance with the requirements of the International Professional Practices Framework.

The internal audit tools, techniques and
methodologies used by the internal audit
function must be approved by the audit, risk
and improvement committee.

Where risk information or ratings are used during the internal audit process, they must be developed and applied consistently with the current Australian risk management standard.

Audit reports

The head of the internal audit function must provide the findings and recommendations of internal audits to the audit, risk and improvement committee at the end of each audit.

The audit, risk and improvement committee will determine whether audit reports should be distributed to committee members out-ofsession as they are completed, or at each quarterly meeting of the committee.

Each internal audit report written must reflect the requirements of the International Professional Practices Framework.

This includes:

- necessary background information, including the objective and scope of the audit
- \rightarrow the audit processes and methodology used
- → findings and recommendations based on the audit's objectives, prioritised according to their level of risk
- → recommended remedial actions to address problems identified which have been prioritised according to risk, and
- → a response or action plan from the general manager and/or responsible senior managers of the council.

The head of the internal audit function must provide a draft of each report to the responsible senior manager/s so that a response to each recommendation from each relevant business unit can be included in the final report that is submitted to the audit, risk and improvement committee.

The audit, risk and improvement committee must agree with the general manager the maximum time period the general manager has to approve and provide the council's response to the committee.

Responsible senior managers will have the right to reject recommended corrective action/s on reasonable grounds but should discuss their position with the head of the internal audit function or the chair of the audit, risk and improvement committee before finalising the council's position with the general manager. Reasons for rejecting the recommendation/s must be included in the final audit report.

For those recommendations that are accepted, responsible senior managers are required to ensure that:

- → an action plan is prepared for each recommendation that assigns responsibility for implementation to a council staff member/s and timeframes for implementation
- → all corrective actions are implemented within proposed timeframes, and
- → the head of the internal audit function is provided regular updates, or as otherwise reasonably requested, in relation to the implementation of the internal audit action plan.

Where corrective actions are not implemented within agreed timeframes, the audit, risk and improvement committee can invite the responsible senior manager to explain why implementation has not occurred and how the resulting risk is being addressed in the interim.

The audit, risk and improvement committee can raise any concerns it may have about the council's response to internal audit reports with the general manager and in the committee's quarterly report to the governing body so that they are aware of the risks posed to the council.

Ongoing monitoring

The head of the internal audit function should establish an ongoing monitoring system to track the internal audits undertaken for the council and follow-up council's progress in implementing corrective actions.

Compliance with regulatory requirements and internal audit standards could also be included as part of ongoing monitoring and selfassessment.

If necessary, any problems identified must be reported to the audit, risk and improvement committee and general manager to ensure they can be rectified quickly before their consequences escalate.

The audit, risk and improvement committee can raise any concerns it has that may arise between meetings with the governing body via an additional report where needed. The chair of the committee can also request to meet with the mayor.

This will ensure that the governing body is fully aware of significant emerging risks posed to the council.

Policies and procedures

The general manager, in consultation with the audit, risk and improvement committee, must develop and maintain policies and procedures to guide the operation of the council's internal audit function and the performance of internal audits.

These policies and procedures could include:

- → the structure and resourcing of the internal audit function
- how internal audits will be conducted, reported, implemented and monitored
- → audit methodology
- → timeframes for reporting and council's response to recommendations
- → how any internal audit-related disputes will be resolved
- → the internal audit function's access to council staff, resources and information
- → how the performance of the internal audit function will be reviewed
- → communication between the audit, risk and improvement committee and internal audit function, and the internal audit function and the general manager, and

→ information management including document retention, security and access to audit reports.

Providing advice to the audit, risk and improvement committee

Ongoing reporting to the audit, risk and improvement committee is essential to ensure that the committee is kept informed of matters considered by the internal audit function and any emerging issues that may require reporting to the governing body or general manager.

Quarterly updates

The head of the internal audit function is to ensure that the audit, risk and improvement committee is advised at each of the committee's quarterly meetings of

- → the internal audits completed during that quarter
- → progress in implementing the annual work plan, and
- → progress made implementing corrective actions arising from any past internal audits.

The way this information is communicated is to be decided by the audit, risk and improvement committee in consultation with the head of the internal audit function.

Ongoing advice

The head of the internal audit function can meet with the chair of the audit, risk and improvement committee at any time, as necessary, between committee meetings.

This is particularly important to ensure that any urgent or emerging issues identified by the internal audit function can be quickly reported to the audit, risk and improvement committee for consideration and action before their consequences escalate.

Internal audit documents

Internal audit documentation includes any information or documents produced or obtained by a council's internal audit function that relates to the internal audit activities of the council.

All internal audit documents:

- are for internal use only, subject to the requirements of the *Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009* (GIPA Act)
- are to remain the property of the audited council, including where internal audit services are performed by an external provider – all rights reside with the audited council
- must be documented, retained and controlled in accordance with the International Professional Practices
 Framework and council policies
- can be accessed by the audit, risk and improvement committee and external auditor without restriction
- → can be accessed by the governing body via resolution, subject to the approval of the chair of the committee (any disputes can be referred to the Office of Local Government for resolution)
- → subject to the GIPA Act, can only be released to an external party with the approval of the general manager and the chair of the committee, except where the information is being provided to an external oversight or investigative body for the purposes of informing that agency of a matter that may warrant its attention.

Any internal audit documentation provided to any individual, including members of the governing body, should be treated as strictly confidential.

The chair of the audit, risk and improvement committee may refuse to provide access to

internal audit documents or information to anyone who has previously released such information without authorisation.

Review of internal audit function performance

It is important that the work of each council's internal audit function is regularly assessed, and internal auditors held accountable for their performance.

This will ensure that the internal audit function is making a valuable contribution to the council and allows the audit, risk and improvement committee and the council to understand how the council is performing in relation to the matters listed in section 428A of the Local Government Act.

It will also ensure that the audit, risk and improvement committee and council can determine whether any changes to the internal audit function are required.

Annual assessment

The audit, risk and improvement committee must review the performance of the internal audit function each year and report its findings to the governing body as part of the committee's annual assessment.

The annual assessment is to ensure that any concerns regarding the operation of the internal audit function and compliance with the International Professional Practices Framework can be dealt with before they are identified in the four-yearly strategic review, by which time their consequences may have escalated.

An annual assessment will also encourage continuous improvement of the council's internal audit activity.

The audit, risk and improvement committee is to determine the nature of this assessment. It could be conducted, for example, via a selfassessment performed by the head of the internal audit function.

More information about the audit, risk and improvement committee's annual assessments is provided under core requirement 1.

Four-yearly strategic assessment

A council's audit, risk and improvement committee is to provide an assessment of the effectiveness of the council's internal audit function to the general manager and governing body in each term of the council, as part of the committee's four-yearly strategic assessment.

This assessment is to occur regardless of whether the council has established an inhouse or outsourced internal audit function, as the assessment focuses on how the council has implemented its internal audit function.

As part of the audit, risk and improvement committee's assessment of the council's internal audit function, it should consider:

- the views of an independent external party with strong knowledge of internal audit operation
- the independence of the internal auditfunction
- → whether resourcing is sufficient
- → whether the internal audit function complies with statutory requirements and the International Professional Practices Framework
- → the appropriateness of annual work plans and strategic plans based on the risks facing the council
- → progress against key performance indicators
- → whether the internal audit function adds value and delivers outcomes for the council, and
- → the appropriateness of the internal audit charter.

To ensure the views of the external party consulted are robust, the external party should have:

→ strong skills, knowledge and expertise in internal audit

- → a working knowledge of the International Professional Practices Framework, and
- → no conflicts of interest that may result in bias or a lack of objectivity.

The audit, risk and improvement committee, in consultation with the general manager, is to develop an action plan for the governing body to address any internal audit issues identified by the committee.

The audit, risk and improvement committee's strategic assessment and action plan is to be discussed with the governing body and general manager at the strategic assurance meeting held each council term.

More information about the audit, risk and improvement committee's strategic assessment is provided under core requirement 1.

Reporting concerns about councillors or council staff

Given the nature of internal audit, there may times where the internal audit function identifies concerns about the conduct of council staff.

Where the head of the internal audit function has concerns regarding a staff member, they can:

- → raise their concerns with the chair of the audit, risk and improvement committee (if it relates to the effectiveness of the internal audit function)
- → report breaches of the council's code of conduct to the general manager, or by the general manager to the Mayor, as required by the Procedures for the Administration of the Model Code of Conduct for Local Councils in NSW
- → report their concerns through the council's internal reporting policy, complaints handling policy or other associated protocols, and/or

- → make a public interest disclosure under the *Public Interest Disclosures Act 1994* to the:
 - Independent Commission Against Corruption (concerning corrupt conduct)
 - NSW Ombudsman (concerning maladministration)
 - NSW Auditor General (concerning serious and substantial waste of public money)
 - Office of Local Government (concerning serious and substantial waste in local government and breaches of pecuniary interest obligations), and/or
 - Information and Privacy
 Commissioner (concerning government information contraventions).

Annual attestation

The Local Government Regulation (clause #tbc) requires the general manager to attest each year in the council's annual report whether the council has complied with the following requirements:

- → council has an internal audit function that provides an independent unbiased assessment of the council's operations and risk and control activities
- → council's internal audit function reports to the audit, risk and improvement committee on internal audit matters
- → the internal audit function operates independently of the council
- → council's internal audit function operates according to an internal audit charter, which is consistent with the approved Model Internal Audit Charter contained in these guidelines
- → council has appointed an appropriately skilled and eligible staff member to direct the council's internal audit activities or is part of a shared arrangement where a participating council has appointed a staff member to lead internal audit
- → internal audit activities are conducted in accordance with the International Professional Practices Framework

- → council's internal audit function operates according to annual and four-yearly strategic plans adopted by the governing body of the council
- → council provides the internal audit function with direct and unrestricted access to the general manager and other staff, council information and resources so it can fulfil its responsibilities, and
- → at least once each council term (i.e. four years)[,] the audit, risk and improvement committee conducts a review of the effectiveness of the council's internal audit function.

Further information on annual attestation requirements are detailed in the statutory framework section of these Guidelines.

Further resources

The following resources may be useful to councils seeking more information about the establishment and operation of their internal audit function.

This is not an exhaustive list but provides a useful starting point for councils that seek to better understand internal audit, how it can be used by councils to improve performance, and practical tools, examples and templates to adapt for their own use.

International Professional Practices Framework (mandatory guidance) – Institute of Internal Auditors (2017)

Outlines the mandatory requirements for undertaking internal auditing under the International Professional Practices Framework.

Consists of four parts:

- → Core Principles for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing
- → Definition of Internal Auditing
- → Code of Ethics, and
- → International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing

<u>International Professional Practices</u> <u>Framework (recommended guidance)</u> – Institute of Internal Auditors (2017)

Provides detailed guidance on how to implement the International Professional Practice Framework.

Consists of two parts:

- → Implementation Guide assists an internal audit function to apply the standards and understand how compliance will be measured by the audit, risk and improvement committee, and
- → Supplemental Guide (Practice Guides) provides detailed processes and procedures for the internal audit function.

How can audit committee members add value? - PriceWaterhouseCoopers (2011)

Provides a checklist for measuring the performance of an internal audit function.

Internal Audit in Australia – Institute of Internal Auditors Australia (2016)

Provides an overview of the role of internal audit and the internal audit function, including:

- → the different types of work plans that can be used to guide internal audit activity
- → the skills, knowledge, experience and qualifications/certifications required of internal auditors
- → performing, reporting and monitoring internal audits, and
- → how to review the performance of an internal audit function, including performance measures that could be used

<u>Practice Guide – Talent Management:</u> <u>Recruiting, Developing, Motivating and</u> <u>Retaining Great Team Members</u> – Institute of Internal Auditors (2015)

Provides guidance on how to establish an effective internal audit team (for purchase from the Institute of Internal Auditors).

<u>Quality Assessment Manual for the Internal</u> <u>Audit Activity</u> – Institute of Internal Auditors (2017)

Outlines how the performance of council's internal audit function can be assessed both internally and externally against the International Professional Practices Framework.







Under the Local Government Act, all councils and joint organisations are required to appoint an audit, risk and improvement committee by June 2022.

Following June 2022, councils will have two years, until 30 June 2024, to comply with the risk management and internal audit requirements under these Guidelines and five years to comply with the audit, risk and improvement committee requirements.

Audit, risk and improvement committees

New Committees

Councils that currently do not have an audit, risk and improvement committee must appoint a Committee by June 2022 that complies with the requirements of these Guidelines.

Existing Committees

Councils that already have an audit, risk and improvement committee will already comply with the requirement under the Local Government Act to appoint a committee.

These councils will have until June 2027 (five years) to ensure the membership of their committees comply with these guidelines.

Additional transition time is provided to allow the terms of existing audit, risk and improvement committee members that may not otherwise be eligible for membership of the committee under the new requirements, to naturally expire.

Staged compliance will provide greater stability in the membership of existing committees, ensure the retention of corporate knowledge on the committee, and reduce demand on the prequalification scheme.

Risk management framework

Councils have until 30 June 2024 to ensure their risk management framework complies with these guidelines.

However, councils that already have a mature risk management framework are encouraged, for their own benefit, to comply sooner.

Internal audit function

As a transitional measure, councils will have until 30 June 2024 to ensure their internal audit function complies with these guidelines.

However, councils that already have an internal audit function are encouraged, for their own benefit, to comply sooner.

Attestation

Attestation requirements will commence in 2024 for risk management and internal audit, and 2027 for audit, risk and improvement committees.

All councils will be required to publish their attestation certificates commencing with their 2024-2025 annual report.

However, councils with more mature audit, risk and improvement committees, internal audit function and/or risk management frameworks are encouraged to consider publishing attestation certificates in their annual reports sooner.
Appendix 1:

Attestation template and Determination template



Internal Audit and Risk Management Attestation Statement for the [years] Financial Year for [council/joint organisation]

I am of the opinion that [council/joint organisation] has an audit, risk and improvement committee and risk management and internal audit processes that, excluding the exceptions outlined below, operate in compliance with the requirements set out in the *Local Government Act 1993* and *Local Government (General) Regulation) 2005*.

Specifically:

Audit, risk and improvement committee

Requirement	Compliance
[Council's/joint organisation's] audit, risk and improvement committee is independent of the [council/joint organisation] and has three or more members that comply with or exceed the minimum requirements for the [council's/joint organisation's] prescribed category as a [tier #tbc] council	[compliant or non/compliant]
The chair and all members of [council's/joint organisation's] audit, risk and improvement committee meet the eligibility and independence criteria required of their position, and have been appointed in accordance with prescribed membership term limits	[compliant or non/compliant]
[Council's/joint organisation's] audit, risk and improvement committee operates according to terms of reference approved by the [governing body of the council/board of the joint organisation] that are consistent with the approved Model Terms of Reference	[compliant or non/compliant]
[Council's/joint organisation's] audit, risk and improvement committee operates according to annual and four-yearly strategic plans endorsed by the [governing body of the council/board of the joint organisation]	[compliant or non/compliant]
[Council's/joint organisation's] audit, risk and improvement committee provides an annual assessment to the [governing body/board of the joint organisation] each year, and a strategic assessment of all the matters listed in section 428A of the Local Government Act to the [governing body/board] each council term	[compliant or non/compliant, include date of last strategic assessment provided]
The [council/joint organisation] provides the audit, risk and improvement committee with direct and unrestricted access to the [general manager/executive officer], senior management, [council/joint organisation] information and [council/joint organisation] resources so it can fulfil its responsibilities	[compliant or non/compliant]
At least once each council term the [governing body of the council/board of the joint organisation] reviews the effectiveness of the audit, risk and improvement committee.	[compliant or non/compliant, include date of last review]

Membership

The chair and membership of the audit, risk and improvement committee are:

Risk Management			
[Councillor/board] member ¹	[name]	[start term date]	[finish term date]
Independent member ¹	[name]	[start term date]	[finish term date]
Independent member ¹	[name]	[start term date]	[finish term date]
Independent member	[name]	[start term date]	[finish term date]
Independent member	[name]	[start term date]	[finish term date]
Independent chair	[name]	[start term date]	[finish term date]

Risk Management

Requirement	Compliance
[Council/joint organisation] has adopted a risk management framework that is consistent with current Australian risk management standards and appropriate for the [council's/joint organisation's] risks	[compliant or non/compliant]
[Council's/joint organisation's] audit, risk and improvement committee is responsible for reviewing the implementation of [council's/joint organisation's] risk management framework and issues a strategic assessment of the effectiveness of the [council's/joint organisation] risk management framework to the [governing body/board] each council term.	[compliant or non/compliant, include date of last strategic assessment provided]
Internal Audit	

Requirement	Compliance
[Council/joint organisation] has an internal audit function that provides an independent unbiased assessment of the [council's/joint organisation's] operations and risk and control activities	[compliant or non/compliant]
[Council's/joint organisation's] internal audit function reports to the audit, risk and improvement committee on internal audit matters	[compliant or non/compliant]
[Council's/joint organisation's] internal audit function operates independently of the [council/joint organisation] and internal audit activities are not subject to direction by the [council/joint organisation]	[compliant or non/compliant]
[Council's/joint organisation's] internal audit function operates according to an internal audit charter, which is consistent with the approved Model Internal Audit Charter	[compliant or non/compliant]
[Council/joint organisation] has appointed an appropriately skilled and eligible staff member to direct the [council's/joint organisation's] internal audit activities or is part of a shared	[compliant or non/compliant]

¹ Delete row if optional member not appointed

Requirement	Compliance
arrangement where a participating [council/joint organisation] has appointed a staff member to direct shared internal audit activities	
Internal audit activities are conducted in accordance with the International Professional Practices Framework	[compliant or non/compliant]
[Council's/joint organisation's] internal audit function operates according to annual and four-yearly strategic plans developed by the [council's/joint organisation's] audit, risk and improvement committee and endorsed by the [governing body of the council/board of the joint organisation]	[compliant or non/compliant]
[Council/joint organisation] provides the internal audit function with direct and unrestricted access to the [council/joint organisation] staff, [council's/joint organisation's] audit, risk and improvement committee, [council/joint organisation] information and resources so it can fulfil its responsibilities	[compliant or non/compliant]
At least once each council term [council's/joint organisation's] audit, risk and improvement committee reviews the effectiveness of the [council's/joint organisation's] internal audit function and reports this to the [governing body of the council/board of the joint organisation].	[compliant or non/compliant]

Departures from regulatory requirements

I advise that the audit, risk and improvement committee, risk management and internal audit activities for [council/joint organisation] depart from the requirements set out in the *Local Government Act 1993* and *Local Government (General) Regulation 2005* in the following ways:

Non-compliance	Reason	Alternative measures being implemented	Exemption granted by the Chief Executive of the Office of Local Government
[regulatory requirement]	[detailed description of reasons giving rise to the non-compliance]	[detailed description of the practicable alternative measures implemented to achieve equivalent level of assurance]	[yes/no]

These processes, including the alternative measures implemented, demonstrate that [council/joint organisation] has established and maintained frameworks, including systems, processes and procedures for appropriately managing audit and risk within [council/joint organisation].

[signed] [name and position] [date]

[Council/joint organisation] compliance with mandatory risk management and internal audit requirements

I am advised that [council/joint organisation] has not complied with the following requirements with respect to the operation of its [audit, risk and improvement committee/risk management/internal audit processes] (omit where relevant):

Requirement	Reason for non-compliance
[regulatory requirement]	[detailed description of reasons giving rise to the non-compliance]

I note that the following alternative arrangements have been implemented to achieve outcomes equivalent to the requirement/s:

Summary of alternative arrangements	How they will achieve equivalent outcomes
[summary of alternative arrangement]	[summary of how they will achieve equivalent outcomes]

I am satisfied that these alternative arrangements will achieve outcomes equivalent to the requirement/s.

This exemption from the requirements of the *Local Government (General) Regulation 2005* is valid for the financial year/s of [years].

[signed] [name and position] [date]

[Office of Local Government contact officer contact details]



Audit, risk and improvement committee – role and responsibilities



Under section 428A of the Local Government Act, each council (including county councils and joint organisations) must have an audit, risk and improvement committee to independently review and provide advice to the council regarding the following aspects of council's operations:

- (a) compliance
- (b) risk management
- (c) fraud control
- (d) financial management
- (e) governance
- (f) implementation of the strategic plan, delivery program and strategies
- (g) service reviews
- (h) collection of performance measurement data by the council, and
- (i) any other matters prescribed by the regulation (i.e. internal audit).

The committee must also provide information to the council for the purpose of improving council's performance of its functions.

The audit, risk and improvement committee and council are to agree on the specific activities the committee is to review based on the council's needs, risks and business functions.

The following is a list of activities audit, risk and improvement committees and councils should consider as part of the committee's 'audit', 'risk' and 'improvement' roles based on the requirements of section 428A of the Local Government Act.

This is not an exhaustive list and audit, risk and improvement committees and councils are encouraged to carefully consider the council's business operations, service delivery, financial management processes, internal audit function, external accountability requirements, risk management framework, governance arrangements and integrated planning and reporting framework to maximise the advice and assistance the committee can provide to the council.

Audit

Internal audit

section 428A(2)(i)

Principle

Council has an effective internal audit function and receives maximum value from its internal audit activities.

Committee's role

- → Provide overall strategic oversight of internal audit activities
- → Act as a forum for communication between the governing body, general manager, senior management, the internal audit function and external audit
 - Coordinate as far as is practicable, the work programs of internal audit and other assurance and review functions
- Advise the general manager and governing body of the council:
 - whether the council is providing the resources necessary to successfully deliver the internal audit function
 - if the council is complying with internal audit requirements, including compliance with the International Professional Practices Framework
 - if the council's internal audit charter is appropriate and whether the internal audit policies and procedures and audit/risk methodologies used by the council are suitable
 - of the strategic four-year plan and annual work plan of internal audits to be undertaken by the council's internal audit function
 - if council's internal audit activities are effective, including the performance of the head of the internal audit function and internal audit function
 - of the findings and recommendations of internal audits conducted, and corrective actions needed to address issues raised
 - of the implementation by council of these corrective actions

- on the appointment of the head of the internal audit function and external providers, and
- if the internal audit function is structured appropriately and has sufficient skills and expertise to meet its responsibilities

External audit

Principle

Council receives maximum value from its external audit activities.

Committee's role

- → Act as a forum for communication between the governing body, general manager, senior management, the internal audit function and external audit
- → Coordinate as far as is practicable, the work programs of internal audit and external audit
- → Provide input and feedback on the financial statement and performance audit coverage proposed by external audit and provide feedback on the audit services provided
- → Review all external plans and reports in respect of planned or completed audits and monitor council's implementation of audit recommendations
- → Provide advice to the governing body and/or general manager on action taken on significant issues raised in relevant external audit reports and better practice guides

Risk

Compliance framework

section 428A(2)(a)

Principle

Council has an effective compliance framework that ensures it is complying with its legal obligations and other governance and contractual requirements when undertaking its functions.

Committee's role

Advise the general manager and governing body of the council of the adequacy and effectiveness of the council's compliance framework, including:

- → if the council has appropriately considered legal and compliance risks as part of the council's risk management framework
- → how the council manages its compliance with applicable laws, regulations, policies, procedures, codes, and contractual arrangements, and
- → whether appropriate processes are in place to assess compliance.

Risk management

section 428A(2)(b)

Principle

Council has an effective risk management framework and internal controls that successfully identify and manage the risks it faces.

Committee's role

Advise the general manager and governing body of the council:

Risk management framework

- → whether the council is providing the resources necessary to successfully implement its risk management framework
- → if the council has in place a current and appropriate risk management framework that is consistent with the Australian risk management standard
- → whether the council's risk management framework is adequate and effective for identifying and managing the risks the council faces, including those associated individual projects, programs and other activities
- → if risk management is integrated across all levels of the council and across all processes, operations, services, decisionmaking, functions and reporting

- → of the adequacy of risk reports and documentation, for example, the council's risk register and risk profile
- → whether a sound approach has been followed in developing risk management plans
- → whether appropriate policies and procedures are in place for the management and exercise of delegations
- → if council has taken steps to embed a culture that is committed to ethical and lawful behaviour
- → if there is a positive risk culture within the council and strong leadership that supports effective risk management
- → of the adequacy of staff training and induction in risk management
- → how the council's risk management approach impacts on the council's insurance arrangements
- → of the effectiveness of council's management of its assets, and
- → of the effectiveness of business continuity arrangements, including business continuity plans, disaster recovery plans and the periodic testing of these plans.

Internal control framework

- → if the internal controls in place are appropriate for the risk council faces
- → whether staff are informed of their responsibilities and processes and procedures to implement controls are complied with
- → if the council's monitoring and review of controls, including policies and procedures, is sufficient, and
- → if internal and external audit recommendations to correct internal control weaknesses are implemented appropriately

Fraud and corruption control framework

section 428A(2)(c)

Principle

Council has an effective fraud and corruption control framework in place that minimises the incidence of fraud and corruption.

Committee's role

Advise the general manager and governing body of the council of the adequacy and effectiveness of the council's fraud and corruption prevention framework and activities, including whether the council has:

- \rightarrow a fraud and corruption policy
- clearly defined responsibilities for managing fraud and corruption
- → risk-based preventative and detective controls
- → policies, systems and processes to respond to, investigate and report suspected fraud and corruption
- → employee awareness/education measures
- \rightarrow robust third-party management systems
- appropriate processes and systems in place to capture and effectively investigate fraud-related information
- regular review of the fraud and corruption control framework and reporting,
- implemented applicable guidance and other better practice measures by the Independent Commission Against Corruption.

Financial management framework

section 428A(2)(d)

Principle

Council has an effective financial management framework, sustainable financial position and positive financial performance.

Committee's role

Advise the general manager and governing body of the council:

External accountability and financial reporting framework

- → if council is complying with accounting standards and external accountability requirements
- → of the appropriateness of councils accounting policies and disclosures
- → of the implications for council of the findings of external audits and performance audits and council's

responses and implementation of recommendations

- → whether the council's financial statement preparation procedures and timelines are sound
- → the accuracy of the council's annual financial statements prior to external audit, including:
 - management compliance/representations
 - significant accounting and reporting issues
 - the methods used by the council to account for significant or unusual transactions and areas of significant estimates or judgements
 - appropriate management signoff on the statements
- → if effective processes are in place to ensure financial information included in the council's report is consistent with signed financial statements

Financial management framework

- → if the council's financial management processes are adequate
- → the adequacy of cash management and credit card use policies and procedures
- → if there are adequate controls over financial processes, for example:
 - appropriate authorisation and approval of payments and transactions
 - o adequate segregation of duties
 - timely reconciliation of accounts and balances
 - review of unusual and high value purchases

Financial position and performance

→ if policies and procedures for management review and consideration of the financial position and performance of the council are adequate

Grants and tied funding policies and procedures

→ if council's grants and tied funding policies and procedures are sound.

Governance framework

section 428A(2)(e)

Principle

Council has an effective governance framework to ensure it is appropriately directing and controlling the management of the council.

Committee's role

Advise the governing body and general manager if the council's governance framework is sound, including the council's:

- → decision-making processes
- → implementation of governance policies and procedures
- \rightarrow reporting lines and accountability
- \rightarrow assignment of key role and responsibilities
- committee structure
- management oversight responsibilities
- human resources and performance management activities
- → reporting and communication activities
- → information and communications technology (ICT) governance, and
- management and governance of the use of data, information and knowledge.

Improvement

Strategic planning section 428A(2)(f)

Principle

Council has an effective framework that ensures it achieves its strategic plans and objectives under the integrated planning and reporting (IP&R) framework.

Committee's role

Advise the general manager and governing body of the council:

- → of the adequacy and effectiveness of the council's IP&R processes
- → if appropriate reporting and monitoring mechanisms are in place to measure progress against objectives, and

→ whether the council is successfully implementing and achieving its IP&R objectives and strategies.

Service reviews and

business improvement

section 428A(2)(g) and s428A(3)

Principle

Council has an effective framework to ensure it is delivering services and conducting its business and functions to an expected standard.

Committee's role

- → Act as a forum for communication and monitoring of any audits conducted by external bodies and the implementation of corrective actions (for example, NSW government agencies, Commonwealth government agencies, insurance bodies)
- Advise the general manager and governing body of the council:
 - if council has robust systems to set objectives and goals to determine and deliver appropriate levels of service to the community and business performance
 - if appropriate reporting and monitoring mechanisms are in place to measure service delivery to the community and overall performance, and
 - how the council can improve its service delivery and the council's performance of its business and functions generally

Performance data and

measurement

section 428A(2)(h)

Principle

Council's performance management framework ensures council can measure its performance and if it is achieving its strategic goals.

Committee's role

Advise the general manager and governing body of the council:

- → if council has a robust system to determine appropriate performance indicators to measure the achievement of its strategic objectives
- → the performance indicators council uses are effective, and
- → of the adequacy of performance data collection and reporting.



Model Terms of Reference for audit, risk and improvement committees



Model Terms of Reference for local government audit, risk and improvement committees

[Council/joint organisation] has established an audit, risk and improvement committee in compliance with section 428A of the *Local Government Act 1993* and clauses (#tbc) of the *Local Government (General) Regulation 2005*. These terms of reference set out the Committee's objectives, authority, composition and tenure, roles and responsibilities, reporting and administrative arrangements.

Objective

The objective of [council's/joint organisation's] audit, risk and improvement committee is to provide independent assurance to [council/joint organisation] by monitoring, reviewing and providing advice about the [council's/joint organisation's] governance processes, compliance, risk management and control frameworks, external accountability obligations and overall performance.

Independence

The Committee is to be independent to ensure it has no real or perceived bias or conflicts of interest that may interfere with its ability to act independently and provide [council/joint organisation] with robust, objective and unbiased advice and assurance.

The Committee is to provide an advisory and assurance role only and is to have no administrative function, delegated financial responsibility or any management functions of the [council/joint organisation]. The Committee will provide independent advice to the [council/joint organisation] that is informed by the [council/s/joint organisation's] internal audit and risk management activities and information and advice provided by [council staff/joint organisation], relevant external bodies and subject matter experts.

The Committee must at all times ensure it maintains a direct reporting line to and from the [council's/joint organisation's] internal audit function and act as a mechanism for internal audit to report to the [governing body/board] and [general manager/executive officer] on matters affecting the performance of the internal audit function.

Authority

[Council/joint organisation] authorises the Committee, for the purposes of exercising its role and responsibilities, to:

- → access any information it needs from the [council/joint organisation]
- → use any [council/joint organisation] resources it needs
- → have direct and unrestricted access to the [general manager/executive officer] and senior management of the [council/joint organisation]
- → seek the [general manager's/executive officer's] permission to meet with any other [council/joint organisation] staff member or contractor
- \rightarrow discuss any matters with the external auditor or other external parties
- \rightarrow request the attendance of any employee at committee meetings, and
- → obtain external legal or other professional advice. [Detail any prior approval needed or predetermined budget for costs].

Information and documents pertaining to the Committee are confidential and are not to be made publicly available. The Committee may only release [council/joint organisation] information to external parties that are assisting the Committee to fulfil its responsibilities with the approval of the [general manager/executive officer], except where it is being provided to an external investigative or oversight agency for the purpose of informing that agency of a matter that may warrant its attention. [change if documentation is to be made available to the public]

Composition and tenure

The Committee consists of [tier 1 – one independent prequalified voting Chair, two independent voting members and one non-voting councillor/board member] [tier 2 – one independent prequalified voting Chair, one independent prequalified voting member, one independent voting member and one non-voting councillor/board member] [tier 3 – one independent prequalified voting Chair, two independent prequalified voting members and one non-voting councillor member/board member], in accordance with the *Guidelines for risk management and internal audit in local councils in NSW*.

[If applicable - council/joint organisation has been granted an exemption by the Secretary of the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment from the requirement that the Chair of the Committee be prequalified under the NSW Government's *Audit and Risk Committee Independent Chairs and Members Prequalification Scheme*.]

The [governing body/board] is to appoint the Chair and members of the Committee. The Chair is counted as one member of the Committee. Current committee members are:

[name]	Independent chair (voting)
[name]	Independent member (voting)
[name]	Independent member (voting)
[name]	[Councillor/board] member (non-voting) (if applicable) [cannot be the mayor]

All committee members are to meet the independence and eligibility criteria prescribed in the *Guidelines for risk management and internal audit in local councils in NSW*.

Members will be appointed for a four-year period. Members can be reappointed for a further term, but the total period of continuous membership cannot exceed eight years. This includes any term as Chair of the Committee. Members who have served an eight-year term (either as member or Chair) must have a two-year break from serving on the Committee before being appointed again. To preserve the Committee's knowledge of [council/joint organisation], ideally, no more than one member should leave the Committee because of rotation on any one year.

Specific member terms and conditions are to be disclosed in a letter of appointment. New members will be thoroughly inducted to their role and receive relevant information and briefings on their appointment to assist them to meet their committee responsibilities.

Prior to approving the reappointment or extension of the Chair's or an independent member's term, the [governing body/board] is to undertake an assessment of the Chair's or committee member's performance. Reappointment of the Chair and members is also to be subject to the individual still meeting independence and eligibility requirements.

Members of the Committee are to possess and maintain a broad range of skills, knowledge and experience relevant to the operations, governance and financial management of [council/joint organisation], the environment in which [council/joint organisation] operates, and the contribution that the Committee makes to the [council/joint organisation]. At least one member of the Committee must have accounting or related financial management experience with an understanding of accounting and auditing standards in a local government environment. All members should have sufficient understanding of the [council's/joint organisation's] financial reporting responsibilities to be able to contribute to the Committee's consideration of the [council's/joint organisation's] annual financial statements.

[Add any relevant details about shared arrangements, if applicable].

Role

In accordance with section 428A of the *Local Government Act 1993*, the role of the Committee is to review and provide independent advice to the [council/joint organisation] regarding the following aspects of the [council's/joint organisation's] operations:

- \rightarrow compliance
- → risk management
- → fraud control
- → financial management
- \rightarrow governance
- → implementation of the strategic plan, delivery program and strategies
- → service reviews
- → collection of performance measurement data by the [council/joint organisation], and
- → internal audit.

The Committee must also provide information to the [council/joint organisation] for the purpose of improving [council's/joint organisation's] performance of its functions.

The Committee's specific audit, risk and improvement responsibilities under section 428A are outlined in Schedule 1 to this charter.

The Committee will act as a forum for the [council's/joint organisation's] internal audit function and oversee its planning, monitoring and reporting to ensure it operates effectively.

The Committee will have no power of direction over external audit or the manner in which the external audit is planned or undertaken but will act as a forum for the consideration of external audit findings.

The Committee is directly responsible and accountable to the [governing body of the council/board of the joint organisation] for the exercise of its responsibilities. In carrying out its responsibilities, the Committee must at all times recognise that primary responsibility for management of the [council/joint organisation] rests with the [governing body/board] and [general manager/executive officer].

The responsibilities of the Committee may be revised or expanded in consultation with, or as requested by, the [governing body of the council/board of the joint organisation] from time to time.

Responsibilities of members

Independent members

The Chair and members of the Committee are expected to understand and observe the requirements of the *Guidelines for risk management and internal audit for local government in NSW*. Members are also expected to:

- \rightarrow make themselves available as required to attend and participate in meetings
- ightarrow contribute the time needed to review and understand information provided to it
- \rightarrow apply good analytical skills, objectivity and judgement
- \rightarrow act in the best interests of the [council/joint organisation]
- \rightarrow have the personal courage to raise and deal with tough issues, express opinions frankly, ask questions that go to the fundamental core of the issue and pursue independent lines of inquiry
- → maintain effective working relationships with the [council/joint organisation]
- → have strong leadership qualities (Chair)
- \rightarrow lead effective committee meetings (Chair), and
- \rightarrow oversee the [council's/joint organisation's] internal audit function (Chair).

[Councillor/board] members (if applicable)

To preserve the independence of the Committee, the [councillor/board] member of the Committee is a non-voting member. Their role is to:

- → relay to the Committee any concerns the [governing body/board] may have regarding the [council/joint organisation] and issues being considered by the Committee
- → provide insights into local issues and the strategic priorities of the [council/joint organisation] that would add value to the Committee's consideration of agenda items
- → advise the [governing body/board] (as necessary) of the work of the Committee and any issues arising from it, and
- \rightarrow assist the [governing body/board] to review the performance of the Committee.

Issues or information the councillor member raises with or provides to the Committee must relate to the matters listed in Schedule 1 and issues being considered by the Committee.

The [councillor/board] member of the Committee must conduct themselves in a non-partisan and professional manner. The [councillor/board] member of the Committee must not engage in any conduct that seeks to politicise the activities of the Committee or the internal audit function or that could be seen to do so.

If the [councillor/board] member of the Committee engages in such conduct or in any other conduct that may bring the Committee and its work into disrepute, the Chair of the Committee may recommend to the [council/joint organisation], that the [councillor/board] member be removed from membership of the Committee. Where the [council/joint organisation] does not agree to the Committee Chair's recommendation, the [council/joint organisation] must give reasons for its decision in writing to the Chair.

Conduct

Independent committee members are required to comply with the [council's/joint organisation's] code of conduct and be held to the same ethical, behavioural and conduct standards as officials of the council.

Complaints or breaches of [council's/joint organisation's] code of conduct by an independent committee member are to be dealt with in accordance with the *Procedures for the Administration of the Model Code of Conduct for Local Councils in NSW*. The [general manager/executive officer] must consult with the [governing body/board] before taking any disciplinary action against an independent committee member in response to a breach of the [council's/joint organisation's] Code of Conduct.

Prequalified Committee members are also required to comply with the code of conduct governing the NSW Government's Audit and Risk Committee Independent Chairs and Members Prequalification Scheme.

Conflicts of interest

Once a year, Committee members will provide written declarations to the [council/joint organisation] stating that they do not have any conflicts of interest that would preclude them from being members of the Committee. Independent committee members are 'designated persons' and must also complete and submit returns of interest.

Committee members and observers must declare any pecuniary or non-pecuniary conflicts of interest that may have at the start of each meeting, before discussion of the relevant agenda item or issue, and when the issue arises. Where committee members and observers are deemed to have a pecuniary or a significant non-pecuniary conflict of interest, they are to remove themselves from Committee deliberations on the issue. Details of any conflicts of interest should also be appropriately minuted.

Standards

Committee members are to conduct their work in accordance with the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing issued by the Institute of Internal Auditors and [current Australian risk management standard], where applicable.

Workplans

The work of the Committee is to be thoroughly planned and executed to ensure that all [council/joint organisation] activities and functions are reviewed. The Committee must develop a strategic plan every four years to ensure that all matters listed in Schedule 1 are reviewed by the Committee and the internal audit function over each [council/joint organisation] term. The strategic plan must be reviewed at least annually to ensure it remains appropriate.

The Committee may, in consultation with the [council's/joint organisation's] [governing body/board], vary the strategic work plan at any time to address new or emerging risks. The [governing body/board] of the [council/joint organisation] may also, by resolution, request the Committee to approve a variation to the strategic work plan. However, any decision to vary the strategic work plan must be made by the Committee.

The Committee must also develop an annual workplan to guide its work, and the work of the [name of internal audit function], over the forward year.

The Committee may, in consultation with the [council's/joint organisation's] governing body, vary the annual work plan to address new or emerging risks. The [governing body/board] of the [council/joint organisation] may also, by resolution, request the Committee to approve a variation to the annual work plan. However, any decision to vary the annual work plan must be made by the Committee.

When considering whether to vary the strategic or annual work plans, the Committee must consider the impact of the variation on the internal audit function's existing workload and the completion of pre-existing priorities and activities identified under the workplan.

Assurance reporting

The Committee must regularly report to the [council/joint organisation] to ensure that the [council/joint organisation] is kept informed of matters considered by the Committee and any emerging issues that may influence the strategic direction of the [council/joint organisation] or the achievement of the [council's/joint organisation's] goals and objectives.

The Committee will provide an update to the [governing body/board] and [general manager/executive officer] of its activities and opinions after every Committee meeting.

The Committee will provide an annual assessment to the [governing body/board] and [general manager/executive officer] each year on the Committee's work and its opinion on how [council/joint organisation] is performing.

The Committee will provide a comprehensive assessment every council term of all the matters listed in Schedule 1 to the [governing body/board] and [general manager/executive officer].

The Committee may at any time report to the [governing body/board] or [general manager/executive officer] on any other matter it deems of sufficient importance to warrant their attention. The Mayor and Chair of the Committee may also meet at any time to discuss issues relating to the work of the Committee.

Should the [governing body/board] require additional information, a request for the information may be made to the Chair by resolution. The Chair may only provide the information requested by the [governing body/board] where the Chair is satisfied that it is reasonably necessary for the [governing body/board] to receive the information for the purposes of performing its functions under the Local Government Act. Individual [councillors/board members] are not entitled to request or receive information from the Committee.

Administrative arrangements

Meetings

The Committee will meet at least [number] times per year, [including a special meeting to review the [council's/joint organisation's financial statements].

The Committee can hold additional meetings when significant unexpected issues arise, or if the Chair is asked to hold an additional meeting by a committee member, the [general manager/executive officer] or the [governing body/board].

Committee meetings can be held in person, by telephone or videoconference. Proxies are not permitted if a member is unable to attend a meeting.

A quorum will consist of a majority of independent voting members. Where the vote is tied, the Chair has the casting vote.

The Chair of the Committee will decide the agenda for each committee meeting. Each committee meeting is to be minuted to preserve a record of the issues considered and the actions and decisions taken by the Committee.

The [general manager/executive officer] and [head of the internal audit function] are to attend committee meetings as non-voting observers. The external auditor (or their representative) is to be invited to each committee meeting as an independent observer. The Chair can request the

[council's/joint organisation's] [Chief Finance Officer or equivalent], [head of risk management function or equivalent], [senior managers or equivalent], any [councillors/board members], any employed (contractor of the equivalent) and any subject matter superior to attend committee meetings

employee/contractor of the council and any subject matter expert to attend committee meetings. These individuals must attend and provide any information requested, where possible. Observers have no voting rights and can be excluded from a meeting by the Chair at any time.

The Committee can hold closed meetings whenever it needs to discuss confidential or sensitive issues with only voting members of the committee present.

The Committee must meet separately with both the [name of internal audit function] and the [council's/joint organisation's] external auditor at least once per year.

Dispute resolution

Members of the Committee and the [council's/joint organisation's] management should maintain an effective working relationship and seek to resolve any differences they may have in an amicable and professional way via discussion and negotiation.

In the event of a disagreement between the Committee and the [general manager/executive officer] or other senior managers, the dispute is to be resolved by the [governing body of the council/board of the joint organisation].

Unresolved disputes regarding compliance with statutory or other requirements are to be referred to the Secretary of the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment in writing.

Secretariat

The [general manager/executive officer] will appoint a [council/joint organisation] employee/s to provide secretariat support to the Committee. The secretariat will ensure the agenda for each meeting and supporting papers are circulated after approval from the Chair at least [number] weeks before the meeting and ensure that minutes of meetings are prepared and maintained. Minutes must be approved by the Chair and circulated within [agreed timeframe] of the meeting to each member.

Resignation and dismissal of members

Where the Chair or a Committee member is unable to complete their term, or does not intend to seek reappointment after the expiry of their term, they should give [agreed timeframe] notice to the Chair and [governing body/board] prior to their resignation to enable the [council/joint organisation] to ensure a smooth transition to a new committee member.

The [governing body/board] can terminate via resolution the engagement of any Chair or independent committee member before the expiry of their term where the individual has:

- breached the conditions of, or become ineligible under the NSW Government's Audit and Risk Committee Independent Chairs and Members Prequalification Scheme
- breached the council's Code of Conduct
- performed unsatisfactorily or not to expectations
- been declared bankrupt or found to be insolvent
- experienced an adverse change in business status
- been proven to be in a serious breach of their obligations under any legislation, or
- declared, or is found to be in, a position of a conflict of interest which is unresolvable.

The position of a [councillor/board] member on the Committee can be terminated at any time by the [governing body/board] via resolution.

Review arrangements

At least once every council term the [governing body/board] must conduct an external review of the effectiveness of the Committee.

These terms of reference are to be reviewed annually by the Committee and once each council term by the [governing body/board]. Any substantive changes are to be approved by the [governing body/board].

Further information

For further information on [council's/joint organisation's] audit, risk and improvement committee contact [name] on [email address] or by phone [phone number].

Reviewed by Chair of the audit, risk and improvement committee [signed] [date]

Reviewed by [council/joint organisation] or in accordance with a resolution of the governing body [signed] [date] [resolution reference] Next review date: [date]

Schedule 1 – Audit, risk and improvement committee responsibilities

[Note: each council/joint organisation is to determine the responsibilities of its Committee related to each matter listed in section 428A of the Local Government Act 1993 and list them in Schedule 1 to the Committee's terms of reference. Suggested responsibilities are provided below and further detailed in core requirement 1 and Appendix 2 of these Guidelines.]

Audit

Internal audit

- → Provide overall strategic oversight of internal audit activities
- → Act as a forum for communication between the [governing body/board], [general manager/executive officer], senior management, the internal audit function and external audit
- → Coordinate, as far as is practicable, the work programs of internal audit and other assurance and review functions
- → Review and advise the [council/joint organisation]:
 - on whether the [council/joint organisation] is providing the resources necessary to successfully deliver the internal audit function
 - if the [council/joint organisation] is complying with internal audit requirements, including conformance with the International Professional Practices Framework
 - if the [council's/joint organisation's] Internal Audit Charter is appropriate and whether the internal audit policies and procedures and audit/risk methodologies used by the [council/joint organisation] are suitable
 - of the strategic four-year plan and annual work plan of internal audits to be undertaken by the [council's/joint organisation's] internal audit function
 - if [council's/joint organisation's] internal audit activities are effective, including the performance of the head of the internal audit function and internal audit function
 - of the findings and recommendations of internal audits conducted, and corrective actions needed to address issues raised
 - o of the implementation by [council/joint organisation] of these corrective actions
 - o on the appointment of the head of the internal audit function and external providers, and
 - if the internal audit function is structured appropriately and has sufficient skills and expertise to meet its responsibilities

External audit

- → Act as a forum for communication between the [governing body/board], [general manager/executive officer], senior management, the internal audit function and external audit
- ightarrow Coordinate as far as is practicable, the work programs of internal audit and external audit
- \rightarrow Provide input and feedback on the financial statement and performance audit coverage proposed by external audit and provide feedback on the audit services provided
- → Review all external plans and reports in respect of planned or completed audits and monitor council's implementation of audit recommendations
- → Provide advice to the [governing body/board] and/or [general manager/executive officer] on action taken on significant issues raised in relevant external audit reports and better practice guides

Risk

Risk management

Review and advise the [council/joint organisation]:

- → if the [council's/joint organisation's] has in place a current and appropriate risk management framework that is consistent with the Australian risk management standard
- → whether the [council/joint organisation] is providing the resources necessary to successfully implement its risk management framework
- → whether the [council's/joint organisation's] risk management framework is adequate and effective for identifying and managing the risks the [council/joint organisation] faces, including those associated individual projects, programs and other activities
- → if risk management is integrated across all levels of the [council/joint organisation] and across all processes, operations, services, decision-making, functions and reporting
- → of the adequacy of risk reports and documentation, for example, the [council's/joint organisation's] risk register and risk profile
- $\rightarrow\,$ whether a sound approach has been followed in developing risk management plans for major projects or undertakings
- $\rightarrow\,$ whether appropriate policies and procedures are in place for the management and exercise of delegations
- → if [council/joint organisation] has taken steps to embed a culture which is committed to ethical and lawful behaviour
- → if there is a positive risk culture within the [council/joint organisation] and strong leadership that supports effective risk management
- $\rightarrow~$ of the adequacy of staff training and induction in risk management
- → how the [council's/joint organisation's] risk management approach impacts on the [council's/joint organisation's] insurance arrangements
- → of the effectiveness of [council's/joint organisation's] management of its assets, and
- → of the effectiveness of business continuity arrangements, including business continuity plans, disaster recovery plans and the periodic testing of these plans.

Internal controls

Review and advise the [council/joint organisation]:

- → whether [council's/joint organisation's] approach to maintaining an effective internal audit framework, including over external parties such as contractors and advisors, is sound and effective
- → whether [council/joint organisation] has in place relevant policies and procedures and that these are periodically reviewed and updated
- → whether appropriate policies and procedures are in place for the management and exercise of delegations
- $\rightarrow\,$ whether staff are informed of their responsibilities and processes and procedures to implement controls are complied with
- → if the [council's/joint organisation's] monitoring and review of controls is sufficient, and
- \rightarrow if internal and external audit recommendations to correct internal control weaknesses are implemented appropriately

Compliance

Review and advise the [council/joint organisation] of the adequacy and effectiveness of the [council's/joint organisation's] compliance framework, including:

- → if the [council/joint organisation] has appropriately considered legal and compliance risks as part of the [council's/joint organisation's] risk management framework
- → how the [council/joint organisation] manages its compliance with applicable laws, regulations, policies, procedures, codes, and contractual arrangements, and
- \rightarrow whether appropriate processes are in place to assess compliance.

Fraud and corruption

Review and advise the [council/joint organisation] of the adequacy and effectiveness of the [council's/joint organisation's] fraud and corruption prevention framework and activities, including whether the [council/joint organisation] has appropriate processes and systems in place to capture and effectively investigate fraud-related information.

Financial management

Review and advise the [council/joint organisation]:

- → if [council/joint organisation] is complying with accounting standards and external accountability requirements
- → of the appropriateness of [council's/joint organisation's] accounting policies and disclosures
- → of the implications for [council/joint organisation] of the findings of external audits and performance audits and [council's/joint organisation's] responses and implementation of recommendations
- → whether the [council's/joint organisation's] financial statement preparation procedures and timelines are sound
- → the accuracy of the [council's/joint organisation's] annual financial statements prior to external audit, including:
 - o management compliance/representations
 - significant accounting and reporting issues
 - the methods used by the [council/joint organisation] to account for significant or unusual transactions and areas of significant estimates or judgements
 - o appropriate management signoff on the statements
- → if effective processes are in place to ensure financial information included in the [council's/joint organisation's] report is consistent with signed financial statements
- \rightarrow if the [council's/joint organisation's] financial management processes are adequate
- \rightarrow the adequacy of cash management policies and procedures
- → if there are adequate controls over financial processes, for example:
 - o appropriate authorisation and approval of payments and transactions
 - o adequate segregation of duties
 - \circ $\;$ timely reconciliation of accounts and balances
 - review of unusual and high value purchases
- → if policies and procedures for management review and consideration of the financial position and performance of the [council/joint organisation] are adequate
- \rightarrow if [council's/joint organisation's] grants and tied funding policies and procedures are sound.

Governance

Review and advise the [council/joint organisation] regarding its governance framework, including the [council's/joint organisation's]:

- → decision-making processes
- \rightarrow implementation of governance policies and procedures
- \rightarrow reporting lines and accountability
- → assignment of key role and responsibilities
- → committee structure
- → management oversight responsibilities
- → human resources and performance management activities
- → reporting and communication activities
- \rightarrow information and communications technology (ICT) governance, and
- ightarrow management and governance of the use of data, information and knowledge

Improvement

Strategic planning

Review and advise the [council/joint organisation]:

- → of the adequacy and effectiveness of the [council's/joint organisation's] IP&R processes
- → if appropriate reporting and monitoring mechanisms are in place to measure progress against objectives, and
- → whether the [council/joint organisation] is successfully implementing and achieving its IP&R objectives and strategies.

Service reviews and business improvement

- → Act as a forum for communication and monitoring of any audits conducted by external bodies and the implementation of corrective actions (for example, NSW government agencies, Commonwealth government agencies, insurance bodies)
- → Review and advise the [council/joint organisation]:
 - if [council/joint organisation] has robust systems to set objectives and goals to determine and deliver appropriate levels of service to the community and business performance
 - if appropriate reporting and monitoring mechanisms are in place to measure service delivery to the community and overall performance, and
 - how the [council/joint organisation] can improve its service delivery and the [council's/joint organisation's] performance of its business and functions generally

Performance data and measurement

Review and advise the [council/joint organisation]:

- → if [council/joint organisation] has a robust system to determine appropriate performance indicators to measure the achievement of its strategic objectives
- \rightarrow if the performance indicators [council/joint organisation] uses are effective, and
- ightarrow of the adequacy of performance data collection and reporting.



Council categories



Tier 1

General purpose councils

Definition:

- Local government area is in a remote location with a population of <20,000 persons
- Local government area is predominantly rural or agricultural in nature with low population growth.
- → Balranald Shire Council
- → Bellingen Shire Council
- → Berrigan Shire Council
- → Bland Shire Council
- \rightarrow Blayney Shire Council
- \rightarrow Bogan Shire Council
- \rightarrow Bourke Shire Council
- → Brewarrina Shire Council
- → Cabonne Council
- \rightarrow Carrathool Shire Council
- \rightarrow Central Darling Shire Council
- \rightarrow Cobar Shire Council
- \rightarrow Coolamon Shire Council
- \rightarrow Coonamble Shire Council
- → Cootamundra-Gundagai Regional Council
- \rightarrow Cowra Shire Council
- → Dungog Shire Council
- \rightarrow Edward River Council
- → Federation Council
- → Forbes Shire Council
 → Gilgandra Shire Council
- → Glen Innes Severn Council
- → Greater Hume Shire Council
- → Greater Hume Shire Council
 → Gunnedah Shire Council
- → Gwydir Shire Council
- \rightarrow Hay Shire Council
- → Hilltops Council
- → Inverell Shire Council
- → Junee Shire Council
- → Kyogle Council
- → Lachlan Shire Council
- → Leeton Shire Council
- → Liverpool Plains Shire Council
- → Lockhart Shire Council
- \rightarrow Moree Plains Shire Council
- → Murray River Council
- → Murrumbidgee Council
- \rightarrow Muswellbrook Shire Council
- \rightarrow Nambucca Valley Council
- \rightarrow Narrabri Shire Council

- → Narrandera Shire Council
- → Narromine Shire Council
- → Oberon Council
- → Parkes Shire Council
- → Snowy Valleys Council
- \rightarrow Temora Shire Council
- → Tenterfield Shire Council
 → Upper Hunter Shire Council
- → Upper Lachlan Shire Council
- \rightarrow Uralla Shire Council
- → Walcha Council
- → Walgett Shire Council
- → Warren Shire Council
- \rightarrow Warrumbungle Shire Council
- → Weddin Shire Council
- → Wentworth Shire Council
- → Yass Valley Council

County councils

Definition:

- County council is small in size and has lower operating revenue and expenses compared to other county councils
- → Castlereagh-Macquarie County Council
- → Central Tablelands Water County Council
- Hawkesbury River County Council
- New England Tablelands (Noxious Plants) County Council
- Upper Hunter Council Council
- Upper Macquarie County Council

Joint organisations

Definition:

- All joint organisations
- → Canberra Region Joint Organisation
- → Central NSW Councils Joint Organisation
- → Far North Coast Joint Organisation
- → Far South West Joint Organisation
- → Hunter Joint Organisation of Councils
- → Illawarra Shoalhaven Joint Organisation
- \rightarrow Mid North Coast Joint Organisation
- → Namoi Joint Organisation
- \rightarrow New England Joint Organisation
- → Northern Rivers Joint Organisation
- → Riverina and Murray Joint Organisation
- → Riverina Joint Organisation

Tier 2

General purpose councils

Definition:

- Local government area is part of a regional urban centre that has a population <1,000,000 persons
- Local government area has a population of <20,000 persons or a population density of >30 persons/km² and is predominantly urban in nature
- → Albury City Council
- → Armidale Regional Council
- → Ballina Shire Council
- → Bathurst Regional Council
- → Bega Valley Shire Council
- → Broken Hill City Council
- → Byron Shire Council
- \rightarrow Cessnock City Council
- \rightarrow Clarence Valley Council
- → Coffs Harbour City Council
- \rightarrow Dubbo Regional Council
- \rightarrow Eurobodalla Shire Council
- \rightarrow Goulburn Mulwaree Council
- → Griffith City Council
- \rightarrow Kempsey Shire Council
- \rightarrow The Council of the Municipality of Kiama
- → Lismore City Council
- → City of Lithgow Council
- → Maitland City Council
- → Mid-Coast Council
- → Mid-Western Regional Council
- → Orange City Council
- → Port Macquarie-Hastings Council
- → Port Stephens Council
- → Queanbeyan-Palerang Regional Council
- → Richmond Valley Council
- → Shellharbour City Council
- \rightarrow Shoalhaven City Council
- → Singleton Council
- → Snowy Monaro Regional Council
- \rightarrow Tamworth Regional Council
- → Tweed Shire Council
- → Wagga Wagga City Council
- → Wingecarribee Shire Council

County councils

Definition:

- County Council provides essential utility services to the regional area and has higher revenue and operating expenses compared to other county councils
- → Goldenfields Water County Council
- \rightarrow Riverina Water County Council
- \rightarrow Rous County Council

Tier 3

General purpose councils

Definition:

- Local government area is part of, or on the fringe of, an urban centre that has a population > 1,000,000 persons and population density of 600 persons/km²
- Local government area has a population of > 20,000 persons or population density of >30 persons/km² or 90% of LGA population is urban
- → Bayside Council
- Blacktown City Council
- Blue Mountains City Council
- \rightarrow Burwood Council
- \rightarrow City of Canada Bay Council
- → Camden Council
- \rightarrow Campbelltown City Council
- \rightarrow Canterbury-Bankstown Council
- \rightarrow Central Coast Council
- → Cumberland Council
- → Fairfield City Council
- → Georges River Council
- → Hawkesbury City Council
- \rightarrow The Hills Shire Council
- \rightarrow The Council of the Shire of Hornsby
- → The Council of the Municipality of Hunters Hill
- \rightarrow Inner West Council
- → Ku-ring-gai Council
- \rightarrow Lake Macquarie City Council
- \rightarrow Lane Cove Municipal Council
- → Liverpool City Council
- → Mosman Municipal Council
- → Newcastle City Council

- → Northern Beaches Council
- North Sydney Council \rightarrow
- → Council of the City of Parramatta
- → Penrith City Council
- $\rightarrow \text{ Randwick City Council}$ $\rightarrow \text{ Council of the City of Ryde}$
- → Strathfield Municipal Council
- → Sutherland Shire Council
- \rightarrow Council of the City of Sydney
- \rightarrow Waverley Council
- \rightarrow Willoughby City Council
- \rightarrow Wollondilly Shire Council
- → Wollongong City Council
- → Woollahra Municipal Council

Appendix 5:

Example risk management policy



Example risk management policy

Purpose

The purpose of this policy is to express [council's/joint organisation's] commitment to implementing organisation-wide risk management principles, systems and processes that ensure the consistent, efficient and effective assessment of risk in all [council's/joint organisation's] planning, decision-making and operational processes.

Risk management framework

[Council/joint organisation] provides critical services and infrastructure to the residents, ratepayers and visitors to [area]. [Council/joint organisation] also has service agreements and contractual obligations with government and non-government agencies and organisations and has its own strategic goals and objectives that it seeks to achieve on behalf of the [area] community.

It is therefore incumbent on [council/joint organisation] to understand the internal and external risks that may impact the delivery of these services, contracts and strategic objectives and have processes in place to identify, mitigate, manage and monitor those risks to ensure the best outcome for [council/joint organisation], staff and the community. It is also our responsibility to ensure the efficient, effective and ethical use of resources and services by ratepayers, residents, staff and visitors.

[Council/joint organisation] has developed a risk management framework consistent with [Australian standard] to assist it to identify, treat, monitor and review all risks to its operations and strategic objectives and apply appropriate internal controls.

[Council/joint organisation] is committed to the principles, framework and process of managing risk as outlined in [Australian standard] and commits to fully integrating risk management within the [council/joint organisation] and applying it to all decision-making, functions, services and activities of the [council/joint organisation] in accordance with our statutory requirements.

Responsibilities

[Council/joint organisation] aims to create a positive risk management culture where risk management is integrated into all everyday activities and managing risks is an integral part of governance, good management practice and decision-making at [council/joint organisation]. It is the responsibility of every staff member and business area to observe and implement this policy and [council's/joint organisation's] risk management framework.

All staff are responsible for identifying and managing risk within their work areas. Key responsibilities include:

- \rightarrow being familiar with, and understanding, the principles of risk management
- \rightarrow complying with all policies, procedures and practices relating to risk management
- ightarrow alerting management to risks that exist within their area, and
- \rightarrow performing any risk management activities assigned to them as part of their daily role.

Risk management is a core responsibility for all senior staff/management at [council/organisation]. In addition to their responsibilities as staff members, senior staff/management are responsible for:

- → ensuring all staff manage their risks within their own work areas. Risks should be anticipated, and reasonable protective measures taken
- \rightarrow encouraging openness and honesty in the reporting and escalation of risks
- \rightarrow ensuring all staff have the appropriate capability to perform their risk management roles
- \rightarrow reporting to the [general manager/executive officer] on the status of risks and controls, and
- → identifying and communicating improvements in [council's/joint organisation's] risk management practices to [council's/joint organisation's] risk management function.

[Council's/joint organisation's] risk management function is available to support staff in undertaking their risk management activities.

To ensure [council/joint organisation] is effectively managing its risk and complying with its statutory obligations, [council's/joint organisation's] audit, risk and improvement committee and internal audit function is responsible for reviewing the [council's/joint organisation's]:

- → risk management processes and procedures
- → risk management strategies for major projects or undertakings
- → control environment and insurance arrangements
- ightarrow business continuity planning arrangements, and
- \rightarrow fraud control plan.

Monitoring and Review

[Council/joint organisation] is committed to continually improving its ability to manage risk. [Council/joint organisation] will review this policy and its risk management framework at least annually to ensure it continues to meet the requirements of the *Local Government Act 1993, Local Government* (General) Regulation 2005, and the [council's/joint organisation's] requirements.

Further information

For further information on [council's/joint organisation's] risk management policy, framework and process, contact [name] on [email address] or by phone [phone number].

[signed – General Manager/Executive officer] [name] [date] [review date]

Appendix 6:

Model Internal Audit Charter



Model Internal Audit Charter for local councils in NSW

[Council/joint organisation] has established the [name of internal audit function] as a key component of the [council's/joint organisation's] governance and assurance framework and in compliance with the *Guidelines for risk management and internal audit in local councils in NSW*. This Charter provides the framework for the conduct of the [name of internal audit function] in [council/joint organisation] and has been approved by the [governing body/board] taking into account the advice of the [council's/joint organisation's] audit, risk and improvement committee.

Purpose of internal audit

Internal audit is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve a [council's/joint organisation's] operations. It helps a [council/joint organisation] accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes².

Internal audit provides an independent and objective review and advisory service to provide advice to the [governing body/board], [general manager/executive officer] and audit, risk and improvement committee about the [council's/joint organisation's] governance processes, risk management and control frameworks and its external accountability obligations. It also assists the [council/joint organisation] to improve its business performance.

Independence

[Council's/joint organisation's] [name of internal audit function] is to be independent of the [council/joint organisation] so it can provide an unbiased assessment of the [council's/joint organisation's] operations and risk and control activities.

[Name of internal audit function] reports functionally to the [council's/joint organisation's] audit, risk and improvement committee on the results of completed audits, and for strategic direction and accountability purposes, and reports administratively to the [general manager/executive officer] to facilitate day-to-day operations. Internal audit activities are not subject to direction by the [council/joint organisation] and the [council's/joint organisation's] management has no role in the exercise of the [council's/joint organisation's] internal audit activities.

The audit, risk and improvement committee is responsible for communicating any internal audit issues or information to the [governing body/board]. Should the [governing body/board] require additional information, a request for the information may be made to the Chair by resolution. The Chair may only provide the information requested by the [governing body/board] where the Chair is satisfied that it is reasonably necessary for the [governing body/board] to receive the information for the purposes of performing its functions under the Local Government Act. Individual [councillors/board members] are not entitled to request or receive information from the committee.

² As defined by the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing (2017)

[Detail any delegations made by the general manager/executive officer regarding their internal audit responsibilities].

The [general manager/executive officer] must consult with the Chair of the [council's/joint organisation's] audit, risk and improvement committee before appointing or changing the employment conditions of the [head of internal audit function]. Where dismissal occurs, the [general manager/executive officer] must report to the [governing body/board] advising of the reasons why the [head of internal audit function] was dismissed.

Where the chair of the [council's/joint organisation's] audit, risk and improvement committee has any concerns about the treatment of the [head of internal audit function], or any action taken that may compromise the [head of internal audit function's] ability to undertake their functions independently, they can report their concerns to the [governing body/board].

The [head of internal audit function] is to confirm at least annually to the audit, risk and improvement committee the independence of internal audit activities from the [council/joint organisation].

Authority

[Council/joint organisation] authorises the [name of internal audit function] to have full, free and unrestricted access to all functions, premises, assets, personnel, records and other documentation and information that the [head of the internal audit function] considers necessary to enable the [name of the internal audit function] to fulfil its responsibilities.

All records, documentation and information accessed while undertaking internal audit activities are to be used solely for the conduct of these activities. The [head of internal audit function] and individual internal audit staff are responsible and accountable for maintaining the confidentiality of the information they receive during their work.

All internal audit documentation is to remain the property of [council/joint organisation], including where internal audit services are performed by an external third-party provider.

Information and documents pertaining to the [name of the internal audit function] are not to be made publicly available. The [name of the [internal audit function] may only release [council/joint organisation] information to external parties that are assisting the [name of the internal audit function] to fulfil its responsibilities with the approval of the [general manager/executive officer], except where it is being provided to an external investigative or oversight agency for the purpose of informing that agency of a matter that may warrant its attention.

Role

The [name of internal audit function] is to support the [council's/joint organisation's] audit, risk and improvement committee to review and provide independent advice to the [council/joint organisation] in accordance with section 428A of the *Local Government Act 1993*. This includes conducting internal audits of [council/joint organisation] and monitoring the implementation of corrective actions.

The [name of internal audit function] is to also play an active role in:

- \rightarrow developing and maintaining a culture of accountability and integrity
- $\rightarrow\,$ facilitating the integration or risk management into day-to-day business activities and processes, and
- → promoting a culture of high ethical standards.

[Name of internal audit function] has no direct authority or responsibility for the activities it reviews. [Name of internal audit function] has no responsibility for developing or implementing procedures or systems and does not prepare records or engage in [council/joint organisation] functions or activities (except in carrying out its own functions).

[Head of internal audit function]

Option 1: In-house internal audit function

[Council's/joint organisation's] [name of internal audit function] is to be led by a member of [council's/joint organisation's] staff with sufficient skills, knowledge and experience to ensure it fulfils its roles and responsibilities to the [council/joint organisation] and its audit, risk and improvement committee. The [head of internal audit function] must be independent, impartial, unbiased and objective when performing their work and free from any conflicts of interest.

Responsibilities of the [head on internal audit function] include:

- → managing the day-to-day activities of the [name of internal audit function]
- \rightarrow managing the [council's/joint organisation's] internal audit budget
- → supporting the operation of the [council's/joint organisation's] audit, risk and improvement committee
- → approving internal audit project plans, conducting or supervising audits and assessments and providing independent advice to the audit, risk and improvement committee
- → monitoring the [council's/joint organisation's] implementation of corrective actions that arise from the findings of audits
- → fulfilling the Committee's annual work plan and four-yearly strategic plan
- → ensuring the [council's/joint organisation's] internal audit activities comply with the Guidelines on risk management and internal audit in local councils in NSW, and
- → contract management and oversight of supplementary external providers (where appropriate).

[Details of any dual responsibilities and independence safeguards]

[Details of any shared arrangements]

Option 2: Outsourced internal audit function

[Council's/joint organisation's] [name of internal audit function] is to be led by a member of [council's/joint organisation's] staff with sufficient skills, knowledge and experience to ensure it fulfils its roles and responsibilities to the [council/joint organisation] and its audit, risk and improvement committee. The [head of internal audit function] must be independent, impartial, unbiased and objective when performing their work and free from any conflicts of interest.

Responsibilities of the [head on internal audit function] include:

- → contract management
- \rightarrow managing the internal audit budget
- \rightarrow ensuring the external provider completes internal audits in line with the audit, risk and improvement committee's annual plan and four-yearly strategic plan
- \rightarrow forwarding audit reports by the external provider to the audit, risk and improvement committee
- ightarrow acting as a liaison between the external provider and the audit, risk and improvement committee
- → monitoring the [council's/joint organisation's] implementation of corrective actions that arise from the findings of audits and reporting progress to the audit, risk and improvement committee, and
- → assisting the audit, risk and improvement committee to ensure the [council's/joint organisation's] internal audit activities comply with the *Guidelines on risk management and internal audit in local councils in NSW*.

[Details of any dual responsibilities and independence safeguards]

[Details of any shared arrangements]

[Name of internal audit team]

Option 1: In-house internal audit team

Members of the [name of internal audit function] are responsible to the [head of internal audit function].

Individuals that perform internal audit activities for [council/joint organisation] must have:

- → an appropriate level of understanding of the [council's/joint organisation's] culture, systems and processes
- → the skills, knowledge and experience necessary to conduct internal audit activities in the [council/joint organisation]
- → effective interpersonal and communication skills to ensure they can partner with [council/joint organisation] staff effectively and collaboratively, and
- \rightarrow honesty, integrity and diligence.

[Details of any dual responsibilities and independence safeguards]

[Details of any shared arrangements]

Option 2: Out-sourced internal audit team

[Council/joint organisation] is to contract an external third-party provider to undertake its internal audit activities. To ensure the independence of the external provider, the [head of internal audit function] is to ensure the external provider:

- → does not conduct any audits on specific [council/joint organisation] operations or areas that they have worked on within the last two years
- \rightarrow is not the same provider conducting the [council's/joint organisation's] external audit
- → is not the auditor of any contractors of the [council/joint organisation] that may be possibly subject to the internal audit, and
- \rightarrow is able to meet the [council's/joint organisation's] obligations under the Guidelines on risk management and internal audit for local councils in NSW.

The [head of internal audit function] must consult with the audit, risk and improvement committee and [general manager/executive officer] regarding the appropriateness of the skills, knowledge and experience of any external provider before they are engaged by the [council/joint organisation].

[Details of any shared arrangements]

Performing internal audit activities

The work of the [name of internal audit function] is to be thoroughly planned and executed. The [council's/joint organisation's] audit, risk and improvement committee must develop a strategic plan every four years to ensure that all matters listed in Schedule 1 are reviewed by the Committee and the internal audit function over each council term. The strategic plan must be reviewed at least annually to ensure it remains appropriate.
The Committee is to also develop an annual workplan to guide the work of the internal audit function over the forward year.

All internal audit activities are to be performed in a manner that is consistent with relevant professional standards including the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing issued by the Institute of Internal Auditors and [current Australian risk management standard]. The [head of the internal audit function] is to provide the findings and recommendations of internal audits to the audit, risk and improvement committee at the end of each audit. Each report is to include a response from the relevant senior manager.

The [head of internal audit function] is to establish an ongoing monitoring system to follow up [council's/joint organisation's] progress in implementing corrective actions.

The [general manager/executive officer], in consultation with the audit, risk and improvement committee, is to develop and maintain policies and procedures to guide the operation of the [council's/joint organisation's] [name of internal audit function].

The [head of internal audit function] is to ensure that the audit, risk and improvement committee is advised at each of the committee's meetings of the internal audit activities completed during that quarter, progress in implementing the annual work plan and progress made implementing corrective actions.

Conduct

Internal audit personnel are required to comply with the [council's/joint organisation's] code of conduct. Complaints about breaches of [council's/joint organisation's] code of conduct by internal audit personnel are to be dealt with in accordance with the *Procedures for the Administration of the Model Code of Conduct for Local Councils in NSW*. The [general manager/executive officer] must consult with the [council's/joint organisation's] audit, risk and improvement committee before any disciplinary action taken against the [head of the internal audit function] in response to a breach of the [council's/joint organisation's] Code of Conduct.

Internal auditors are also required to comply with the Code of Ethics for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing issued by the Institute of Internal Auditors.

Administrative arrangements

Audit, risk and improvement committee meetings

The [head of the internal audit function] will attend audit, risk and improvement committee meetings as an independent non-voting observer. The [head of the internal audit function] can be excluded from meetings by the committee at any time.

The [head of the internal audit function] must meet separately with the audit, risk and improvement committee at least once per year.

The [head of the internal audit function] can meet with the chair of the audit, risk and improvement committee at any time, as necessary, in between committee meetings.

External audit

Internal and external audit activities will be coordinated to help ensure the adequacy of overall audit coverage and to minimise duplication of effort.

Periodic meetings and contact between internal and external audit shall be held to discuss matters of mutual interest and to facilitate coordination.

External audit will have full and free access to all internal audit plans, working papers and reports.

Dispute resolution

[Name of internal audit function] should maintain an effective working relationship with the [council/joint organisation] and the audit, risk and improvement committee and seek to resolve any differences they may have in an amicable and professional way via discussion and negotiation.

In the event of a disagreement between the [name of internal audit function] and the [council/joint organisation], the dispute is to be resolved by the [general manager/executive officer] and/or the audit, risk and improvement committee. Disputes between the [name of internal audit function] and audit, risk and improvement committee are to be resolved by the [governing body of the council/board of the joint organisation].

Unresolved disputes regarding compliance with statutory or other requirements are to be referred to the Secretary of the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment in writing.

Review arrangements

[Council's/joint organisation's] audit, risk and improvement committee must review the performance of the internal audit function each year and report its findings to the [governing body/board]. A strategic review of the [name of internal audit function] must be conducted each council term that considers the views of an external party with a strong knowledge of internal audit on the performance of the [internal audit function] and reported to the [governing body/board].

This charter is to be reviewed annually by the Committee and once each council term by the [governing body/board]. Any substantive changes are to be approved by the governing body/board.

Further information

For further information on [council's/joint organisation's] internal audit activities contact [name] on [email address] or by phone [phone number].

Reviewed by [head of internal audit function] [sign and date]

Reviewed by Chair of the [council's/joint organisation's] audit, risk and improvement committee [sign and date]

Reviewed by [council/joint organisation] or in accordance with a resolution of the [governing body/board] [sign and date] [resolution reference]

Schedule 1 – internal audit function responsibilities

[Note: each council/joint organisation is to determine the responsibilities of its internal audit function Committee related to each matter listed in section 428A of the Local Government Act 1993 and list them in Schedule 1 to the council's/joint organisation's Internal Audit Charter. Suggested responsibilities are provided below and further detailed in core requirement 3 and Appendix 2 of these Guidelines.]

Audit

Internal audit

- → Conduct internal audits as directed by the [council's/joint organisation's] audit, risk and improvement committee
- → Implement the [council's/joint organisation's] annual and strategic internal audit work plans
- → Monitor the implementation by [council/joint organisation] of corrective actions
- → Assist the [council/joint organisation] to develop and maintain a culture of accountability and integrity
- → Facilitate the integration of risk management into day-to-day business activities and processes, and
- → Promote a culture of high ethical standards.

External audit

- → Provide input and feedback on the financial statement and performance audit coverage proposed by external audit and provide feedback on the audit services provided
- → Review all external plans and reports in respect of planned or completed audits and monitor [council's/joint organisation's] implementation of audit recommendations
- → Provide advice on action taken on significant issues raised in relevant external audit reports and better practice guides

Risk

Risk management

Review and advise:

- → if the [council's/joint organisation's] has in place a current and appropriate risk management framework that is consistent with the Australian risk management standard
- → whether the [council's/joint organisation's] risk management framework is adequate and effective for identifying and managing the risks the [council/joint organisation] faces, including those associated with individual projects, programs and other activities
- → if risk management is integrated across all levels of the [council/joint organisation] and across all processes, operations, services, decision-making, functions and reporting
- → of the adequacy of risk reports and documentation, for example, the [council's/joint organisation's] risk register and risk profile
- → whether a sound approach has been followed in developing risk management plans for major projects or undertakings
- $\rightarrow\,$ whether appropriate policies and procedures are in place for the management and exercise of delegations
- → if [council/joint organisation] has taken steps to embed a culture which is committed to ethical and lawful behaviour
- → if there is a positive risk culture within the [council/joint organisation] and strong leadership that supports effective risk management

- \rightarrow of the adequacy of staff training and induction in risk management
- → how the [council's/joint organisation's] risk management approach impacts on the [council's/joint organisation's] insurance arrangements
- → of the effectiveness of [council's/joint organisation's] management of its assets, and
- → of the effectiveness of business continuity arrangements, including business continuity plans, disaster recovery plans and the periodic testing of these plans.

Internal controls

Review and advise:

- → whether [council's/joint organisation's] approach to maintaining an effective internal audit framework, including over external parties such as contractors and advisors, is sound and effective
- → whether [council/joint organisation] has in place relevant policies and procedures and that these are periodically reviewed and updated
- → whether appropriate policies and procedures are in place for the management and exercise of delegations
- $\rightarrow\,$ whether staff are informed of their responsibilities and processes and procedures to implement controls are complied with
- → if the [council's/joint organisation's] monitoring and review of controls is sufficient, and
- → if internal and external audit recommendations to correct internal control weaknesses are implemented appropriately

Compliance

Review and advise of the adequacy and effectiveness of the council's compliance framework, including:

- → if the [council/joint organisation] has appropriately considered legal and compliance risks as part of the [council's/joint organisation's] risk management framework
- → how the [council/joint organisation] manages its compliance with applicable laws, regulations, policies, procedures, codes, and contractual arrangements, and
- \rightarrow whether appropriate processes are in place to assess compliance.

Fraud and corruption

Review and advise of the adequacy and effectiveness of the [council's/joint organisation's] fraud and corruption prevention framework and activities, including whether the [council/joint organisation] has appropriate processes and systems in place to capture and effectively investigate fraud-related information.

Financial management

Review and advise:

- → if [council/joint organisation] is complying with accounting standards and external accountability requirements
- → of the appropriateness of [council's/joint organisation's] accounting policies and disclosures
- → of the implications for [council/joint organisation] of the findings of external audits and performance audits and [council's/joint organisation's] responses and implementation of recommendations
- → whether the [council's/joint organisation's] financial statement preparation procedures and timelines are sound
- → the accuracy of the [council's/joint organisation's] annual financial statements prior to external audit, including:
 - o management compliance/representations
 - o significant accounting and reporting issues

- the methods used by the [council/joint organisation] to account for significant or unusual transactions and areas of significant estimates or judgements
- o appropriate management signoff on the statements
- → if effective processes are in place to ensure financial information included in the [council's/joint organisation's] report is consistent with signed financial statements
- → if the [council's/joint organisation's] financial management processes are adequate
- \rightarrow the adequacy of cash management policies and procedures
- \rightarrow if there are adequate controls over financial processes, for example:
 - o appropriate authorisation and approval of payments and transactions
 - $\circ \ \ \, \text{adequate segregation of duties}$
 - o timely reconciliation of accounts and balances
 - review of unusual and high value purchases
- → if policies and procedures for management review and consideration of the financial position and performance of the [council/joint organisation] are adequate
- → if [council's/joint organisation's] grants and tied funding policies and procedures are sound.

Governance

Review and advise of the adequacy of the [council/joint organisation] governance framework, including the [council's/joint organisation's]:

- \rightarrow decision-making processes
- → implementation of governance policies and procedures
- \rightarrow reporting lines and accountability
- → assignment of key roles and responsibilities
- \rightarrow committee structure
- → management oversight responsibilities
- → human resources and performance management activities
- → reporting and communication activities
- \rightarrow information and communications technology (ICT) governance, and
- \rightarrow management and governance of the use of data, information and knowledge

Improvement

Strategic planning

Review and advise:

- → of the adequacy and effectiveness of the [council's/joint organisation's] IP&R processes
- $\rightarrow\,$ if appropriate reporting and monitoring mechanisms are in place to measure progress against objectives, and
- → whether the [council/joint organisation] is successfully implementing and achieving its IP&R objectives and strategies.

Service reviews and business improvement

Review and advise:

- → if [council/joint organisation] has robust systems to set objectives and goals to determine and deliver appropriate levels of service to the community and business performance
- → if appropriate reporting and monitoring mechanisms are in place to measure service delivery to the community and overall performance, and
- → how the [council/joint organisation] can improve its service delivery and the [council's/joint organisation's] performance of its business and functions generally

Performance data and measurement

Review and advise:

- → if [council/joint organisation] has a robust system to determine appropriate performance indicators to measure the achievement of its strategic objectives
- \rightarrow if the performance indicators [council/joint organisation] uses are effective, and
- \rightarrow of the adequacy of performance data collection and reporting.







Policy | Integrated Risk Management

To provide independent, objective assurance and monitoring designed to add value and identify opportunities to improve Singleton Council's operations

Policy No:	POL/1019	Version:	8
Service Unit:	Integrated Risk Management		
Responsible Officer:	Manager Integrated Risk		
Responsible Director:	Director Organisation & Community	Capacity	
Authorisation Date:	15 March 2022	Review Date:	15 March 2024
Minute No:			

Printing Disclaimer

If you are viewing a printed copy of this document it may not be current. Printed copies of this document are not controlled. Before utilising a printed copy of this document, verify that it is the most current version by referencing Council's intranet.

Attachment 2

Policy

Internal Audit

Table of Contents

1	Background3
	1.1 Title of the Policy and Commencement Date
	1.2 Purpose of the Policy
2	Objective
_	2.1 Objectives and Coverage of the Policy
•	Application
3	
	3.1 Application of this Policy
4	Definitions4
5	Principles/Body4
	5.1 Procedural Statement
	5.2 Scope of Work of the Internal Auditor
	5.3 Internal Audit Methodology
	5.4 Operating Principles
6	Relevant Legislation
7	Document Information
1	
8	Responsible Officer / Policy Owner
9	Responsibilities
10	Approval
	Monitoring
11	Monitoring
12	Review Date
13	Last Review Date7
14	Record Keeping, Confidentiality and Privacy7
15	Breaches and Sanctions
16	Document History
App	endix A - Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee Terms of Reference

Policy

Internal Audit

1 Background

1.1 Title of the Policy and Commencement Date

The Internal Audit Policy takes effect from 15 March 2022.

1.2 Purpose of the Policy

The purpose of internal auditing is to provide an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and drive the qualities of effective local government. It helps Council to accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes.

Although there is no specific requirement under the *Local Government Act, 1993* for internal audit in local councils, the Office of Local Government has issued Internal Audit Guidelines under Section 23A of the Act and a draft Risk Management and Internal Audit Framework for Local Councils in NSW based on Section 428A of the Act . This section of the Act requires all councils to establish an Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee (ARIC) to ensure oversight of council systems and processes. The combination of an effective ARIC and internal audit function provides a formal means by which Councillors can obtain assurances that the internal controls and risk management framework are working effectively.

2 Objective

2.1 Objectives and Coverage of the Policy

The objectives of this policy are to:

- support good internal governance
- improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes
- ensure consistency with other levels of government
- instil public confidence in Council's ability to operate effectively.

The internal audit function provides assurance and assists the General Manager, management and the Council in the effective discharge of their responsibilities by furnishing them with analyses, appraisals, recommendations, counsel, reports and information concerning the activities reviewed and by promoting effective internal controls.

3 Application

3.1 Application of this Policy

This policy applies to all aspects of Council's operations, activities, programs and procedures. The Internal Auditor reports administratively to the General Manager and functionally to the Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee. The Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee in turn reports to Council.



4

Policy

4 Definitions

For the purposes of this policy:

Term	Meaning
Audit, Risk & Improvement Committee	The committee providing Council with independent oversight, objective assurance and monitoring of Council's audit processes, internal controls, external reporting, risk management activities, compliance of and with Council policies and procedures and performance improvement activities.
Internal audit	An independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisation's operations
Risk management	The culture, processes and structures that are directed towards the effective management of potential opportunities and adverse effects.

5 Principles/Body

5.1 Procedural Statement

Singleton Council has established and will maintain an Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee to help Council achieve its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes. Council's Director Organisation and Community Capacity will undertake the role of Chief Audit Executive.

This policy will facilitate the engagement of a suitably qualified Internal Auditor through Council's procurement process while the Singleton Council Internal Audit Plan 2022 - 2025 is the enabling document for this policy.

In addition, this policy gives the following authority to any individual formally acting as the Internal Auditor for Council:

Authority is vested in the Internal Auditor to enable the internal audit function to be performed efficiently, conveniently and to the satisfaction of the Internal Auditor with every assistance from officers and employees of the Council.

The role of the Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee is to be in accordance with the *Singleton Council Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee Terms of Reference* (Appendix A).

Policy

5.2 Scope of Work of the Internal Auditor

The scope of services provided by the Internal Auditor will encompass examination and evaluation of:

- the adequacy and effectiveness of systems of internal control, risk management, governance, business improvement and the status of ethical behaviour
- conformity with the goals and objectives of Singleton Council
- reliability and integrity of financial and operational information
- · effectiveness and efficiency of operations and resource usage
- safeguarding of assets
- · compliance with laws, regulations, policies, procedures and contracts
- adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management framework.
- any special investigations as directed by the Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee or General Manager
- all activities of Singleton Council, whether financial or non-financial, manual or computerised

The scope of work may include:

- Assurance Services objective examination of evidence for the purpose of providing an independent assessment on Council's risk management, control, governance or business improvement processes. Examples may include financial, performance, operational, compliance, system security, and due diligence engagements.
- Consulting Services advisory and related activities, the nature and scope of which are intended to add value and improve Council's governance, risk management, and control processes without the Internal Auditor assuming management responsibility. Examples include counsel, advice, facilitation and training.

5.3 Internal Audit Methodology

In consultation with the Chief Audit Executive, the Internal Auditor will use the most appropriate methodology for each internal audit engagement, depending on the nature of the activity and the pre-determined parameters for the engagement. Generally, internal audits will include:

- planning
- · reviewing and assessing risks in the context of the audit objectives
- examining and evaluating information
- communicating results
- following up on implementation of audit recommendations.

5.4 Operating Principles

The Internal Auditor will conform with:

- the Standards and Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Internal Auditors
- where relevant, the Statement on Information Systems Auditing Standards issued by the Information Systems and Control Association
- relevant auditing standards issued by the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.



Policy

6 Relevant Legislation

Local Government Act, 1993 (NSW)

7 Document Information

Related documents and reference information in this section provide a single reference point to develop and maintain site compliance information.

7.1 Related Documents

Related documents, listed in *Table 7-1* below, are internal documents directly related to or referenced from this document.

Number	Title
POL/900 <mark>8.4</mark>	Integrated Risk Management Policy
19/19837	Integrated Risk Management Plan 2021 - 2024
POL/1011.10	Code of Conduct
POL/6007.3	Fraud and Corruption Control Policy
POL/6001.4	Procurement Policy
20/7994	Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee Terms of Reference
<mark>21/83665</mark>	Internal Aud <mark>it</mark> Plan – <mark>2021 – 2025 (draft)</mark>

Table 7-1 – Related documents

8 Responsible Officer / Policy Owner

Ownership of this policy rests with the Manager Integrated Risk.

9 Responsibilities

Parties or Persons	Responsibilities	
Elected Council	 Consider the annual assurance report from the Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee Assign administrative responsibility for internal audit to the General Manager and include this in their 	
	employment contract and performance reviewsAppoint a Chief Audit Executive	
Conorol Managor		
General Manager	 Attend meetings of the Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee 	
Chief Audit	 Oversee Council's internal audit activities in consultation with the Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee 	
Executive	 Develop a three year strategic plan to guide Council's longer term internal audits in consultation with Council, the General Manager and Leadership Team 	



Attachment 2

Policy

Internal Audit

Parties or Persons	Responsibilities	
	 Develop an annual risk-based internal audit work plan based on the strategic plan 	
	Report internal audit findings and recommendations to the Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee	
	 Attend meetings of the Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee 	
Manager Integrated Risk	• Under the direction of the Chief Audit Executive and the Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee, coordinate the Internal Audit function through engagement of a suitably qualified Internal Auditor	
Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee	 Fulfil the responsibilities as detailed in the Singleton Council Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee Terms of Reference (Appendix A). 	

10 Approval

As per cover sheet.

11 Monitoring

This policy will be monitored by the Manager Integrated Risk to ensure compliance.

12 Review Date

This policy, once adopted, is to remain in force until it is reviewed by Council. This policy is to be reviewed approximately every two (2) years to ensure that it meets legislative requirements.

13 Last Review Date

This policy was last reviewed in May 2020.

14 Record Keeping, Confidentiality and Privacy

This policy is to be made available for public viewing as required under the *Government Information (Public Access) 2009, NSW.*

15 Breaches and Sanctions

Any breaches of this Policy will be referred to the General Manager for appropriate action.



Attachment 2

Internal Audit

Policy

16 Document History

The below table provides a summary of changes and amendments to this document.

Version.	Date Amended	Author	Comments (e.g. reasons for review)
8	07/12/2021	D McDonald	Biannual review; reference to updated OLG guidelines; updated references to related documents table; change to duration of Internal Audit Plan from 4 to 3 years to align with contract for provision of Internal Audit Services.



Appendix A - Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee Terms of Reference

Audit, Risk and Improvement Terms of Reference 15 March 2022



Terms of Reference Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee

1. Establishment

The Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee ("Committee") has an important role in the governance framework of Council by providing Council with independent oversight, objective assurance and monitoring of Council's audit processes, internal controls, external reporting, risk management activities, compliance of and with Council's policies and procedures, and performance improvement activities.

This Terms of Reference, which is based on the guidelines issued by the Chief Executive of the Office of Local Government pursuant to s. 23A of the *Local Government Act 1993* ("the Act") and is consistent with best practice, is intended to add value and drive the qualities of effective local government; being openness, transparency and accountability. Amendments to the Act in 2016 will require Council to have an Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee (s. 428A, yet to be proclaimed).

The General Manager will ensure that adequate resources are available to allow for the proper functioning of the Committee, including appointment of a Chief Audit Executive and provision of administrative support. The Committee may also, at Council's expense, request the General Manager to obtain such legal, accounting or other professional advice as it reasonably considers necessary for the performance of its duties. The General Manager will give appropriate consideration to all such requests.

2. Authority

The Committee is established in accordance with Council's authority granted by s. 355(d) of the Act. The Committee has no executive powers, except those expressly provided by the Council. In carrying out its responsibilities, the Committee must at all times recognise that primary responsibility for management of Council rests with the Council and the General Manager as defined by the Act.

The Council authorises the Committee as a whole (but not individual members of the Committee) within the scope of its role and responsibilities, to:

- Obtain any information it needs from any employee or external party (subject to their legal obligations to protect information).
- Discuss any matters with the Auditor-General and/or external auditor and/or other external parties (subject to confidentiality considerations).
- Request the attendance of any employee or councillor at Committee meetings.

This Terms of Reference should be reviewed and adopted at least once by each term of Council at an open meeting of Council.

The Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee is to provide an advisory and assurance role only, and is to have no administrative function, delegated financial responsibility or any management functions.



3. Functions and Responsibilities

In carrying out its responsibilities, the Committee must at all times recognise that primary responsibility for financial and other reporting, for internal controls, for compliance with laws, for ethical behaviour, for the management of Council, for risk management and for organisational improvements, rests with the elected Council and the General Manager in accordance with the Act.

Members of the Committee must not act in a way that contravenes the Act (which includes compliance with Council's adopted Code of Conduct and Code of Meeting Practice) or any other Act. Members of the Committee are also required to comply with other relevant policies and procedures of the Council.

The objective of the Committee is to continuously review and provide independent advice to the General Manager and Council about:

- whether the council is complying with all necessary legislation
- the adequacy and effectiveness of the council's risk management framework, fraud and corruption prevention activities, financial management processes, and the council's financial position and performance
- the council's governance arrangements
- the achievement of the goals set out in the council's community strategic plan, delivery program, operational plan and other strategies
- how the council delivers local services and how to improve the council's performance of its functions more generally
- the collection of performance measurement data by the council, and
- any other matters prescribed by the *Local Government (General) Regulation 2021* (ie internal audit).

	Issue (s. 428A)	Committee's role and responsibilities
AUDIT	Internal audit	 Advisory: providing overall strategic and executive direction for internal audit activities advising the general manager and governing body of the council of the resources necessary to successfully deliver the internal audit function assessing the adequacy and effectiveness of council's internal audit activities acting as a forum for communication between the governing body, general manager, senior management, the internal audit function and external audit overseeing the coordination of audit programs conducted by internal and external audit and other review functions, and ensuring the council achieves maximum value from its internal audit activities.

Specifically, the Committee has the responsibilities detailed below.



	External audit	 Review: the appropriateness of council's Internal Audit Charter, internal audit policies and procedures audit/risk methodologies used the findings/recommendations of internal audit activities, particularly recommendations that have been assessed as the most significant according to the risk to the council if they are not implemented the effectiveness of corrective actions implemented compliance with statutory requirements the performance of the Chief Audit Executive and the internal audit function as part of the council's internal audit quality improvement program the findings of any external reviews of the internal audit function Endorsement of: the council's Internal Audit Charter, internal audit strategic four-year plan and annual work plan, and the appointment and remuneration of the Chief Audit Executive Advisory: acting as a forum for communication on external audit issues, and advising on the findings of external audits and monitoring the
		implementation by the council of any recommendations for corrective action.
RISK	Risk management	 Advisory – advising whether: the council has provided sufficient resources for risk management and staff are able to carry out their risk management responsibilities the council's risk management framework complies with current Australian risk management standards the council's risk management framework operates effectively and supports the achievement of council's strategic goals and objectives management has embedded a positive risk management culture risk management is fully integrated into all aspects of the council, including decision-making processes and operations risks are formally considered when developing and implementing all council policies, programs, projects and other activities, including procurement major risks have been identified and assessed by the council and appropriate risk treatments have been implemented that reflect council's risk criteria risk information is captured and communicated in a timely manner across the council, enabling management and staff to carry out their responsibilities there are council-specific, fit-for-purpose tools, systems and processes to help all those responsible for managing risk to fulfil their responsibilities, and the council's risk management policies, procedures and plans are being complied with.



	Review the appropriateness and effectiveness of the council's: • risk criteria • internal control framework • risk register and risk profile • risk reports • risk management framework in relation to its insurance arrangements, and • business continuity plans and natural disaster plans (including periodic testing). Endorsement of: • the council's risk management policy, risk management plan and risk criteria prior to their approval by the governing body of the council, and • the council and
Control framework	 the council's risk profile and risk register/s prior to their approval by the general manager. Providing independent assurance on the following internal controls implemented by the council to manage specific categories of risk: The council's compliance framework - advising whether: management has embedded a culture which is committed to lawful and ethical behaviour the council has in place necessary policies and procedures and that these are periodically reviewed and updated the council is complying with all necessary legislation, regulations, policies and procedures management has appropriately considered all legal and compliance risks as part of the council's risk assessment and management arrangements delegations are properly managed and exercised, and the council's system for monitoring compliance is effective The council's fraud and corruption framework - advising whether the: council's fraud and corruption prevention plan and activities are adequate and effectively investigate fraud-related information The council's financial management and external accountability framework – including: advising whether the council's financial management processes are adequate assessing the policies and procedures for council management's review and consideration of the council's current and future financial position and performance and the nature of that review (including the approach taken to addressing variances and budget risks) advising on the adequacy of early close and year-end review procedures, and providing input and feedback on council's financial statements, including: providing input and feedback on council's financial statements advising whether council is meeting its

Audit, Risk and Improvement Terms of Reference 15 March 2022	SINGLETON
	 external accountability requirements advising whether appropriate action has been taken in response to audit recommendations and

		taken in response to audit recommendations and
		 adjustments satisfying itself that the financial statements are
		 satisfying itself that the financial statements are supported by appropriate management signoff
		 reviewing the 'Statement by Councillors and
		Management' (made pursuant to s 413(2)(c) of the
		Local Government Act)
		 reviewing the processes in place designed to ensure
		that financial information included in the council's
		annual report is consistent with the signed financial
		statements
		 reviewing cash management policies and procedures
		 reviewing policies and procedures for the collection,
		management and disbursement of grants and tied
		funding, and
		 satisfying itself that the council has a
		performance management framework that is
		linked to org <mark>anisa</mark> tional objectives and outcomes.
		outcomes.
		The council's governance framework – including:
		• advising on the adequacy and robustness of the processes and
		systems that the council has put in place to govern day-to-day
		activiti <mark>es and decisio</mark> n-making, and
		 reviewing whether controls over external parties such as
		contractors and advisors are sound and effective.
	Strategic planning	 advising whether the council is achieving the objectives and
		goals it set out in its community strategic plan and has
1		successfully implemented its delivery program, operational plan
Ψ	Comico deliveru	and other strategies
Ē	Service delivery	 advising how the council is delivering local services and how it could improve its service delivery performance
6		could improve its service delivery performance
MPROVEMENT		
Σ	Performance data	assessing the adequacy of the performance indicators and
	and measurement	data the council uses to measure its performance

4. Referral of Matters

At the first Committee meeting after 30 June each year, the Internal Auditor will provide a performance report to the Committee of:

- The performance of Internal Audit for the financial year as measured against agreed key performance indicators;
- The approved Internal Audit Plan of work for the previous financial year showing the current status of each audit.



The Committee will report regularly, and at least annually, to Council on the management of risk and internal controls.

5. Membership and length of term

The Committee will consist of:

5.1 Members (voting)

- Three (3) independent external members
- Two (2) Councillors

5.2 Observers (non-voting)

- General Manager
- Directors
- Chief Audit Executive
- Internal Auditor
- External Auditor

5.3 Attendees (non-voting) when invited by the Committee to attend/give information

- Financial Controller
- Manager Integrated Risk
- Council staff/contractors
- External experts
- Councillors.

Voting at a Committee meeting is to be by open means (such as by voice or by show of hands).

The members of the Committee, taken collectively, will have a broad range of skills and experience relevant to the operations of Council. At least one member of the Committee shall have accounting or related financial management experience, with understanding of accounting and auditing standards in a public sector environment.

Councillors

Councillor members of the Committee will be appointed by resolution of the Council, once every four years. The Council may also resolve to appoint alternate Councillor members to the Committee to attend meetings in the absence of the Councillor members. The alternate Councillor member will have the same voting rights as the Councillor member being replaced.

Independent External Members

The independent external members will be appointed for a term of four (4) years, after which they will be eligible for extension or re-appointment following a formal review of



their performance. A member's term cannot exceed eight (8) years and the Chair's term cannot exceed five (5) years.

The independent external members can also be removed by resolution of Council. The independent members, in aggregate, will have recent and relevant knowledge and experience of:

- Accounting or related Financial management
- Risk management experience
- Auditing experience in a public sector environment
- Performance improvement
- The local government framework
- Council services, activities and operations
- Governance, risk and compliance
- Community services.

The Chair

The Chair will be elected by the majority of the Committee's voting members and must be one of the independent external members. Whenever the voting on a motion put to a meeting of the Committee is equal, the Chair of the Committee is to have a casting vote as well as an original vote.

If the elected Chair is not present at a meeting of the Committee, the first business of that meeting is for the Committee's voting members to elect a Chair from the independent external members present.

Should the Chair be absent, the Committee will elect a Chair from the floor.

6. Operation

The Committee shall comply with Council's adopted Code of Meeting Practice and Code of Conduct;

- The Committee will meet at least four times per year, with one of these meetings to include review and endorsement of the annual audited financial reports and external audit opinion as well as review and endorsement of the Internal Audit Plan;
- The need for any additional meetings will be decided by the Chair of the Committee, though other Committee members or Council's General Manager may make requests to the Chair for additional meetings;
- The Committee is expected to make decisions by consensus but if voting becomes necessary then the details of the vote are to be recorded in the minutes;
- Each member of the Committee shall be entitled to one vote only. In the case of an equality of votes on any issue the Chair shall have the casting vote;
- Between meetings the Chair may circulate to members by email specific proposals for adoption by the Committee. Members shall be given a set time frame at least five days in which to reply to indicate their agreement with a particular proposal. Any member's failure to respond within the timeframe given shall be taken as a



vote against the proposal. Any decision taken by the Committee by email is to be noted and minuted at the commencement of the next meeting.

Where either Internal Audit Plan priorities change between meetings or new urgent issues arise, and where it is not possible to schedule an additional meeting, the Committee will be kept fully informed of all changes via email.

7. Quorum

- A quorum will consist of a majority of Committee members, including at least two (2) independent members;
- Meetings can be held in person, by telephone or by video conference;
- The Internal Auditor will be invited to attend each meeting unless requested not to do so by the Chair of the Committee. The Committee may also request any employee to participate for certain agenda items, as well as the external auditor.

8. Conflict of Interest

Councillors, Council staff and members of Council committees must comply with the applicable provisions of Council's Code of Conduct in carrying out the functions as Council officials. It is the personal responsibility of Council officials to comply with the standards in the Code of Conduct and regularly review their personal circumstances with this in mind.

Committee members must declare any conflict of interest at the start of each meeting or before discussion of a relevant agenda item or topic. Details of any conflict of interest should be appropriately minuted.

Where members or invitees at Committee meetings are deemed to have a real or perceived conflict of interest, it may be appropriate they be excused from Committee deliberations on the issue where the conflict of interest may exist. The final arbiter of such a decision is the Chair of the Committee.

9. Agendas and Minutes

Council will provide secretariat support to the Committee.

The Secretariat will ensure the agenda for each meeting and supporting papers are circulated, at least one week before the meeting, and ensure minutes of the meeting are prepared and maintained.

The draft minutes are to be circulated to all Committee members within two weeks of the meeting and filed in CM9 in accordance with Council's Information Management Policy. A copy of the minutes, once they have been reviewed by the Chair, will be included in the agenda papers for the next Committee meeting.

Minutes will include an Action Sheet for follow up.



10. Evaluation and Review

The Chair of the Committee will initiate a review of the performance of the Committee at least once every two years. The review will be conducted on a self-assessment basis (unless otherwise determined by the Chair and General Manager), with appropriate input from management and any other relevant stakeholders, as determined by the Chair.

At least once every two years the Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee will review and approve changes to this Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee Terms of Reference.





Planning Proposal

Proposed amendment to Singleton Local **Environmental Plan 2013**

Reclassification of Lot 1 DP 1151446, 1-3 Bathurst Street Singleton from community land to operational land

12-14 Queen Street Singleton NSW 2330 PO Box 314 Singleton NSW 2330 ABN 52 877 492 396

T 02 6578 7290 E council@singleton.nsw.gov.au F 02 6572 4197 W singleton.nsw.gov.au

Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARYii
INTRODUCTION1
THE SITE1
BACKGROUND
PART 1 – INTENDED OUTCOME
PART 2 – EXPLANATION OF THE PROVISIONS
PART 3 – JUSTIFICATION
SECTION A – NEED FOR THE PLANNING PROPOSAL
SECTION B – RELATIONSHIP TO STRATEGIC PLANNING FRAMEWORK
SECTION C – ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND ECONOMIC IMPACT
SECTION D – STATE AND COMMONWEALTH INTERESTS10
SECTION E – PLANNING SECRETARY'S REQUIREMENTS FOR PLANNING PROPOSALS RECLASSIFYING LAND
SECTION F – LEP PRACTICE NOTE12
SECTION F – LEP PRACTICE NOTE
PART 4 – MAPPING12
PART 4 – MAPPING
PART 4 – MAPPING 12 PART 5 – COMMUNITY CONSULTATION 12 PART 6 – PROJECT TIMELINE 13
PART 4 – MAPPING12PART 5 – COMMUNITY CONSULTATION12PART 6 – PROJECT TIMELINE13CONCLUSION13
PART 4 - MAPPING12PART 5 - COMMUNITY CONSULTATION12PART 6 - PROJECT TIMELINE13CONCLUSION13Appendix A Gateway determination
PART 4 - MAPPING12PART 5 - COMMUNITY CONSULTATION12PART 6 - PROJECT TIMELINE13CONCLUSION13Appendix A Gateway determination13Appendix B Deposited Plan & Deed of Purchase13
PART 4 - MAPPING12PART 5 - COMMUNITY CONSULTATION12PART 6 - PROJECT TIMELINE13CONCLUSION13Appendix A Gateway determination13Appendix B Deposited Plan & Deed of PurchaseAppendix C Council Report 1994
PART 4 - MAPPING12PART 5 - COMMUNITY CONSULTATION12PART 6 - PROJECT TIMELINE13CONCLUSION13Appendix A Gateway determination13Appendix B Deposited Plan & Deed of PurchaseAppendix C Council Report 1994Appendix D Lease agreementsAppendix D Lease agreements

i

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Local Government Area:	Singleton
Name of the Draft Local Environmental Plan (LEP):	Reclassification of land at 1-3 Bathurst Street Singleton
Proposed changes:	The planning proposal seeks to reclassify the subject land from community land to operational land
Subject land:	Lot 1 DP 1151446, 1-3 Bathurst Street SINGLETON
Area of land:	1,535sqm
Land owner(s):	Singleton Council
Proponent:	Singleton Council
Council file reference:	60.2021.3
CM9 document reference:	21/77699
NSW Department of Planning & Environment (DP&E) reference:	PP-2021-5316
Version:	3 (Finalisation)
Date:	20/01/2022
Officer:	R Drew
Manager:	Mary-Anne Crawford

ii

INTRODUCTION

This planning proposal seeks to amend the Singleton Local Environmental Plan (SLEP) 2013 by reclassifying Lot 1 DP 1151446 known as 1-3 Bathurst Street Singleton from 'community' land to 'operational' land. The purpose of the reclassification is to facilitate the sale of the site to Ourcare Services Ltd who will continue the existing operations. No changes to zoning, minimum lot size or floor space ratio controls are proposed.

In September 2021, the planning proposal received a Gateway determination to proceed from the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment (**Appendix A**).

THE SITE

The site is 1-3 Bathurst Street, Singleton and is legally identified as Lot 1 DP 1151446 (**Figure 1**). The site is Council-owned land. Bathurst Street runs along the eastern boundary of the site with public carparking areas located to the west and north of the site. The site has an area of 1,535sqm and comprises a part two-storey building at the north of the site and a single-storey building at the south of the site.

The building to the north is currently leased to Ourcare Services Ltd. Ourcare Services Ltd is a not-forprofit organisation, predominantly funded by the NSW Government, which provides a range of services to the Singleton community including community transport, meals on wheels, neighbour aid, home maintenance, home modification, domestic assistance and personal care. The building to the south contains the Singleton Senior Citizens Centre.



Figure 1: aerial view of the site (Source: SixMaps)

The site is zoned B4 Mixed Use under the SLEP 2013 (**Figure 2**). The current use of the site is a community facility with ancillary offices. The proposed reclassification does not seek to facilitate a use at the site which is not already approved or permissible with consent and so rezoning is not required.



Figure 2: Current zoning (B4 Mixed Use) (Source: NSW Government)

BACKGROUND

Part 2 of the *Local Government Act 1993* (LG Act) requires that all public land be classified as 'community' land or 'operational' land. The purpose of classification is to identify land which should be kept for access by the general public as community land such as parks, reserves or sports grounds or operational land which facilitates the functions of council such as a works depot or Council garage which may not be accessible by the public.

Land which was not formally declared as operational land by 1 July 1994 was automatically classified as community land. The LG Act requires that the classification or reclassification of public land be made by a local environmental plan or by a resolution of the council.

The site was created from a consolidation of Lot 16 & Lot 17 Section 29 DP 192120 and Lot 18 & Lot 19 DP 1130393 (previously identified as Lot 18 & 19 Section 29 DP 192120). Lot 16 & Lot 17 Section 29 DP 192120 were purchased by Council in 1968 and in subsequent years a car park was constructed along with the establishment of the Senior Citizens Centre which was constructed circa 1984 (**Appendix B**).

On 18 April 1994, Council resolved to classify Lot 17 Section 29 DP 192120 and Lot 18 & Lot 19 DP 1130393 as operational land (**Appendix C**). At this time Lot 14, Lot 15 & Lot 16 Section 29 DP 192120 were vacant land and because these lots were not classified as operational land they were automatically classified as community land. In 1994, the Community Centre was built across Lot 16 & Lot 17 Section 29 DP 192120. A search of Council records was not able to identify that Lot 16 was reclassified to operational land at that time. A condition of development consent for the Community Centre building extension in 2008 required that the land containing the Community Centre and Senior Citizen Centre be consolidated. This

plan being Deposited Plan 1151446 was registered on 9 November 2010. A search of Council records did not find the land was classified as operational land and as a result Lot 1 DP 1151446, subject of this planning proposal, is held as community land due to the original classification of Lot 16.

In 2017, Singleton Council was approached by Ourcare Services Ltd enquiring whether Council would consider selling the site. It was agreed at this meeting that valuations would be obtained to enable further consideration of the request and subsequently an offer to purchase the site from Council was received from Ourcare Services. Ourcare Services Ltd agreed to continue to lease the site to the Seniors Citizen Welfare Association Incorporation as a condition of the proposed purchase.

As the land is classified as community land, reclassification of the land to operational land is required to permit the land to be sold. At a meeting of Council held on 19 November 2018, a resolution was made to prepare a planning proposal to enable the reclassification of the subject land to operational land. This planning proposal has been prepared to support this request.

PART 1 – INTENDED OUTCOME

The objective of the planning proposal is to reclassify the site from community land to operational land. The proposed reclassification will permit the site to be sold to Ourcare Services Ltd. A requirement of the reclassification and sale of the site is that the current operations continue. Funds from the sale are proposed to be used by Council to continue solar power initiatives across Council-owned sites.

There are no changes proposed to zoning, minimum lot size, height of building or floor space ratio controls.

No interests in the property are to be changed as a result of the planning proposal.

PART 2 – EXPLANATION OF THE PROVISIONS

The proposed objectives of the planning proposal will be achieved by amending the SLEP 2013 as outlined below:

Item no.	Explanation of provisions
1	Amend Schedule 4 of Singleton Local Environmental Plan 2013 by adding under Part 1:
	Column 1 Locality: 'Singleton' and Column 2 Description: 'Lot 1 DP 1151446, 1–3 Bathurst Street Singleton'
	No interests in the property are to be changed as a result of the planning proposal.

PART 3 – JUSTIFICATION

SECTION A – NEED FOR THE PLANNING PROPOSAL

1. Is the planning proposal a result of an endorsed local strategic planning statement, strategic study or report?

Yes. The planning proposal is the result of a resolution of Council on 19 November 2018 to prepare a planning proposal to enable reclassification of the site to operational land.

The reclassification and sale of the subject land will not negatively impact the economic sustainability of Singleton Council and would not result in any loss of community infrastructure as the site would

continue to be operated by Ourcare Services Ltd in conjunction with the Senior Citizens Centre. Revenue resulting from the sale of the land would be re-invested back into other Council assets, such as solar power initiatives across Council-owned sites which is currently being undertaken.

The combined current lease arrangement for the site is worth \$35,342 (ex GST) per annum to Council with annual operating expenditure of \$16,771 (ex GST). The offer to purchase is \$625,000 (ex GST). The lease agreement between Singleton Council and Ourcare Service terminates on 30 June 2022. The Senior Citizen's Centre lease terminated on 22 January 2020 and is now leased on a month-to-month basis to the Senior Citizens Centre Welfare Association Incorporation. Copies of the lease agreements for both Ourcare Services and Senior Citizen Centre are included at **Appendix D**.

2. Is the planning proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or intended outcomes, or is there a better way?

Reclassification of the site is only possible through a planning proposal.

SECTION B – RELATIONSHIP TO STRATEGIC PLANNING FRAMEWORK

3. Will the planning proposal give effect to the objectives and actions of the applicable regional or district plan or strategy (including any exhibited draft plans or strategies)?

Yes. Consistency of the planning proposal with relevant plans and strategies is outlined below.

Hunter Regional Plan 2036

The Hunter Regional Plan (HRP) 2036 is a regional land use strategy that applies to the Singleton local government area. The HRP will guide land use planning priorities over the next 20 years and includes overarching directions, goals and actions as well as specific priorities for each local government area in the Hunter.

The HRP has a focus on providing the Hunter Region with a leading economy, a biodiversity rich natural environment, thriving communities and greater housing choice. However, there are no specific provisions related to the subject land. Due to the minor nature of the proposed change, it is considered that the proposal is not inconsistent with the HRP directions.

Upper Hunter Strategic Regional Land Use Plan

The Upper Hunter Strategic Regional Land Use Plan (UHSRLUP) 2012 is a sub-regional land use strategy that applies to the Singleton local government area. The UHSRLUP identifies the need for social infrastructure including community facilities to grow in response to population growth. The proposal to reclassify the subject land will facilitate the sale of the site, creating more opportunities for long-term service planning for Ourcare Services which will continue to positively contribute to the Singleton community.

4. Will the planning proposal give effect to a council's endorsed local strategic planning statement, or another endorsed local strategy or strategic plan?

Yes. Consistency of the planning proposal with relevant plans and strategies is outlined below.

Singleton Local Strategic Planning Statement 2041

The Singleton Local Strategic Planning Statement (LSPS) 2041 establishes the 20-year vision for how the Singleton local government area will be in the future in terms of its land uses, activities, landforms and built forms.

Planning Priority 1.2 of the LSPS relates to accommodation, facilities and service provision that meets the needs of the ageing population. A stipulation of the proposed reclassification is that the site continue to be used by Ourcare Services Ltd and the Senior Citizens Centre which will provide services for the

community. Funds received through the future sale of the site will then be able to be reinvested into other beneficial assets and infrastructure including solar power initiatives.

Singleton Land Use Strategy (2008)

The site is not specifically identified in the Singleton Land Use Strategy (SLUS) 2008 as this document focuses on responding to settlement needs, providing and maintaining infrastructure, encouraging economic growth and protecting and enhancing the environment. Despite this, the ongoing provision of social infrastructure is identified as an increasing need. The reclassification and sale of the site would provide financial security to Ourcare Services to allow ongoing operations and long-term planning, being consistent with strategic plans for social infrastructure.

5. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable State Environmental Planning Policies?

There are no existing or draft State Environmental Planning Policies that prohibit or restrict the proposed amendment as outlined in this planning proposal.

6. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable Ministerial Directions?

An assessment of relevant Ministerial directions against the planning proposal is provided in the **Table 1** below.

Table 1 – Relevant Ministerial Directions			
Ministerial Direction	Aim of Direction	Consistency and Implications	
4. HAZARD AND	RISK		
4.3 Flood Prone Land	 The objectives of this direction are: (a) to ensure that development of flood prone land is consistent with the NSW government's Flood Prone Land Policy and the principles of the Floodplain Development Manual 2005, and (b) to ensure that the provisions of an LEP on flood prone land is commensurate with flood hazard and includes consideration of the potential flood impacts both on and off the subject land. 	The subject site is identified as flood prone land in Singleton LEP 2013 (SLEP 2013). The proposal is for reclassification only, with the zone remaining the same and it is not considered an intensification of land use. Accordingly, it is considered that the planning proposal is consistent with the objectives of the direction.	
6. LOCAL PLAN	MAKING		
6.2 Reserving Land for Public Purposes	The direction aims to facilitate (i) the provision of public services and facilities by reserving land for public purposes; and (ii) removal of reservations of land for public purposes where land is no longer required for acquisition.	The planning proposal involves the reclassification of the land from community to operational land. This planning proposal affects land that is classified as 'public land'. The land contains two separate buildings which are occupied by Ourcare Services Ltd and Senior Citizens Centre Welfare Association Incorporation. Ourcare Services Ltd is a not-for-profit organisation which provides a range of services to the Singleton community including community transport, meals on wheels, neighbour aid, home maintenance, home modification, domestic assistance and personal care. Ourcare Services have contributed financially in the past to the expansion of the facility building and fit out, totalling \$368,536 per development applications 2007/551, 2008/529 and 2011/323.	

	provision of community services from the site as Ourcare Services will continue to operate as it has done for a number of years. Furthermore, it is noted that Ourcare Services is mindful of the current arrangements in place with Senior Citizens Centre Welfare Association. Council's intention is to ensure that the Senior Citizens Association continues to have access and use of their building beyond the sale. This has been agreed upon by Ourcare Services in their letter of offer to purchase the site.
--	--

SECTION C – ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND ECONOMIC IMPACT

7. Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species, populations or ecological communities, or their habitats, will be adversely affected as a result of the proposal?

No. The planning proposal is for reclassification, and will not alter any other development controls in a manner such that there could be adverse impacts on threatened species, populations, or ecological communities. Further to this, the site subject of this planning proposal is not identified as comprising critical habitat, threatened species, populations or ecological communities or their habitats.

8. Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the planning proposal and how are they proposed to be managed?

Carparking

The site does not benefit from on-site carparking and relies on the existing Council-owned carpark located between William Street and Pitt Street (**Figure 3**). Carparking spaces for sole use of the site are not delineated in the Council-owned carpark. If the site is no longer Council-owned, consideration has been given to carparking requirements as part of the proposed reclassification.

A Traffic and Parking Assessment was prepared in support of the proposed reclassification to consider traffic and carparking as a result of the proposed reclassification (**Appendix E**). The report assessed:

- Parking impacts of the proposal;
- Whether traffic generated by the development can be incorporated into the road system to ensure appropriate Levels of Service are maintained for all users; and
- Traffic-related safety risks are not introduced, or existing risks not exacerbated to an unsuitable level.

To determine carparking required for the site, the report identified the site as comprising *office space* and *function centre* which generates a carparking demand of 41 on-site spaces per the Singleton Development Control Plan 2014 and should be assigned for the use in the public carpark. In summary, the report found that:

- the existing local and state roads can accommodate the use
- There is sufficient available carparking within the Council-owned carpark for 41 spaces to be allocated to the development.

It is proposed that the existing carparking situation should be retained whereby the site and surrounding businesses share the Council-owned carpark and that delineation of carparking spaces is not required. It is also proposed that on-site carparking or a monetary contribution in lieu of on-site carparking should not be required unless a future change of use or increase in floor area at the site is proposed which would generate a need for additional carparking. This approach to carparking for the proposed reclassification was supported by Council resolution on 19 July 2021 (Attachment F).

Attachment 1

 \sim



9. Has the planning proposal adequately addressed any social and economic effects? The proposed reclassification will result is the loss of a small amount of community land; however, this is not expected to result in any adverse social or economic impacts. The location of community and operational land in the Singleton town centre and surrounds is shown in Figure 4.

A requirement of Council prior to supporting the proposed reclassification of the site is that there will be no change in the level of service provided by Ourcare Services Ltd and consultation will be held with Senior Citizens to ensure provision of space for their ongoing use. The community facility will continue to operate which has positive social impacts for the Singleton community and will continue to provide economic benefit to the broader community by facilitating the sale of public land that is surplus to Council's needs. The funds received from the sale of the site will be invested into solar initiatives across Council-owned sites and can also be used for other socially and economically beneficial initiatives.



Figure 4: Location of community land in proximity to the site

ი
SECTION D – STATE AND COMMONWEALTH INTERESTS

10. Is there adequate public infrastructure for the planning proposal?

There is adequate public infrastructure currently servicing the site. The site has road access from Bathurst Street and the public carpark to the west, is connected to reticulated water and sewer services and is connected to electricity and telecommunication services. There is no change proposed to any of these existing services as a result of the planning proposal. The proposal will not result in the need for any new or augmented public infrastructure such as public utilities or roads.

11. What are the views of state and Commonwealth public authorities consulted in accordance with the Gateway determination?

Consultation with State and Commonwealth agencies is not required as a condition of the Gateway determination.

SECTION E – PLANNING SECRETARY'S REQUIREMENTS FOR PLANNING PROPOSALS RECLASSIFYING LAND

For proposed local environmental plan amendments which are prepared solely to classify or reclassify public land, the Planning Secretary requires additional specific matters be addressed in the justification for the planning proposal. These matters and a response to each are outlined below.

a) Is the planning proposal the result of a strategic study or report?

Yes. As outlined in Section A, the planning proposal is the result of a resolution of Council on 19 November 2018 to prepare a planning proposal to enable reclassification of the site to operational land.

b) Is the planning proposal consistent with the local council's community plan, or other local strategic plan?

Singleton Community Strategic Plan 2017-2027

An assessment of the Planning Proposal against the key objectives of the Singleton Community Strategic Plan 2017-2027 is outlined in **Table 2** below:

Table 2	2 – Singleton Community Strategic Plan 2017-2027	
Theme	Objective	Explanation of Provisions
	Provide services and facilities that meet the needs of our community at different stages of life	Not inconsistent
əlq	Promote, facilitate and provide services for public health, healthy living and lifestyles	Not inconsistent
0ə	Facilitate and support programs and activities which promote inclusion and celebrate diversity	Not inconsistent
۲P	Provide social, recreational and cultural services which educate, inspire and entertain	Not inconsistent
nO	Collaborate with Government and other agencies to improve services relating to but not limited to health, education, integration connectivity, security and well-being	Not inconsistent
ece	Our Places Provide safe and well-maintained facilities and infrastructure	Sustainable management of assets is an outcome sought by the plan. The proceeds from the sale of the land if reclassification was to occur would provide funds to be re-invested into other Council assets to improve their operating efficiencies for example solar aver or reinvested into income denerating assets.
i9 1	Provide safe and reliable water and sewer services	Not inconsistent
nO	Promote and facilitate sustainable village living	Not inconsistent
	Improve transport connectivity and support sustainable alternatives	Not inconsistent
	Facilitate land use planning and development outcomes which respect and contribute in a positive way to environment and community	Not inconsistent
1	Collaborate to enhance, protect and improve our environment	Not inconsistent
ţuə	Promote efficient water and wastewater management and increase re-use and recycling	Not inconsistent
	Manage and reduce risks from environmental pollution and disease	Not inconsistent
01 10	Educate and advocate to improve air quality in Singleton	Not inconsistent
ivni	Collect and manage urban stormwater effectively	Not inconsistent
Э	Increase planning and preparedness for natural disasters	Not inconsistent
	Attract new investment to increase the diversity and resilience of the Singleton economy.	Not inconsistent
	Continue to support local tourism operators for the promotion of Singleton as a tourist destination	Not inconsistent
лu	Enhance relationships between local business, industry and Government to set strategic economic goals	Not inconsistent
iou	Facilitate development of a night time economy for Singleton	Not inconsistent
00	Support the capacity of Singleton businesses to be flexible, adaptable and prepared for change	Not inconsistent
r e	Inform and inspire our community to be prepared to embrace for jobs for the future	Not inconsistent
nO	Seek funding to provide infrastructure, programs, services or events which add value to the delivery of the objectives of Singleton 2027	Not inconsistent
	Foster initiatives that strengthen Singleton's brand identity	Not inconsistent
c	Council's service delivery is aligned with our communities needs and delivered the best way possible	Not inconsistent
qida	Provide accurate and timely communication to our community	Not inconsistent
lers	Improve the connectivity between the community, stakeholders and Council to create an informed community	Not inconsistent
pee	Infrastructure, services, facilities and Council are managed in a financially sustainable way	Not inconsistent
י בפ	Services are provided by the right people, in the right jobs, with the right skills and attitudes at the right time	Not inconsistent
nO		Not inconsistent
	to red, govern, regulate in an etinical, equitable and italispatent way.	NOLIFICOUSISIERIE

Attachment 1

÷

c) If the provisions of the planning proposal include extinguishment of any interests in the land, an explanation of the reasons why the interests are proposed to be extinguished.

There are no interests in the land to be extinguished as a result of the planning proposal.

d) The concurrence of the landowner, where the land is not owned by the planning proposal authority.

The land is owned by Council and as such concurrence of the land-owner is provided.

SECTION F – LEP PRACTICE NOTE

LEP Practice Note PN 16-001 prepared by the (then) Department of Planning & Environment provides guidance on classification and reclassification of public land through a local environmental plan amendment. The Practice Note includes additional matters which must be addressed when reclassifying land through a LEP amendment. These additional matters including a response to each are at **Appendix G**.

It is considered the planning proposal adequately responds to the requirements of the Practice Note.

PART 4 – MAPPING

This planning proposal does not require any changes to maps in the Singleton Local Environmental Plan 2013.

PART 5 – COMMUNITY CONSULTATION

Public exhibition

The planning proposal was publicly exhibited for 28 days between 7 October and 4 November 2021.

The exhibition material was displayes at the following locations during normal business hours:

- Singleton Council Administration Centre Cnr Queen Street and Civic Avenue, Singleton
- Singleton Visitor Information and Enterprise Centre Townhead Park, New England Highway, Singleton.
- Singleton Library 8-10 Queen Street, Singleton.

The planning proposal was also be available on Council's website.

There were **no** submissions received in response to the public exhibition.

Public hearing

A public hearing led by an independent facilitated occurred on 8 December 2021, pursuant to Section 29 of the LG Act. At least 21 days' was given between the close of public exhibition and the public hearing which is a requirement of the LG Act.

There was one attendee at the public hearing who was in support of the proposed reclassification. A copy of the outcomes of the public hearing is at **Attachment H**.

PART 6 – PROJECT TIMELINE

The expected project timeline is outlined below.

	Sept 2021	Oct 2021	Nov 2021	Dec 2021	Jan 2022	Feb 2022	Mar 2022	Apr 2022
Gateway Determination								
Public Exhibition								
Notification of Public Hearing								
Public Hearing								
Update to planning proposal								
Reported to Council								
Parliamentary Counsel								
Plan notified								

CONCLUSION

The amendment to Singleton Local Environmental Plan 2013 detailed in this planning proposal will reclassify Lot 1 DP 1151446, 1-3 Bathurst Street Singleton, from 'community land' to 'operational land'. The reclassification will enable Council to sell the land to Ourcare Services who will continue the current uses at the site which provide social benefits to the community. Monies received as a result of the sale would be put towards other Council assets and initiatives.

The land subject of this planning proposal is partly occupied by Ourcare Services, a not-for-profit community facility which Council does not have any financial interest in. The remaining land is occupied by the Senior Citizens Centre. Ourcare Services have agreed in their letter of offer to Council for the purchase the land to ensure that the Senior Citizens Association continues to have access and use of their building beyond the sale and the terms of this will need to be negotiated. In these circumstances the use of the land by Ourcare Services and Seniors Citizen Welfare Association means that Council does not need to retain the land to ensure the provision of these community services and the ongoing public benefit to the community. The land is therefore considered to be surplus to Council's needs.

All relevant strategies, State Environmental Planning Policies and Section 9.1 Ministerial directions have been addressed in the planning proposal in support of the proposal receiving a Gateway determination to proceed.

This planning proposal has been prepared to explain the intended effect of the proposed amendment to
the Singleton Local Environmental Plan 2013 and sets out the justification for making that amendment.Pursuant to Section 3.35 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979, Council may, at any
time, vary the proposal as a consequence of its consideration of any submission or report during
community consultation or for any other reason. It may also, at any time, request the Minister to
determine that the matter not proceed.This planning proposal (Version 2 Exhibition) has been reviewed by the Manager Development and
Environmental Services and deemed suitable for the purposes of review of the Department of Planning,
Industry & Environment for Gateway determination.ModelMary-Anne Crawford

	inary / info eratitera
Senior Strategic Planner	Manager Development & Environmental Services

Appendix A Gateway determination



Gateway Determination

Planning proposal (Department Ref: PP-2021-5316): to reclassify 1-3 Bathurst Street, Singleton from community to operational land

I, Director, Central Coast and Hunter Region at the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment, as delegate of the Minister for Planning and Public Spaces, have determined under section 3.34(2) of the *Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979* (the Act) that an amendment to the *Singleton Local Environmental Plan 2013* to reclassify 1-3 Bathurst Street, Singleton should proceed subject to the following conditions:

- 1. Public exhibition is required under section 3.34(2)(c) and schedule 1 clause 4 of the Act as follows:
 - (a) the planning proposal must be made publicly available for a minimum of 28 days;
 - (b) the planning proposal authority must comply with the notice requirements for public exhibition of planning proposals and the specifications for material that must be made publicly available along with planning proposals as identified in section 6.5.2 of *A guide to preparing local environmental plans* (Department of Planning and Environment, 2018); and
 - (c) public exhibition is to commence by **15 October 2021**.
- 2. A public hearing is required to be held into the matter by any person or body under section 3.34(2)(e) of the Act.
- 3. The planning proposal authority is authorised as the local plan-making authority to exercise the functions under section 3.36(2) of the Act subject to the following:
 - (a) the planning proposal authority has satisfied all the conditions of the Gateway determination;
 - (b) the planning proposal is consistent with section 9.1 Ministerial directions or the Secretary has agreed that any inconsistencies are justified; and
 - (c) there are no outstanding written objections from public authorities.

4. The time frame for completing the local environmental plan is to be **7 months** following the date of the Gateway determination.

Dated 17th day of

September

2021.

Dan Simpkins Director Central Coast and Hunter Region Planning and Assessment Department of Planning, Industry and Environment

Delegate of the Minister for Planning and Public Spaces

PP-2021-5316 (IRF21/3576)

Appendix B Deposited Plan & Deed of Purchase

Attachment 1





DEPOSITED PLAN ADMI	NISTRATION S	SHEET Shee	et 1 of 1 sheet(s)
SIGNATURES, SEALS and STATEMENTS of intention to dedicate public roads, to create public reserves, drainage reserves, easements, restrictions on the use of land or positive covenants.	DF	P11514	46	*
ROAD WIDENING TO THE PUBLIC AS PUBLIC ROAD	Registered: Title System: Purpose:	9.11.20 TORRENS SUBDIVISION		•
MAYOR MAYOR A GENERRE MANAGER	PLAN OF CON	SOLIDATION OF I P 192120 AND LO	LOTS 16 AND 17	
Common Seal	LGA: Locality: Parish: County:	SINGLETON SINGLETON WHITTINGHAM NORTHUMBERI	LAND	
Use PLAN FORM 6A for additional certificates, signatures, seals and statements	I, GARRY EDW			
Crown Lands NSW/Western Lands Office Approval 	PO BOX 454, SI a surveyor register survey represented accordance with the on 11 NOVEMBER	NGLETON 2330 ad under the Surveying I in this plan is accurat e Surveying Regulation 2009	ABN 79 002 472 63 g Acl, 2002, certify that e, has been made in n, 2006 and was comple	the eted
Signature:	(specify the land ac plan that is not the	tually surveyed or spe subject of the survey)	cify any land shown in t	 he
Subdivision Certificate I certify that the provisions of s.109J of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 have been satisfied in relation to: the proposed	~	stered under the Surveying /	Dated: 7 DEC 20	
(insert 'subdivision' or 'new road') Mark Duren	Plans used S1~19 DP 560 DP 112	942 855	of survey/compilation DP 602618 DP 606590 DP 624868	A
* Authorised Person/General Manager/Accedited Certifier- Consent Authority: Singleton Council Date of Endorsement:	DP 192 DP 250 DP 410 DP 516	120 1831 1062	DP 707288 DP 1072078 DP 1130393 DP1132757	
File no: DR.529 DOR 8				









Box:e-IDS /Doc:DP 1130393 P /Rev:25-Aug-2008 /Stm:SC.OK /Prt:26-Aug-2008 03:12 /Pgm:ALL /Seq:1 of 1 MANNING : Electronic Document Supplied by LPI NSW for Your Internal Use Only.

LD153. Pole PK. Res. 30. the day of Febr made the One thousand nine hundred and sixty saw BETWEEN RICHARD JAMES COX of Singleton in the State of New South Wales, Truck Driver and MERVYN HENRY COX of Singleton aforesaid, Motor Mechanic (hereinafter called the Vendors) of the one part AND THE COUNCIL OF THE MUNICIPALITY OF SINGLETON (hereinafter called the Purchaser) of the other part -WHEREAS at the time of her death hereinafter referred to Ethel Sarah Jane Cox late of Singleton Widow deceased was seised for an estate in fee simple in the lands and hereditaments hereinafter described - AND WHEREAS the said Ethel Sarah Jane Cox died on the 26th day of July 1967 having first duly made and published her last Will and Testament in writing dated the 18th day of March 1965 whereby she appointed the Vendors executors thereof _ - AND WHEREAS on the 10th day of October, 1967 Probate of the said Will of the said Ethel Sarah Jane Cox was granted to the Vendors by the 1.644.68 Supreme Court of New South Wales in its Probate Jurisdiction . - AND WHEREAS the Vendors as such Executors as aforesaid have agreed with the Furchaser for the absolute sale of the lands and hereditaments hereinafter described for the price or sum of FOUR THOUSAND FOUR HUNDRED DOLLARS (\$4,400) -- NOW THIS DEED WITNESSETH that in pursuance of the agreement and in consideration of the sum of FOUR THOUSAND FOUR HUNDRED DOLLARS (\$4,400) paid by the Purchaser to the Vendors (the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged) the Vendom as such executors as aforesaid and in virtue of the powers conferred upon them by the Wills Probate and Administration Act 1898-1965, the Conveyancing Act 1919-1964 and of every other power them hereunto enabling doth hereby convey unto the Purchaser in fee simple ALL THAT piece or parcel of land situate lying and being at Singleton in the Parish of Wittingham County of Northumberland and State of New South Wales being Allotments 16 and 17 of Section 29 on the Plan of the subdivision of the said Township of Singleton COMMENCING at a point on the wast side of Bathurst Street sixty six feet from the corner of Bathurst and William Streets and bounded on the east by Bathurst

Planning Proposal - 1-3 Bathurst street Singleton - Post exhibition

Street seventy five feet on the south by a line bearing west one hundred and thirty two feet to a lane on the west by the east side of that lane seventy four feet and on the north by a line bearing east one hundred and thirty two feat to the point of commencement - IN WITNESS whereof the parties hereto have harcunto subscribed their names and affixed their seals the day and year first hereinbefore written SIGNED SEALED and DELIVERED) R. J. box by the said RICHARD JAMES COX in the presence of !-5 SIGNED SEALED and DELIVERED by the said MERVYN HENRY COX in the presence of :-The survey of the set Alter 10 Sugar CONTRACTOR CONTRACTOR OF CONTRACTOR

Appendix C Council Report 1994

	RECOMMENDED that two Councillors and the Library Manager attend the 6th	Anth
	Conference of the Country Public Libraries Association.	and a
163/94	RESOLVED that the recommendation be adopted. (Brennan/G	loese
164/94	RESOLVID that Clrs Gleeson and Robinson attend as Council's delegates. (Fraser/G	olen
	3. AUSTRALIAN COMMONWEALTH GAMES ASSOCIATION (A	CO
	The Chairperson of the ACGA has written to Council seeking financial assistance to that the Australian Team for the Commonwealth Games in Victoria, Canada next is properly prepared and all are able to compete. (Copy of the letter attached. Page	
	Council funds for donations have been closely monitored and all have been fully allow the current 1994 and proposed 1994/95 Budget.	cated
	Should Council wish to make a contribution it would require the voting of additional	fund
	Submitted for Councils determination.	
165/94	RESOLVED that no action be taken on this matter. (Brennan/Cons	
	4. CLASSIFICATION OF COUNCIL LAND	
-	 CLASSIFICATION OF COUNCIL LAND I submitted a report to the March meeting which included a list of Council owner proposed to be classified as `operational lands' within the meaning of Part 2 Chrof the Local Government Act, 1993. 	
	I submitted a report to the March meeting which included a list of Council owner proposed to be classified as `operational lands' within the meaning of Part 2 Cha	apter Iquiri
-	I submitted a report to the March meeting which included a list of Council owner proposed to be classified as `operational lands' within the meaning of Part 2 Ch of the Local Government Act, 1993. The required notice of this proposal was placed in the press and several en received. Upon explanation all people seeking clarification of the action being	apter Iquiri
	I submitted a report to the March meeting which included a list of Council owner proposed to be classified as `operational lands' within the meaning of Part 2 Ch of the Local Government Act, 1993. The required notice of this proposal was placed in the press and several en received. Upon explanation all people seeking clarification of the action being were satisfied.	apter quiri g take
	I submitted a report to the March meeting which included a list of Council owner proposed to be classified as `operational lands' within the meaning of Part 2 Ch of the Local Government Act, 1993. The required notice of this proposal was placed in the press and several en received. Upon explanation all people seeking clarification of the action being were satisfied. Council should now formally adopt the following recommendation.	apter quiri g take

SINGLETON COUNCIL L 186544 Ph. Wambo aside for 1000 sq m Area set insdale/Queen Sts, Jerry's Plains water reservoir 69 .8 CSD astlereagh Street 24.38 x 40.23 Residence 1 22, 23 & Pt 24 Sec 30 Por 11 Ph Milbrodale Gravel Pit 3377 sq m 30m x 30m Fire Shed Por 6 Ph Liebeg 2 DP 737473 Ryan Avenue 193 sg m Road Reserve Lots 17/19 Bathurst Street 32m x 37.33m Senior Citizens Centre 56.69 x IRR 17 Sec 6, 1 Bishopgate Street Residence at 2 DP 543903 2A Boonal Street 158 sq m Sewer Pump Station 10 DP 38049,36 Bourke Street 739.8 sq m Sewer Pump Station Land Bank - North of 203 DP 808641. 27.62 ha Gardner Circuit 6 21 DP 816458 8.838 ha Obanvale Water Treatment Plant 265 DP 39803 Bridgman Road 8263 sq m Road Reserve 20/21 Sec 30 Castlereagh Street 36m x 46m Car Park Lot B 1 Castlereagh Street 5.33m/29.6 x 42m Residence 31 DP 250842 Off Dorsman Drive 4978 sq m Vacant Land 3 DP 263397 400 sq m Water Pump Station Whittingham 1/2 DP 632256, Lots 11/12 4976 sq m Area adjacent to 713109, Lot 10 Pt Lots 7/8 Bridge loading ramp ot 11, Sec 12, 74 George Street 20.12m x 33.91 m Community Centre No. and 10, Pt Lots 7/8/9 High Street Land - adjacent to ramp 735.6 sq m DP 571105 John Street 277.3 sq m R.O.W. unnum.DP 63592, 170 John Street 21.29m x 49m Road (ex O'Leary) 78, 188 John Street 66m x 50.29m **Public Library** OF MINUTES OF ORDINARY MEETING HELD ON 18 APRIL 1994 nen

Appendix D Lease agreements



Form:		LEASE
Releas Licens Licens	ce: 01-05-028	New South Wales AN217272D
Firm n	ame: Local Gov	emment Legal Real Property Act 1900
	required by this	Section 31B of the Real Property Act 1900 (RP Act) authorises the Registrar General to collect the information form for the establishment and maintenance of the Real Property Act Register. Section 96B RP Act requires that nade available to any person for search upon payment of a fee, if any.
	STAMP DUTY	Revenue NSW use only
(A)	TORRENS TITLE	Property leased Part 1/1151446 being the premises known as Community Services Building at 1-3 Bathurst Street, Singleton, NSW 2330
(B)	LODGED BY	Document Name, Address or DX, Telephone, and Customer Account Number if any CODE
		Collection
		SYDNEY LEGAL AGENTS - INFOTRACK 268D LLP: 132579W
		Reference: HUNTER - 421208
(0)	LESSOR	SINGLETON COUNCIL ABN 52 877 492 396
(D) (E)	LESSEE	The lessor leases to the lessee the property referred to above. Encumbrances (if applicable): OURCARE SERVICES LIMITED ACN 156 484 927
(F)		TENANCY:
(G)	1. TERM:	Five (5) years
	2. COMME	ENCING DATE: 1 July 2017
	(E.T	IATING DATE: 30 June 2022
		n OPTION TO RENEW for a period of N.A. set out in
		n OPTION TO PURCHASE set out in clause N.A. of N.A. er with and reserving the RIGHTS set out in clause N.A. of N.A.
	1.1.1	prates the provisions or additional material set out in ANNEXURE(S) A hereto.
		arates the provisions set out in registered LEASE No. AI754722A
	9. The RE	NT is set out in item No. 6 of clause 2 of Annexure A
	/	Amore ander A mall

Planning Proposal - 1-3 Bathurst street Singleton - Post exhibition

DATE: (H) Certified correct for the purposes of the Real Property Act 1900 and executed on behalf of the corporation named below by the authorised person(s) whose signature(s) appears(s) below pursuant to the authority specified. Singleton Council ABN 52 877 492 396 Corporation: Resolution of the Council dated 16 October 2017 Authority: Signature of authorised person Signature of authorised pers Name of authorised person: Susan Rosalie Moore Sason Linnane Name of authorised person Office held: Mayor Office held: General Manager Certified correct for the purposes of the Real Property Act 1900 and executed on behalf of the corporation named below by the authorised person(s) whose signature(s) appears(s) below pursuant to the authority specified. Corporation: Ourcare Services Limited ACN 156 484 927 section 127 of the Corporations Act 2001 Authority: Signature of authorised person: Signature of authorised person Name of authorised person: the Name of authorised person: KON Director RESIDENI Office held: Office held: ctor / Secretary STATUTORY DECLARATION * 0 I solemnly and sincerely declare that-The time for the exercise of option to renew in expired lease No. has ended; and 1. 2 The lessee under that lease has not exercised the option. I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Oaths Act 1900. Made and subscribed at in the State of New South Wales on in the presence of Justice of the Peace (J.P. Number: Practising Solicitor) Other qualified witness [specify] # who certifies the following matters concerning the making of this statutory declaration by the person who made it: 1. I saw the face of the person OR 1 did not see the face of the person because the person was wearing a face covering, but 1 am satisfied that the person had special justification for not removing the covering; and 2. I have known the person for at least 12 months OR I have confirmed the person's identity using the identification document and the document I relied on was a Signature of witness: Signature of applicant: As the services of a qualified witness cannot be provided at lodgment, the declaration should be signed and witnessed prior to lodgment. # If made outside NSW, cross out the witness certification. If made in NSW, cross out the text which does not apply. ** s117 RP Act requires that you must have known the signatory for more than 12 months or have sighted (dentifying documentation, ALL HANDWRITING MUST BE IN BLOCK CAPITALS. Page 2 of 5 1708

			ANNEXURE A
			ANULAUREA
	This page and	the following page is the annexure referred to in the Lease	
	BETWEEN	SINGLETON COUNCIL ABN 52 877 492 396	(Lessor)
	AND	OURCARE SERVICES LIMITED ACN 156 484 927	(Lessee)
	DATED		
	1. Incorpora	tion of Lease Registered No. AI754722A	
	covenants of the Pre	s agree and acknowledge that except as provided for below terms and conditions set out in Annexure 'A' of the Lease Re mises (the ' Provisions ') and the parties are to observe an had been fully set out in length, subject only to the variation	egistered No. AI754722A in respect d perform the Provisions as if the
	2. Variation	of Lease	
		r and Lessee agree that for the purposes of this Lease An A is varied as follows:	nexure 'A' Lease Registered No.
	a. Clause	1.1 – Definitions	
	The de	finition of 'Report' is amended to read as follows:	
		t means the report commissioned by the Lessor at the comm details the state of the Premises'.	encement of Lease No. AI754722A
	b. Clause	10.2 - Repair of Premises	
	Clause	10.2(a)(2)(A) is amended as follows:	
	'at leas	t once every 8 years from the Occupation Date;"	
	c. Item 2	of Schedule 1 'Reference Schedule'	
	The ite	m is deleted and replaced with the following:	
	'Item 2	2: Lessor Name: Singleton Council ABN: 52 877 492 396 Address: 12-14 Queen Street, Singleton, NSW 2330 Email: <u>mgrima@singleton.nsw.gov.au</u> Attention: Megan Grima'	
	d. Item 4	of Schedule 1 'Reference Schedule'	
	The ite	m is deleted and replaced with the following:	Charles
	11		aluther
L	I	Page 3 of 5	Andread
	-20	10000	

1. 'Item 4: Premises **Community Services Building** 1-3 Bathurst Street, Singleton, NSW 2330' e. Item 5 of Schedule 1 'Reference Schedule' The item is deleted and replaced with the following: 'Item 5: Term (a) Five (5) years (b) Commencing Date 1 July 2017 (c) Terminating Date 30 June 2022' f. Item 6 of Schedule 1 'Reference Schedule' The item is deleted and replaced with the following: 'Item 6: Rent \$34,200 + GST per annum, payable at \$2,850 + GST per month' g. Item 7 of Schedule 1 'Reference Schedule' The item is deleted and replaced with the following: 'Item 7: (a) Review Dates (b) Type of Review 1 July 2018 CPI 1 July 2019 1 July 2020 CPI CPI 1 July 2021 CPI' h. Item 9 of Schedule 1 'Reference Schedule' The item is deleted and replaced with the following: 'Item 9: Public liability insurance \$20 Million" # Acontes Adamal. SPMade Page 4 of 5

Attachment 1

• • 4TON COU Certified correct for the purposes of the Real Property Act 1900 SINGL The Common Seal of SINGLETON COUNCIL was hereunto affixed this 13^{40} day of M a_{1} in pursuance of a Resolution of Council Common 2018 dated the 16th day of October 2017 1993 25 Verse Signature of Mayor Signature of General Manager ROJALIE MOORE SUSAN JASON LINNANG Print name of Mayor Print name of General Manager **Executed** by Ourcare Services Limited ACN 156 484 927 in Accordance with section 127 of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) by: lesa the Ant Signature of Director Signature of Director/ Secretary AAVIE CARISTOPHER WALKER KON ALLISON MEDONALL Print name of Director / Secretary Print name of Director Page 5 of 5

Lice	m: ease: ence: ensee: m name:		I Software Pty Lis rument Legal	mited New South Wales Real Property Act 1900	2D
	require	ed by this fo	orm for the esta	the Real Property Act 1900 (RP Act) authorises the Registrar General to collect the ablishment and maintenance of the Real Property Act Register. Section 96B RP Act any person for search upon payment of a fee, if any.	information requires that
		P DUTY	Revenue NSV		
(A)) torri	ENS TITLE	Property leas Part 1/11514 NSW 2330	ed 46 being the premises known as Community Services Building at 1-3 Bathurst S	Street, Singleton,
(B)	LODG	ED BY	Document Collection	Name, Address or DX, Telephone, and Customer Account Number if any	CODE
			Box 268D	SYDNEY LEGAL AGENTS - INFOTRACK LLP: 132579W	1
				Reference: HUNTER - 421208	-
D)			ases to the lessee the property referred to above. es (if applicable):	
	LESS	EE		SERVICES LIMITED ACN 156 484 927	
(E)					
(E) (F)			TENANCY:		
		TERM:	TENANCY: Five (5) yes	ars	
(F)				ars 1 July 2017	
(F)) 1.	COMMENT TERMIN/	Five (5) ye ICING DATE: ATING DATE:	1 July 2017 30 June 2022	
(F)) 1. 2. 3. 4.	COMMEN TERMIN/ With an	Five (5) ye ICING DATE: ATING DATE: OPTION TO RE	I July 2017 30 June 2022 NEW for a period of N.A. set out in	
(F)) 1. 2. 3. 4. 5.	COMMENT TERMIN/ With an With an	Five (5) yes ICING DATE: ATING DATE: OPTION TO RE OPTION TO PU	1 July 2017 30 June 2022 NEW for a period of N.A. set out in IRCHASE set out in clause N.A. of N.A.	
(F)) 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6.	COMMEN TERMIN/ With an With an Together	Five (5) yes ICING DATE: ATING DATE: OPTION TO RE OPTION TO PUT with and reserve	1 July 2017 30 June 2022 NEW for a period of N.A. set-out in IRCHASE set out in clause N.A. of N.A. rving the RIGHTS set out in clause N.A. of N.A.	
(F)) 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7.	COMMEN TERMIN/ With an With an Together Incorpor	Five (5) yes INCING DATE: ATING DATE: OPTION TO RE OPTION TO PU r with and reservates the provision	1 July 2017 30 June 2022 INEW for a period of N.A. set out in IRCHASE set out in clause N.A. of N.A. rving the RIGHTS set out in clause N.A. of N.A. ions or additional material set out in ANNEXURE(S) A hereto.	
(F)) 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6.	COMMEN TERMIN/ With an With an Together Incorpor	Five (5) yes ICING DATE: ATING DATE: OPTION TO RE OPTION TO PU r with and reser ates the provisi ates the provisi	1 July 2017 30 June 2022 NEW for a period of N.A. set-out in IRCHASE set out in clause N.A. of N.A. rving the RIGHTS set out in clause N.A. of N.A.	

ALL HANDWRITING MUST BE IN BLOCK CAPITALS.

Page 1 of 5

1708

Planning Proposal - 1-3 Bathurst street Singleton - Post exhibition

DATE: (H) Certified correct for the purposes of the Real Property Act 1900 and executed on behalf of the corporation named below by the authorised person(s) whose signature(s) appears(s) below pursuant to the authority specified. Corporation: Singleton Council ABN 52 877 492 396 Resolution of the Council dated 16 October 2017 Authority: Signature of authorised person-Signature of authorised pers Rnode Name of authorised person: Susan Rosalie Moore tason Linnane Name of authorised person Office held: Mayor Office held: General Manager Certified correct for the purposes of the Real Property Act 1900 and executed on behalf of the corporation named below by the authorised person(s) whose signature(s) appears(s) below pursuant to the authority specified. Corporation: Ourcare Services Limited ACN 156 484 927 section 127 of the Corporations Act 2001 Authority: Signature of authorised person: Signature of authorised pers Name of authorised person: Name of authorised person: ON Office held: Director Office held: STATUTORY DECLARATION * (1) I solemnly and sincerely declare that-1. The time for the exercise of option to renew in expired lease No. has ended; and 2. The lessee under that lease has not exercised the option. I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Oaths Act 1900. Made and subscribed at in the State of New South Wales on in the presence of Practising Solicitor Justice of the Peace (J.P. Number:) Other qualified witness [specify] # who certifies the following matters concerning the making of this statutory declaration by the person who made it: 1. I saw the face of the person OR I did not see the face of the person because the person was wearing a face covering, but I am satisfied that the person had special justification for not removing the covering; and 2. I have known the person for at least 12 months OR I have confirmed the person's identity using the identification document and the document I relied on was a Signature of witness: Signature of applicant: As the services of a qualified witness cannot be provided at lodgment, the declaration should be signed and witnessed prior to lodgment. # If made outside NSW, cross out the witness certification. If made in NSW, cross out the text which does not apply. ** s117 RP Act requires that you must have known the signatory for more than 12 months or have sighted identifying documentation. ALL HANDWRITING MUST BE IN BLOCK CAPITALS. Page 2 of 5 1708

....

ANNEXURE A

This page and the following page is the annexure referred to in the Lease

BETWEEN	SINGLETON COUNCIL ABN 52 877 492 396	(Lessor)
AND	OURCARE SERVICES LIMITED ACN 156 484 927	(Lessee)

DATED

1. Incorporation of Lease Registered No. A1754722A

The parties agree and acknowledge that except as provided for below this Lease shall be subject to the covenants terms and conditions set out in Annexure 'A' of the Lease Registered No. A1754722A in respect of the Premises (the 'Provisions') and the parties are to observe and perform the Provisions as if the Provisions had been fully set out in length, subject only to the variations contained in clause 2.

2. Variation of Lease

The Lessor and Lessee agree that for the purposes of this Lease Annexure 'A' Lease Registered No. AI754722A is varied as follows:

a. Clause 1.1 - Definitions

The definition of 'Report' is amended to read as follows:

'Report means the report commissioned by the Lessor at the commencement of Lease No. AI754722A which details the state of the Premises'.

b. Clause 10.2 - Repair of Premises

Clause 10.2(a)(2)(A) is amended as follows:

'at least once every 8 years from the Occupation Date;"

c. Item 2 of Schedule 1 'Reference Schedule'

The item is deleted and replaced with the following:

'Item 2: Lessor Name: Singleton Council ABN: 52 877 492 396 Address: 12-14 Queen Street, Singleton, NSW 2330 Email: mgrima@singleton.nsw.gov.au Attention: Megan Grima'

d. Item 4 of Schedule 1 'Reference Schedule'

The item is deleted and replaced with the following:

Auches

Page 3 of 5

2made

٧. 10 'Item 4: Premises Community Services Building 1-3 Bathurst Street, Singleton, NSW 2330' e. Item 5 of Schedule 1 'Reference Schedule' The item is deleted and replaced with the following: 'Item 5: Term (a) Five (5) years (b) Commencing Date 1 July 2017 (c) Terminating Date 30 June 2022' f. Item 6 of Schedule 1 'Reference Schedule' The item is deleted and replaced with the following: 'Item 6: Rent \$34,200 + GST per annum, payable at \$2,850 + GST per month' g. Item 7 of Schedule 1 'Reference Schedule' The item is deleted and replaced with the following: 'Item 7: (a) Review Dates (b) Type of Review 1 July 2018 1 July 2019 CPI CPI 1 July 2020 CPI 1 July 2021 CPI h. Item 9 of Schedule 1 'Reference Schedule' The item is deleted and replaced with the following: 'Item 9: Public liability insurance \$20 Million* der les spmade Page 4 of 5

Attachment 1

Planning Proposal - 1-3 Bathurst street Singleton - Post exhibition

Certified correct for the purposes of the Real Property Act 1900



VASC

Signature of Mayor

Signature of General Manager

SUSAN ROSALIE MOORE

Print name of Mayor

JASON LINNANE

Print name of General Manager

Executed by Ourcare Services Limited ACN 156 484 927 in Accordance with section 127 of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) by:

era lka

Signature of Director

Signature of Director / Secretary

ADVIE COLLISTOPHER WALKER

Print name of Director

KON ALLISON ME DONALL

Print name of Director / Secretary

Page 5 of 5

Planning Proposal - 1-3 Bathurst street Singleton - Post exhibition

528-1 2 07L Leave this space clear. Affix additional Form: LEASE Licence 01-05-028 pages to the top left-hand corner. Licensee: LEAP Legal Software Pty Limited Firm name: Schmidt-Liermann Pty Ltd New South Wales Real Property Act 1900 PRIVACY NOTE: Section 31B of the Real Property Act 1900 (RP Act) authorises the Registrar General to collect the information required by this form for the establishment and maintenance of the Real Property Act Register. Section 96B RP Act requires that the Register is made available to any person for search upon payment of a fee, if any. STAMP DUTY Office of State Revenue use only (A) TORRENS TITLE Property leased Part Lot 1 DP1151446 part being Senior Citizens Centre 1-3 Bathurst Street, Singleton (B) LODGED BY Name, Address or DX, Telephone, and Customer Account Number if any Document CODE Collection Schmidt-Liermann Pty Ltd Box PO Box 146, St Ives NSW 2075 Tel: (02) 8095 7977 Reference: JSL:14/0175/00 (C) LESSOR SINGLETON COUNCIL ABN 52 877 492 693 The lessor leases to the lessee the property referred to above. (D) Encumbrances (if applicable): Senior Citizens Centre Welfare Association Incorporated ABN 48 021 959 793 (E) LESSEE (F) TENANCY: I. TERM: 5 YEARS (G) 2. COMMENCING DATE: 28/01/2015 3. TERMINATING DATE: 22/01/2020 4. With an OPTION TO RENEW for a period of N/A 5. With an OPTION TO PURCHASE set out in clause N/A of 6. Together with and reserving the RIGHTS set out in clause N/A of 7. Incorporates the provisions or additional material set out in ANNEXURE(\$) "A" hereto. 8. Incorporates the provisions set out in N/A No. 9. The RENT is set out in clause No 2 of Annexure A Attanad Da. martin win ALL HANDWRITING MUST BE IN BLOCK C Page 1 of 22

.

DATE:	
Certified correct for the purposes of the Real Property Act 1900 and executed on behalf of the corporation named below by the authorised person(s) whose signature(s) appears(s) below pursuant to the authority specified.	
Corporation: Singleton Council Authority:	
Signature of authorised person:	Signature of authorised person:
Name of authorised person: Office held:	Name of authorised person: See Execution clause Annexure A Office held:
Certified correct for the purposes of the Real Property Act 1900 and executed on behalf of the corporation named below by the authorised person(s) whose signature(s) appears(s) below pursuant to the authority specified.	
Corporation:	
Authority: Signature of authorised person:	Signature of authorised person:
Name of authorised person: Office held:	Name of authorised person: See Execution clause Annexure A
	Office neid:
STATUTORY DECLARATION *	
solemnly and sincerely declare that-	
1. The time for the exercise of option to renew in expired lease	No. has ended;
2. The lessee under that lease has not exercised the option.	
I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same	to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the
Oaths Act 1900.	
Made and subscribed at in	the State of New South Wales on
in the presence	of
Justice of the Peace (J.P. Number:)	Practising Solicitor
Other qualified witness [specify]	
# who certifies the following matters concerning the making of thi	is statutory declaration by the person who made it:
1. I saw the face of the person OR I did not see the face of the	person because the person was wearing a face
covering, but I am satisfied that the person had special justifi	cation for not removing the covering; and
2. I have known the person for at least 12 months OR I have o	onfirmed the person's identity using the
identification document and the document I relied on was a	
Signature of witness: Sign	ature of :
 As the services of a qualified witness cannot be provided at prior to lodgment. # If made outside NSW, cross out the wit which does not apply. 	

.

This is the annexure "A" referred to in the Lease between Singleton Council ABN 52 877 492 396 ("Lessor") and Singleton Senior Citizens Centre Welfare Association Incorporated ABN 48 021 959 793 ("Lessee")

Dated	the day of	2014	
1	DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRE	TATIONS	
2	RENT		1
3.	RENT REVIEW - CPI		1
4	PAYMENT OF OUTGOINGS		
5.	OTHER PAYMENTS		
6.	USE OF THE PREMISES		
7.	LESSOR'S COVENANT AND R	ESERVATIONS	1
8.	REPAIRS		
9.	AIRCONDITIONING		1
10	RIGHT OF ENTRY		1
11.	DEALINGS WITH THE INTERE	ST OF PARTIES UNDER THIS LEASE	1
12	INSURANCE		1
13.	DEFAULT		1
14.	INDEMNITY		1
15	DAMAGE		1
16	RIGHTS ON EXPIRY OR TERM	INATION	1
17.	RULES AND REGULATIONS		1
18.	POWER OF ATTORNEY		1
19.	NOTICE		1
20.	DISPUTE RESOLUTION		1
21.	ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF CO	UNCIL CONTRIBUTION	1
22	REPORTING		1
23.	GENERAL		1
24.	GST		1

Oliver of Goodwin atternost 3 Ja. mart.

3===

1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATIONS

1.1. In this Agreement unless the contrary intention appears:

Accounting Period means either the calendar or financial year on which basis the Lessor's accounts are kept.

Associate has the meaning given to that term in the Corporations Law.

Building means the building known as the Senior Citizens Centre located on the Land and any other building and/or structures owned or controlled by the Lessor in connection with the Building existing now or which may be erected after the Commencing Date.

GST has the meaning given to it in A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999 (CWealth).

Increases in Lessor's Outgoings means the increases in the aggregate of the Lessor's Outgoings in an Accounting Period from that of the previous Accounting Period.

Item refers to the item in the Reference Schedule being the item number identified in the relevant clause.

Land means the whole of the land in the Certificate(s) of Title referred to on the cover page of this Lease.

Lessee includes the Lessee referred to on the cover page of this Lease and its approved assigns and where appropriate its employees, agents, contractors and invitees.

Lessee's Property means all the Lessee's fixtures, goods, plant and equipment brought on to the Premises.

Lessor includes the Lessor referred to on the cover page of this Lease and its assigns and where appropriate its employees and agents.

Lessor's Outgoings means the statutory outgoings, costs and expenses assessed, charged, imposed, levied, paid or payable by the Lessor in relation to the Building or the Premises and specified to include any council rates and charges, water and sewerage rates and charges as well as garbage services to the Premises.

Maintenance Schedule means the maintenance schedule of this Lease setting out the parties' additional maintenance obligations.

Policy means Council's "Lease of Council land and Building to Not For Profit Organisations" policy, being document No. 25041.1 as amended from time to time and includes and any document replacing the same.

Premises means the Property Leased referred to on the cover page of this Lease and the Lessor's fixtures, goods, plant and equipment in, on or affixed to the Property Leased.

Sindeton

4

Sec. 1
Redecorate includes repainting, revarnishing, repapering and recarpeting to the reasonable satisfaction of the Lessor, all parts of the Premises which were painted, varnished, papered or carpeted at the Commencing Date.

Reference Schedule means the Reference Schedule of this Lease.

Term means the Term referred to on the cover page of this Lease and any holding over period under this Lease.

- The implied covenants and powers otherwise implied by virtue of Section 84 and 85 of the Conveyancing Act 1919 are expressly negatived.
- 1.3. In this Lease;
 - (a) words denoting the singular include plural and vice versa, and
 - (b) headings are for convenience only and do not affect interpretation.
- 1.4. If, under the provisions of this Lease or under any notice or demand served pursuant to the provisions of this Lease anything is required to be done on a day which is not a business day, then the day for compliance is deemed to be the business day immediately following that day.
- 1.5. If either under the common law or by force of legislation, any provision of this Lease is or becomes legally ineffective then that provision is to be severed from the Lease which is otherwise to remain effective.
- 1.6. The provisions of this Lease are governed by and to be construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New South Wales.
- 1.7. This Lease contains the whole of the agreement between the Lessor and the Lessee relating to the Premises and the lease of the Premises by the Lessor to the Lessee except to the extent of any inconsistency with the Policy.

2 RENT

- 2.1. The Lessee must pay to the Lessor, without deduction or set-off, the Annual Rent specified in Item 1 (Rent) (as adjusted) annually in advance in cleared funds as directed by the Lessor in writing.
- 2.2. The Rent in the first year of the Lease is payable on the execution of this Lease and is payable thereafter annually within 14 days of written notification by the Lessor to the Lessee of the amount of the Rent payable calculated pursuant to clause 3 below.

3. RENT REVIEW - CPI

3.1. The Rent will be reviewed on each Review Date specified in Item 2, to an amount represented by A in the following formula:

5

A=BxC

Sindeton

D Where: B = the Rent payable immediately before the Review Date; C = the Consumer Price Index ("the Index") (Sydney - All Groups) Number ("the CPI Number") as issued by the Australian Bureau of Statistics ("ABS") for the last quarter before the Review Date; and D = the CPI Number for the same quarter ending twelve (12) months before the Review Date. If the Index is discontinued then, for the purposes of this clause, the CPI Number is to be the CPI Number of the price index which replaces the index or, if there is no substitute then of any price index kept by the ABS which the Lessor may select at its absolute discretion ("the New Index") to which the Lessor may make the appropriate arithmetical adjustment for differences between the Index and the New Index, if required. 32 The Rent determined in accordance with this clause must not be lower than the Rent payable immediately prior to the Review Date. 4 PAYMENT OF OUTGOINGS 4.1 The Lessee is to pay for separately metered services to the Premises including but not limited to telephone, gas and electricity. The Lessee must pay to the Lessor the percentage specified in Item 3 of the 42 Lessor's Outgoings, in respect of the Premises in the same manner as Rent is paid under clause 2 43 The Lessor must make available to the Lessee a written expenditure statement of the actual Lessor's Outgoings, or the actual Increases in Lessor's Outgoings, for each six (6) month period of each Accounting Period, within one (1) month of the end of the relevant period. The Lessor must give the Lessee a written report of the actual Lessor's Outgoings. 44 or Increases in Lessor's Outgoings for each Accounting Period ("the Report") within three (3) months of the end of the relevant period and if the Report relates to water. sewerage and drainage charges and local council rates and charges, then the Lessor must provide copies of all relevant documentation to support the imposition of the Lessor's Outgoings if requested by the Lessee. If the Lessor's estimate of Lessor's Outgoings or Increases in Lessor's Outgoings is 4.5 different to the actual Lessor's Outgoings or Increases in Lessor's Outgoings, paid during an Accounting Period then the parties must make an appropriate adjustment within one (1) month of the date when the Lessor provides to the Lessee a statement itemising the actual Lessor's Outgoings or Increases in Lessor's Outgoings.

Sindeton



5. OTHER PAYMENTS

The Lessee must also pay to the Lessor:

- 5.1. 50% of the Lessor's reasonable legal costs and disbursements in connection with the preparation of this Lease;
- 5.2. the registration fee for the registration of this Lease at Land and Property Information New South Wales applicable at the time of registration being an amount of \$107 for the financial year ending on the 30 June 2015;
- 5.3. interest on any money payable by the Lessee to the Lessor if more than fourteen (14) days overdue at the rate prescribed from time to time under Section 101 of the Civil Procedure Act, 2005 (as amended) or any succeeding legislation, at the date of demand, from the due date to the date of payment;
- 5.4. the Lessor's reasonable legal costs and disbursements of considering any application by the Lessee for Lessor's consent (whether or not given) and on any surrender of the Lease;
- 5.5. the Lessor's costs and disbursements, calculated on an indemnity basis, in connection with a default by the Lessee under this Lease including, but not limited to, enforcement costs;
- 5.6. at the same time as rent and other payments hereunder are payable under this Lease, any GST payable or collectable by the Lessor as a result of the imposition on the Lessee of the obligation to pay rent and such other payments under this Lease.

6 USE OF THE PREMISES

- 6.1. The Lessor makes no warranty as to the suitability of the Premises for the Use of the Premises specified in Item 5.
- 6.2. The Lessee must at its own cost.
 - use the Premises only for the Use of the Premises specified in Item 5 during the Permitted Hours of Use specified in Item 4;
 - (b) provide reasonable access to the Premises for members of the community;
 - (c) comply with all laws and requirements of any relevant authority regulating the Use of the Premises including obtaining (and where relevant maintaining) any required consent(s) or license(s);
 - (d) keep the Premises clean and free of pest and vermin;
 - (e) notify the Lessor as soon as practicable of any contagious illnesses or structural defects requiring the urgent attention of the Lessor; and
 - (f) take all reasonable steps to secure the Premises against unlawful entry.

Sindeton

- (g) provide and maintain to the satisfaction of the Lessor or any relevant authority all improvements and all entrances and exits, roads, parking for vehicles, water, light and drainage connections, fencing, street and vehicle park lighting, railway facilities and other services and facilities as may be reasonably necessary for the performance by the Lessee of its obligations under this Lease or for the purposes for which the Lessee has entered into this lease.
- 6.3. The Lessee must not do anything in relation to the Premises which in the reasonable opinion of the Lessor is:
 - (a) annoying, offensive or dangerous to other occupiers of the Building, the Land or to the owners or occupiers of land or buildings in the vicinity of the Premises;
 - (b) illegal; and/or
 - (c) liable to void any insurance in respect of the Premises or the Building or increase any insurance premium.
- 6.4. The Lessee must not
 - use the toilet, sinks and drainage for any purpose other than that for which they were constructed;
 - (b) hold any auction, bankrupt, liquidation or fire sale on the Premises;
 - (c) overload the floors, walls or any service to the Premises.
 - (d) without the consent of the Lessor (which consent will not be withheld unreasonably):
 - (i) alter or carry out works to the Premises;
 - (ii) erect signs, notices, advertisements within or upon the Premises:
 - (iii) play music or operate loud speakers; and
 - gain access to the Premises or any part of it except by those entrances and exits provided by the Lessor.

7 LESSOR'S COVENANT AND RESERVATIONS

- 7.1. So long as the Lessee is not in breach of this Lease and subject to the rights of entry reserved under this Lease, the Lessee may occupy the Premises for the Term without interruption or disturbance by the Lessor.
- 7.2. The Lessor reserves the right to:
 - use the roof and/or external walls of the Building, including for the purposes of erecting and displaying advertisements and other signs;

Sindeton

- (b) pass services through, over, under or around the Premises and to access the Premises for the purpose of installing, maintaining, repairing and/or replacing those services;
- deal with the Land including, but not limited to, the granting of easements or covenants;
- (d) convert the title of the Land to Strata Title or to subdivide the Land by way of a stratum subdivision;
- (e) carry out any building work to the Building or on the Land:

and the Lessee must do all that is reasonably necessary to enable the Lessor to exercise the rights reserved in this sub-clause including, but not limited to, the signing of consents.

7.3. In exercising any of its rights pursuant to clause 7.2 the Lessor must first consult with the Lessee as to the manner in which that right is or those rights are to be exercised, and in exercising any such rights must take reasonable endeavours to minimise any disruption which may be caused by the exercise of that right or those rights to the Lessee's business operation.

8. REPAIRS

- 8.1. The Lessor must
 - (a) use all reasonable endeavours to maintain essential services, if any, supplied to the Premises by the Lessor but will not be liable to the Lessee for any failure in essential services whatsoever, unless caused by the negligence, wilful act or omission of the Lessor; and
 - (b) subject to clauses 8.2 and 8.3, maintain in a structurally sound condition the Premises and the Building.
- 8.2. The Lessee must
 - (a) keep the Premises in a good state of repair (fair wear and tear excepted) having regard to its condition as at the Commencing Date and comply with any notice served on the Lessee by the Lessor requiring the Lessee to carry out any repairs being the responsibility of the Lessee within, fourteen (14) days of the date of service;
 - (b) maintain and repair all locks, doors, hinges, windows and window frames;
 - (c) keep all drains and pipes unblocked;
 - (d) keep clean all eaves of the Building:
 - (e) replace blocked drains and pipes, missing or damaged wall and floor tiles, spent light globes, broken power points and faulty hot water systems, toilet pans, taps and door furniture;

Sindeton

- replace any part of the Premises that wears out or breaks down and cannot be repaired other than the items that the Lessor must replace as specified in the Maintenance Scheulde;
- (g) maintain all external surfaces of the Premises, including painting, maintaining pathways, fences, car parks and any brickwork;
- (h) maintain all building services including water supply, gas, sewerage and electrical);
- maintain the external grounds to the Premises including all landscape features and external furniture (if any);
- maintain any specialist ground surfaces and equipment such as playground equipment and synthetic surfaces;
- (k) maintain the timber flooring within the Premises in a good condition; and
- Redecorate the Premises on the dates specified in Item 6.
- 8.3. Notwithstanding the provisions of clause 8.1(b), the Lessee must:
 - (a) perform any structural work required to the Premises arising from the Use of the Premises (and following damage caused by a negligent or wilful act or omission of the Lessee) at the Lessee's cost but only in accordance with the written directions of the Lessor, and must not otherwise perform any structural works.
 - (b) When applying for the Lessors consent to structural alterations the Lessee must submit drawings and specifications prepared by a qualified consultant approved by the Lessor. The Lessor can require:
 - the alterations to be promptly carried out only by contractors and tradespeople approved by the Lessor using materials of the type, colour and size as the Lessor reasonably requires; and
 - (ii) the Lessee to submit to the Lessor, within 14 days after completion of the alterations, works as executed plans of the alterations prepared by the approved consultant.
 - (c) The Lessee must pay all costs of the alterations including consultants' fees.
- 8.4. For the avoidance of doubt any structural works undertaken by the Lessee at the cost of the Lessee pursuant to clause 8.3, will constitute a capital improvement of the Premises and ownership of the same will vest in the Lessor subject to the Lessee assuming responsibility for the maintenance and repair of the same during the Term.
- 8.5. The parties' maintenance obligations are further described in the Maintenance Schedule and each party undertakes to meets its maintenance obligations as described in the Maintenance Schedule.

vinction

(f)

9. AIRCONDITIONING

- 9.1. If the airconditioning (if any) of the Premises is:
 - (a) by a ducted system which services all or part of the Building ("the Airconditioning System"), then the Lessor will be responsible for the maintenance of the Airconditioning System for the purposes of clause 8.1(a): or
 - (b) by a mobile or fixed unit which services the Premises only ("the Airconditioning Unit"), then the Lessee will be responsible for the maintenance of the Airconditioning Unit for the purposes of sub-clause 8.2(a).

10. RIGHT OF ENTRY

- 10.1. The Lessor may enter the Premises.
 - (a) at all reasonable times, on first providing reasonable notice:
 - (i) to perform any obligation of the Lessor under this Lease;
 - (ii) to inspect the Premises; and
 - (iii) to show the Premises to prospective purchasers and/or lessees and in this regard to erect "For Sale" signs at any time and "To Let" signs no earlier than six (6) months before the "Terminating Date".
 - (b) at any time:
 - (i) in the case of an emergency; or
 - (ii) to rectify any default by the Lessee including, but not limited to, any failure by the Lessee to comply with a notice served under clause 8.2(a), the cost of which rectification will become immediately payable by the Lessee to the Lessor.

11 DEALINGS WITH THE INTEREST OF PARTIES UNDER THIS LEASE

- 11.1. The Lessor may assign or transfer its interest under this Lease to any third party, at any time, at which time the Lessor will be released from any obligation to the Lessee under this Lease.
- 11.2. The Lessee must not sub-let, grant a license or concession in respect of, or part with possession of any part of the Premises, or transfer, assign, mortgage, charge or otherwise encumber the Lessee's interest under this Lease without the written consent of the Lessor which consent may be withheld at the Lessor's absolute discretion acting reasonably and otherwise in accordance with the Policy.

Sind<u>ton</u>

For the purposes of this clause, the Lessee, if a company, is deemed to have 11.3 transferred or assigned its interest where there has been an effective change in the ownership and/or control of the Lessee. INSURANCE 12 12.1. The Lessee must effect and maintain the following insurances in respect of the Premises (a) Public and products liability insurance in an amount for each accident or incident, not less than the sum specified in Item 7, or such other sum as the Lessor may specify by notice in writing to the Lessee; (b) damage or destruction from any cause to or of the Lessor's improvements and contents for their full insurable value (as reasonably determined from time to time by the Lessor) but not including the Building); (C) plate glass; (d) workers compensation covering all workers with a common law extension or endorsement in an amount approved by the Lessor; loss of the Lessee's goods, fixtures and fittings as a result of burglary for the (e) full insurable value of those items (Contents Insurance); and (f) any other insurance reasonably required by the Lesson 12.2 The Lessor can from time to time specify a reasonable value for the purpose of clause 12.1(b) by notice given to the Lessee. The Lessee must produce to the Lessor evidence of the currency of the insurances 12.3 effected in accordance with clause 12.1, annually or on demand. 12.4 The insurance policies effected pursuant to this clause must note the interest of the Lessor in the insurance so effected or be in the joint names of the Lessor and the Lessee. 12.5 The policy referred to in clause 121(a) must cover the Lessor and the Lessee and their employees, agents and invitees The Lessee must not terminate a policy in clause 12.1 without giving the Lessor at 12.6. least 14 days' prior notice The Lessee must allow the Lessor, by payment of the premium, to maintain the 12.7 policy if the Lessee fails to do so. 12.8 If the Lessor pays any insurance premium which the Lessee has failed to pay, the Lessor can recover the amount of the premium from the Lessee as a debt in any court of competent jurisdiction. The Lessee may seek to insure the Building and if it does so the Lessor may provide 12.9 an offset for the cost of insurance against the Rent. Sinckton 12

13. DEFAULT

- 13.1. The Lessor may terminate this Lease and/or take or demand possession of the Premises if:
 - (a) the Lessee repudiates the Lease.
 - (b) the Lessee breaches an Essential Term of this Lease as defined under subclause 13.2.
 - (c) the Lessee fails to comply with a term of this Lease which is not an Essential Term, where the failure to comply.
 - can be remedied but is not remedied within a reasonable time of receipt of a written request from the Lessor;
 - (ii) cannot be remedied but can be compensated for and the Lessee fails to pay compensation within a reasonable time of a request for compensation; or
 - (iii) cannot be remedied or compensated for, or
 - (d) a receiver, receiver and manager, administrator, provisional liquidator or liquidator is appointed in respect of the Lessee or any of its property.
- 13.2. "Essential Term" includes:
 - Clause 2 the payment of Rent within fourteen (14) days (even if late payment is accepted);
 - (b) Clause 4 the payment of Outgoings:
 - (c) Clause 6 the Use of the Premises;
 - (d) Clause 8 the Lessee's obligation to effect repairs to the Premises;
 - (e) Clause 11 the provisions relating to dealings with the Lessee's interest under this Lease; and
 - (f) Clause 12 the Lessee's obligations to effect and maintain policies of insurance.
- 13.3. In the case of a breach by the Lessee of an Essential Term then, in addition to the rights of the Lessor under clause 13.1, the Lessor can recover damages for any loss suffered in respect of the Term, subject to any obligation on the Lessor to mitigate such loss.
- 13.4. If the Lessee is in default under this Lease including the breach of an Essential Term, then any demand of or acceptance from the Lessee by the Lessor of any late payment of Rent, percentage of Lessor's Outgoings or Increases in Lessor's Outgoings or any other money due by the Lessee to the Lessor under this Lease does not:

Sindeton

-13

Include the lower states when and the

- (a) constitute a waiver of the Lessee's obligations to make these or any future payments; or
- (b) prevent the Lessor from exercising its rights under this Lease, including of enforcement and termination.

14. INDEMNITY

- 14.1. The Lessee indemnifies the Lessor in respect of:
 - (a) any liability or loss arising out of and any costs incurred at any time whatsoever as a result (directly or indirectly) of a breach of any term or condition of this Lease by the Lessee; and
 - (b) any claim, demand or liability for any loss or damage to anything or any injury to or death of any person occurring on or near the Premises, unless caused by the negligence or a wilful act or omission of the Lessor
- 14.2. The Lessee occupies, uses and keeps the Premises at the risk of the Lessee and releases, to the extent permitted by Law the Lessor, the Lessor's employees and agents from any liability or obligation to the Lessee (or any person claiming through the Lessee) in respect of any accident, damage, loss (including financial loss), death, injury, costs or expenses occurring in, or outside, the Premises arising by reason of the grant of this Lesse, or out of or in connection with the possession or use of the Premises by the Lessee unless caused by the negligence or wilful act or omission of the Lessor.
- 14.3. The Lessor is not liable for any injury or damage arising from the overflow or leaking of water supply or rainwater into the property or arising from any defects in the gas. electricity, telephone, water or sewerage connections or any fittings or appliance used in conjunction with those connections.
- 14.4. The provisions of this clause will continue to apply notwithstanding the expiry or earlier termination of this Lease.

15. DAMAGE

- 15.1. If the Premises are damaged the Lessee is not liable to pay to the Lessor Rent or other money otherwise payable under this Lease (or a proportion of Rent or other money otherwise payable under this Lease) attributable to any period in which the Premises cannot be used or are inaccessible due to that damage, unless that damage was caused by the negligence or a wilful act or omission of the Lessee.
- 15.2. If the Lessor notifies the Lessee in writing that it does not intend to repair the damage to the Premises, either party may terminate this Lease by seven (7) days' notice in writing.
- 15.3 If the Lessor fails to repair the Premises within a reasonable time of the Lessee requesting it to do so in writing, the Lessee may terminate this Lease by seven (7) days' notice in writing.

Sindston

15.4. The provisions of sub-clause 15.1 do not prevent the Lessor from recovering any loss or damages from the Lessee in respect of any damage to which this clause applies.

16. RIGHTS ON EXPIRY OR TERMINATION

- 16.1. If, with the consent of the Lessor, the Lessee remains on the Premises after the Termination Date, the Lessee will do so on a monthly tenancy on the same terms and conditions of this Lease (Monthly Tenancy) which may be terminated by either party by one (1) months' notice in writing.
- 16.2. Under the Monthly Tenancy the Lessee must pay the same Rent and percentage of Lessor's Outgoings or percentage of Increases in Lessor's Outgoings in the same manner as was payable immediately prior to the expiration or termination of this Lease.
- 16.3. If on expiry or termination of this Lease the Lessee does not become a tenant under clause 16, then the Lessee must vacate the Premises and remove the Lessee's Property from the Premises.
- 16.4. If the Lessee fails to remove the Lessee's Property in accordance with the requirements of this clause, it becomes the property of the Lessor who may keep it or dispose of it and recover from the Lessee the cost of such removal or disposal.

17. RULES AND REGULATIONS

- 17.1. The Lessor may from time to time promulgate rules and regulations not inconsistent with or in derogation of the rights of the Lessee hereunder relating to:
 - (a) the use safety care and cleanliness of the Premises or the Land:
 - (b) the preservation of good order therein;
 - (c) the comfort of persons lawfully using the same:
 - (d) the location and storage of garbage and refuse pending its removal;
 - the policing and regulating of traffic and the parking of motor vehicles on the Premises or the Land;
 - (f) the external appearance of the Premises and the Land.

Any such rules and regulations not inconsistent with or in derogation of the rights of the Lessee may from time to time be repealed amended or added to at the discretion of the Lessor and upon notice in writing thereof under the hand of the Lessor or its authorised agent being given to the Lessee shall be and become as binding upon the Lessee as if the same were expressly set forth herein as covenants on the part of the Lessee.

Sindeson

) arrist arrest



- 18.1. The Lessee appoints the Lessor as the Lessee's attorney.
- 18.2. This power of attorney is:
 - (a) irrevocable by the Lessee:
 - (b) granted by the Lessee for valuable consideration to secure performance of the Lessee's Obligations under this Lease and the Lessor's proprietary interest as Lessor; and
 - (c) exercisable by the Lessor when the Lessee is in default under this Lease.
- 18.3. This Power of Attorney is limited to permit the Lessor to take any action to protect the Lessor's interest under this Lease and in the Building, the Premises and the Land and to comply with any obligations of the Lessee under this Lease.

19. NOTICE

- 19.1. A notice given by one party to another must be in writing and is properly given if it is:
 - (a) left at the other parties address;
 - (b) sent by pre-paid mail to that other party's address; or
 - (c) transmitted by facsimile to that other party'
- 19.2. A notice given to a party in accordance with this clause is treated as having been received by a party:
 - (a) when delivered (if left at that party's address);
 - (b) on the second business day after posting (if sent by pre-paid mail); or
 - (c) on confirmation of correct transmission, if transmitted, by facsimile
- 19.3. Each party's address and facsimile number is the address and facsimile number of that party specified in Item 8 or such address and facsimile number notified by that party to the other party from time to time.

20. DISPUTE RESOLUTION

- 20.1. All disputes or differences arising out of this Lease will be resolved in accordance with this clause 20, unless.
 - (a) a party is seeking urgent interlocutory relief or a remedy where a delay in commencing proceedings in Court could prejudice the party's entitlement to seek that remedy.

Sinckton

- (b) an incident has arisen that requires urgent resolution which mediation might not resolve; or
- (c) the process in the remainder of this clause 20 has been exhausted.

20.2 Notice of Dispute

Either party may at any time, notify the other party in writing that there is a dispute or difference concerning any matter in this Lease. That Notice must:

- (a) identify the subject matter of the dispute;
- (b) identify the relevant provisions of this Lease;
- annex copies of any correspondence, or background material and information relevant to that dispute; and
- (d) contain any particulars of quantification of the dispute.
- 20.3. Parties to Confer

The parties must, within twenty-one (21) days of the service of the Notice, meet in an attempt to discuss, and to reach a mutually acceptable decision, on the matter of the dispute.

20.4. Referral to Mediation

łf:

- (a) the matter in dispute is not settled within ten (10) business days of the meeting referred to in the preceding paragraph, or such later date as the parties may agree; or
- (b) either party refuses to attend a meeting in accordance with clause 20.3; then
- (c) the difference or dispute must be the subject of a mediation administered by the Australian Commercial Dispute Centre (ACDC) conducted and held in accordance with the mediation rules of the ACDC in force at the time of the appointment of a mediator.
- 20.5. The mediator will be appointed:
 - (a) by the parties, from a panel suggested by the ACDC within twenty-eight (28) days of the referral of the difference or dispute for mediation; or
 - (b) if a mediator is not appointed by agreement within that period, by the Secretary-General of the ACDC at the request of either party.
- 20.6. The costs of and associated with formal mediation before a mediator under this clause are to be paid by the parties to the mediation in such proportions as they may agree among themselves or, failing agreement. in equal shares.

Sindatun



21.1 The Lessee agrees to acknowledge any contribution of the Lessor to the Lessee including without limitation any contribution by way of subsidy of Rent in the Lessee's annual report, other publications and as part of any advertising and community event.

22. REPORTING

- 22.1. The Lessee agrees to report annually to the Lessor on key performance indicators relating to the Use of the Premises and the Lessee's activities in such format and detail as reasonably requested by the Lessor.
- 22.2. The Lessee agrees to allow the Lessor to undertake an annual inspection of the Premises on reasonable notice.

23 GENERAL

23.1 Entire Agreement

This Lease is the entire agreement between the parties on the subject matter. All representations, communications and prior agreements with respect of the subject matter are merged in, and superseded by, this Lease.

23.2. Survival Indemnities

Each indemnity in this Lease is a continuing obligation, which is independent from the other obligations of the indemnifying party, and which survives termination of this Lease.

23.3. No Waiver

No failure or delay by another party in exercising any right, power or remedy under this Lease will operate as a waiver of any breach of default by the other party. A single, or partial, exercise of any right, power or remedy does not prevent any further, or other, exercise of any right power or remedy.

23.4 Agent

The Lessor may by notice in writing appoint any person to act as its agent in relation to all or any of the rights and functions of the Lessor under this Lease.

24 GST

If GST or similar value added tax is imposed on any supply under or in accordance with this Lease, the amount payable for that supply is increased by the amount of that GST. The party seeking payment must provide a GST tax invoice (or any other

Nindetion

General

thing required under any legislation) in the form required, and in the time provided for, by the relevant legislation.

19

sinderon

REFERENCI	- mar -
	ESCHEDULE
ITEM 1	ANNUAL RENT (Clause 2)
	Nominal Rent Category being an amount of \$458.00 plus GST
ITEM 2	REVIEW DATE(S) - CPI (Sub-Clause 3.1(a))
	Annually- on anniversary of commencement date
ITEM 3	PERCENTAGE OF LESSOR'S OUTGOINGS (Clause 4)
	50%
ITEM 4	Hours of Use (Sub-Clause 1.1(a))
	Specified as normal business hours
	And otherwise as determined in accordance with clause $5.3.6$ (i) of the Policy
ITEM 5	USE OF THE PREMISES (Clause 6)
	For use as a Not For Profit Senior Citizens Centre including activities ordinarily associated with such a use including the administration and management of the same.
TEM 6	DATES FOR REDECORATION (Sub-Clause 8.2(c))
	3 months prior to the Terminating Date
TEM 7	PUBLIC LIABILITY INSURANCE (Clause 12)
	\$10 million
TEM 8	ADDRESS FOR SERVICE OF NOTICES
	Lessor:
	12-14 Queen Street, Singleton, NSW 2330
	Lessee:
	PO Box 564, SINGLETON NSW 2330

Wolfier J. Goodwin astrant. Ja. mart.

.

MAINTENANCE SCHEDULE

Facility Component	SSCWA Responsibility	SC Responsibility
Building shell erected by Council		Full Maintenance
External surfaces, including painting, pathways, fences, car parks, brickwork	Maintain	Replace
Fixtures/Fittings (toilet pans, taps, door furniture, lights, hot water service)	Maintain as per Clause 8.2	Replace
Interior Surfaces (painting, carpet, tiling, windows, timber flooring)	Maintain	Replace
Building Services (water supply, gas, sewerage, electrical)	Maintain	Replace
Essential Services		Full Maintenance
Routine Services (gutter cleans, pest control)	Maintain/Repair	
Grounds (landscape features, external furniture)	Full maintenance	
Existing trees and gardens	Full maintenance	

sinderion

bolives filgoodevin assessed Jamontin

____21

Planning Proposal - 1-3 Bathurst street Singleton - Post exhibition

EXECUTION

For the Lessor

The COMMON SEAL of Singleton Council was hereunto affixed on the 23 rd day of January 2015 in pursuance of a resolution of the Council passed on the 13th day of October 2014 and affixed in the

presence of: the h GENERAL MANAGER

Name of General Manager Acting

Ja. mar Signature of MAYOR

ON CU

1993

 T_{2}

Name of Mayor

For the Lessee

Signed by Singleton Senior Citizens Centre Welfare Association Incorporated in accordance with Section 22 of the Associations Incorporations Act 2009 (NSW) by its authorised signatories and in the presence of:

Welivor

Signature of Authorised Signatory

WILLIAM OLIVER Name of Authorised Signatory [BLOCK LETTERS] Signature of Authorised Signatory

MALAN HARRED

Name Director Authorised Signatory [BLOCK LETTERS]

Sinckton

. .

SPECIAL MEETING HELD WITH SINGLETON COUNCIL ON TUESDAY 28TH OCTOBER 2014

DRAFT OF LEASE AGREEMENT.

Singleton Council members consisting of Anthony Egan, Larissa Bourke, Richard Upston and Cynthia Mulholland, met with the management committee today 28th October as requested, to discuss the following issues in the lease agreement.

- 1. Rent review
- 2. Payment of \$107 annual fee or 1 off.
- 3. Repairs responsibility.

Rent of the centre will be adjusted according to CPI. To commence at \$458 pa, when both parties sign the lease. The payment of \$107 is a 1 off payment for legal fees.

Minor maintenance will be the responsibility of the Centre and an individual costing will be done on each repair. All replacements are the responsibility of Singleton Council. The large central Air Conditioner will be the responsibility of the Council and the 3 sm Air

Conditioners will be maintained by the Centre. Singleton Council will maintain and replace the Cool Room, as it is deemed part of the structure of the building.

The Centre will be fully responsible for Electricity, Gas and Water (which is shared with Ourcare at present). Singleton Council will pay 50% of rates and garbage and will pay the Insurance on the building and has requested a copy of our Public Liability Insurance. Council Informed us that there is an ABN Register with Aust Govt Listings.

The Council has stated that it does not intend to change the name of the Centre and has no idea where the information came from, that the Argus printed in their newspaper.

The payment of the Inspection fee of \$123 per month, which the Centre is now paying, was queried with the Council. They were quite unaware that we were being charged for an inspection after the cleaning was done each week. They will speak to Jan Sattler who has the contract for cleaning at the council.

The Singleton Council has agreed to meet the cost of the cleaning of the Centre on 28th October when it reopened.

Cynthia Mulholland requested time to speak with us re ideas for the Centre for next year to bring in more members. It was decided to leave this till the first committee meeting next year as there was very little time left to fit the meeting in this year.

Secretary- Janice J. Goodwin astance Treasure

Ja. mart.

Appendix E Traffic and Parking Assessment



RECLASSIFICATION OF COUNCIL LAND SENIOR CITIZENS CENTRE & ADJOINING OFFICES

LOT 1 DP 1151446 1-3 BATHURST STREET, SINGLETON

PREPARED FOR: SINGLETON COUNCIL

AMENDED MAY 2021



Traffic and Parking Assessment – 1 – 3 Bathurst Street, Singleton – Singleton Council

20/041

TRAFFIC & PARKING ASSESSMENT SINGLETON COUNCIL

RECLASSIFICATION OF LAND – SENIOR CITIZENS HALL & ADJOINING OFFICES LOT 1 DP 1151446 1 -3 BATHURST STREET, SINGLETON

Intersect Traffic Pty Ltd (ABN: 43 112 606 952)

Address: 16 Mount Harris Drive Maitland Vale NSW 2323 PO Box 268 East Maitland NSW 2323

Contact: (Ph) 02 4936 6200 (Mob) 0423 324 188 Email: jeff@intersecttraffic.com.au

QUALITY ASSURANCE

This document has been prepared, checked and released in accordance with the Quality Control Standards established by Intersect Traffic Pty Ltd.

Issue	Date	Description	Ву
А	25/08/20	Draft	JG
В	26/08/20	Edit	JG
С	12/05/21	Remove parking / Final Proof	JG
D	12/05/21	Approved	JG

Copyright © Intersect Traffic Pty Ltd

This document has been authorised by



Disclaimer

This report has been prepared based on the information supplied by the client and investigation undertaken by Intersect Traffic Pty Ltd & other consultants. Recommendations are based on Intersect Traffic's professional judgement only and whilst every effort has been taken to provide accurate advice, Council and any other regulatory authorities may not concur with the recommendations expressed within this report. This document and the information are solely for the use of the authorised recipient and this document may not be used, copied or reproduced in whole or part for any purpose other than that for which it was supplied by Intersect Traffic Pty Ltd. Intersect Traffic makes no representation, undertakes no duty and accepts no responsibility to any third party who may use or rely upon this document or the information.

6. barrey

Date 12¹⁰ May 2021

Confidentiality Statement

All information, concepts, ideas, strategies, commercial data and all other information whatsoever contained within this document as well as all ideas and concepts described during the presentation are provided on a commercial in confidence basis and remain the intellectual property and Copyright of Intersect Traffic Pty Ltd and affiliated entities. In ersect

Traffic and Parking Assessment – 1 – 3 Bathurst Street, Singleton – Singleton Council

CONTENTS

1.0	INTRODUCTION	1
2.0	SITE DESCRIPTION	2
3.0	ALTERNATE TRANSPORT MODES	4
4.0	ROAD NETWORK	6
5.0	TRAFFIC VOLUMES	8
6.0	ROAD CAPACITY	8
7.0	DEVELOPMENT PROPOSAL	9
8.0	TRAFFIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT	9
9.0	ON-SITE CAR PARKING	11
	9.1 – SINGLETON COUNCIL DCP (2014) REQUIREME	NTS
		11
	9.2 – PARKING SURVEYS.	12
10.0	VEHICULAR ACCESS	12
11.0	PEDESTRIAN FACILITIES	13
12.0	ALTERNATE TRANSPORT MODE FACILITIES	13
13.0	CONCLUSIONS	14
14.0	RECOMMENDATION	14

ATTACHMENTS

ATTACHMENT A	
ATTACHMENT B	

TRAFFIC COUNT DATA
SIDRA MOVEMENT SUMMARY
TABLES

FIGURES

Figure 1 – Site Location	2
Figure 2 – Bus routes	4
PHOTOGRAPHS	
Photograph 1 – Development site	3
Photograph 2 – Public laneway and Pitt Street car park at rear of site.	3
Photograph 3 – Concrete footpath Bathurst Street along site frontage.	5
Photograph 4 – Pedestrian Crossing – John Street / Pitt Street intersection.	5
Photograph 5 – John Street near William Street	6
Photograph 6 – William Street near the site	7
Photograph 7 – Bathurst Street near the site	7

TABLES

Table 1 – 2020 traffic volumes and predicted 2030 traffic volumes.	8
Table 2 – Two-way mid-block road capacity assessment.	9
Table 3 – John St / Ryan Ave / Hunter St signalised intersection – Sidra Results Summar	y 10
Table 4 – John St / William Street give way intersectio – Sidra Results Summary	n 11
Table 5 - Spot Parking Survey	12
Table 6 - NEAR MAP Parking Survey,	12

In ersect

Traffic and Parking Assessment – 1 – 3 Bathurst Street, Singleton – Singleton Council



1.0 INTRODUCTION

Intersect Traffic Pty Ltd has been engaged by Singleton Council to prepare a Traffic & Parking Assessment for the reclassification of land at Lot 1 in DP 1151446 – 1 – 3 Bathurst Street, Singleton. This land currently contains the Singleton Senior Citizens Centre and adjoining offices leased by Ourcare Services Ltd (Ourcare). Council has received an offer from Ourcare to purchase these buildings and for Council to sell the buildings the land first needs to be reclassified.

Ourcare is a not for profit organisation which provides a range of services to the community including community transport, meals on wheels, neighbour aid, home maintenance, home modification, domestic assistance and personal care. The services are currently provided for the Ourcare Services premises located on Part Lot 1 DP 1151446, 1 -3 Bathurst Street which is currently leased from Council.

The subject site also contains Singleton Senior Citizens Centre which is leased to Senior Citizens Centre Welfare Association Incorporated. The land forms part of the Reserve 30, known as Pole Park, and is classified as Community Land in accordance with the Local Government Act 1993.

An application to reclassify the land has been made to the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment (DoPIE). The DoPIE have requested further information with regards to traffic and parking specifically:

- The required number of parking spaces for this use/facility
- The number of allocated parking spaces for the building use within the adjoining public car park.

Specifically, the aim of this assessment then is to;

- Consider the parking impacts of the proposal.
- Determine the traffic generated by the development can be incorporated into the road system to ensure appropriate Levels of Service are maintained for all users; and
- Ensure that traffic-related safety risks are not introduced, or existing risks not exacerbated to an unsuitable level by the development.

The assessment has been carried out in accordance with the guidelines provided within the *RTA's* Guide to Traffic Generating Developments, Australian Standard AS2890.1-2004 Parking facilities – Part 1 Off-street car parking facilities and Singleton Council's DCP (2014).



Traffic and Parking Assessment - 1 - 3 Bathurst Street, Singleton - Singleton Council

2.0 SITE DESCRIPTION

The subject site is shown in *Figure 1* below. It is located on the western side of Bathurst Street, Singleton immediately south of William Street and within the Singleton CBD. The site currently contains the Singleton Senior Citizens Centre and Ourcare Services Pty Ltd offices.

The site has a total area of approximately 2,500 m² is titled Lot 1 DP 1151446 and is addressed as 1-3 Bathurst Street, Singleton. Pursuant to the Singleton LEP (2013) the site is zoned B4 Mixed Use.

The existing vehicular access to the public car park is provided from both Bathurst Street and an unnamed laneway at the rear of the site approximately 10 metres south of William Street. The laneway forms part of the Pitt Street public car park also at the rear of the site and runs along the western frontage of the site. These 7-metre-wide combined entry / exit driveways provides convenient and safe access to the 25 space on-site car park on the site. **Photograph 1** below shows the existing on-site development from Bathurst Street while **Photograph 2** shows the public laneway along the western boundary of the site and part of the Pitt Street public car park at the rear of the site.



Figure 1 – Site Location



Traffic and Parking Assessment - 1 - 3 Bathurst Street. Singleton - Singleton Council



Photograph 1 – Development site.



Photograph 2 – Public laneway and Pitt Street car park at rear of site.



Traffic and Parking Assessment - 1 - 3 Bathurst Street, Singleton - Singleton Council

3.0 ALTERNATE TRANSPORT MODES

Hunter Valley Buses run public transport (bus) services in the area. A review of the route maps and timetables for the service indicates that the site is serviced by public transport as shown in the bus route extracts shown in *Figure 2* below. The routes most convenient to the site are;

- 1. Route 401 Singleton Town Service;
- 2. Route 402 Singleton to Darlington and Hunterview; and
- 3. Routes 403 & 404 Singleton to Singleton Heights.

This provides access to all residential areas within Singleton, the local rail network and major business and retail areas. The nearest bus stops are located west of the site on John Street and these are considered to be within convenient walking distance of the site.

A concrete and asphalt pedestrian footpath network exists around the site along Bathurst Street, William Street and Pitt Street through to John Street which has full width pedestrian footpaths along its length. This provides excellent pedestrian access around the site to all the commercial and retail shops / offices in the Singleton CBD and to the nearby public transport facilities (bus stops). Pedestrian crossing facilities of William Street and Pitt Street are available through marked crossings near John Street while a number of marked pedestrian crossings of John Street are located from Ryan Avenue to Pitt Street. Pedestrian crossing signals are also provided across John Street at its intersection with Ryan Avenue and Hunter Street approximately 200 metres north-west of the site. **Photographs 3 and 4** below show the pedestrian infrastructure around the site.

No on or off-road cycle ways were observed in the vicinity of the site with cyclists required to share travel lanes or parking lanes with other vehicles when accessing the site.





Traffic and Parking Assessment – 1 – 3 Bathurst Street, Singleton – Singleton Council



Photograph 3 – Concrete footpath Bathurst Street along site frontage.



Photograph 4 – Pedestrian Crossing – John Street / Pitt Street intersection.



Traffic and Parking Assessment - 1 - 3 Bathurst Street, Singleton - Singleton Council

4.0 ROAD NETWORK

The local road network most impacted by the existing development on the site is considered to be John Street, William Street and Bathurst Street.

John Street is a classified regional road (MR 128) performing the function of a sub-arterial as it connects Singleton to sub-regions in the area and eventually to the Putty Road and western Sydney. It is under the care and control of Singleton Council however Council receives some funding assistance from Transport for NSW (TfNSW) for its maintenance.

Near the site John Street is within a high pedestrian activity area and a 40 km/h speed zone exists. John Street has recently been upgraded as part of a CBD enhancement project and has a kerb to kerb carriageway width of 11 metres between kerb and gutter which allows a 2.2 metre wide parking lane along each side of the road as well as a 3.3 metre wide travel lane in each direction. At the time of inspection John Street was observed to be in excellent condition as shown in *Photograph 5* below.



Photograph 5 – John Street near William Street

William Street is a local collector road which collects and distributes local traffic to the sub-arterial and arterial networks near the site as well as provide vehicular access to properties along its length. William Street is under the care and control of Singleton Council. William Street is subject to a 50 km/h speed zoning being a local urban street and has a light load limit on the street between John Street and Bathurst Street.

Near the site William Street has a sealed pavement 10 metres wide which allows 2.1 metre wide parking lanes along both sides of the road as well as 2.9 metre travel lanes in both directions. At the time of inspection William Street was found to be in good condition as shown in **Photograph 6** below.

In ersect

Traffic and Parking Assessment - 1 - 3 Bathurst Street, Singleton - Singleton Council



Photograph 6 – William Street near the site

Bathurst Street is a local road with its major function being to provide vehicular access to properties along its length. Bathurst Street is under the care and control of Singleton Council and a 50 km/hr speed zone applies to the road. Bathurst Street is subject to a 50 km/h speed zoning being a local urban street.

Near the site Bathurst Street has a sealed pavement 10 metres wide which allows 2.1 metre wide parking lanes along both sides of the road as well as 2.9 metre travel lanes in both directions. At the time of inspection Bathurst Street was found to be in good condition as shown in **Photograph 7** below.



Photograph 7 – Bathurst Street near the site



Traffic and Parking Assessment - 1 - 3 Bathurst Street, Singleton - Singleton Council

5.0 TRAFFIC VOLUMES

Northern Transport Planning and Engineering (NTPE) on behalf of Intersect Traffic undertake manual intersection counts at the Ryan Avenue / John Street traffic signals and the John Street / William Street intersection during typical AM and PM peak traffic periods to determine the existing traffic volumes on the road network during peak hour periods. These counts were undertaken on Thursday 27th July 2020 with the peak hour periods found to be 8 am to 9 am and 4.15 pm to 4.30 pm. The traffic count data collected by NTPE are provided in *Attachment A.*

The existing 2020 peak two-way mid-block traffic volumes extracted from this data and adopted in this assessment is shown below in **Table 1**. Ten years of background traffic growth at 1.5 % per annum (compound) has been added to the 2020 volumes to determine the predicted 2030 traffic volumes on the road network and these are also shown in **Table 1**. The background traffic growth raffic growth adopted in this assessment i.e. 1.5 % per annum is the background traffic growth rate used by TfNSW in all the Lower Hunter traffic modelling it undertakes.

Table 1 – 2020 traffic volumes and predicted 2030 traffic volumes.

Road	Section	2020 AM	2020 PM	2030 AM	2030 PM	
		peak vtph	peak vtph	peak vtph	peak vtph	
John Street	north of Hunter Street	1024	1663	1188	1930	
John Street	south of Hunter Street	478	740	555	859	
Ryan Avenue	west of John Street	501	975	581	1132	
John Street	north of William Street	481	739	558	858	
John Street	south of William Street	463	733	537	851	
William Street	east of John Street	114	192	139	234	

6.0 ROAD CAPACITY

The capacity of urban roads is generally determined by the capacity of intersections. However, Table 4.3 of the *RTA's Guide to Traffic Generating Developments* provides some guidance on midblock capacities for urban roads for a LoS C. This table is reproduced below.

Type of Road	One-Way Mid-block Lane Capacity (pcu/h		
Madan as here there is	Divided Road	1,000	
Median or inner lane:	Undivided Road	900	
	With Adjacent Parking Lane	900	
Outer or kerb lane:	Clearway Conditions	900	
	Occasional Parked Cars	600	
d lane undivided:	Occasional Parked Cars	1,500	
4 lane undivided:	Clearway Conditions	1,800	
4 lane divided:	Clearway Conditions	1,900	

Table 4.3 Typical mid-block capacities for urban roads with interrupted flow

Source: - RTA's Guide to Traffic Generating Developments (2002)

Therefore based on the road capacity being the point where two-way mid-block capacity first becomes a LoS C and noting the road network is typically a two way two lane road network the two-way mid-block capacity of the local road network is 2×900 vtph = 1,800 vtph. However in the case of John Street and Ryan Avenue as major sub-arterial roads it is still considered acceptable to have a LoS D on the road due to its higher order function within the road hierarchy. Typically one way lane volumes of up to 1,100 vtph are still considered acceptable and the two-way mid-block capacity of such roads is 2,200 vtph. Therefore the adopted two way mid-block road capacities within this assessment are.

- ◆ John Street and Ryan Avenue 2,200 vtph; and
- William Street and Bathurst Street 1,800 vtph.



Traffic and Parking Assessment - 1 - 3 Bathurst Street, Singleton - Singleton Council

7.0 DEVELOPMENT PROPOSAL

The proposed development involves the reclassification of Lot 1 in DP 1151446 - 1 - 3 Bathurst Street, Singleton from community land to operational land to enable Singleton Council to sell the property to Ourcare Services Pty Ltd who currently lease the office building on the site. The proposal and sale of the property will not result in any operational changes for buildings on the site with all current services and facilities maintained and continuing to be managed by Ourcare and the Senior Citizens Welfare Association.

8.0 TRAFFIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT

In considering the impact of the proposal on the local and state road network it is noted that the reclassification of the land does not change the operation of the existing buildings on the site. The Ourcare offices will continue to be used to manage the services provided by Ourcare while the Senior Citizens Centre will continue to be used for Senior Citizen and private functions. Therefore there will be no increase in traffic volumes generated by the site or change to the trip distributions to and from the site for this traffic. As such it is considered that to demonstrate that the existing road network around the site is operating satisfactorily would satisfy the requirement of the brief described below'

 Determine the traffic generated by the development can be incorporated into the road system to ensure appropriate Levels of Service are maintained for all users; and

The two areas to demonstrate the road network already satisfactorily incorporates traffic generated by the site are;

- 1. Two way mid-block capacity; and
- 2. Intersection capacity.

In regard to two way mid-block capacity, **Table 2** below demonstrates that the existing traffic volumes recorded for the adjacent local and state road network and the predicted 2030 traffic volumes for the local and state road network are all below the two way mid-block road capacity determined for the local and state road network. Therefore it can be concluded that the existing local and state road network can satisfactorily accommodate the existing two-way mid-block traffic volumes and has sufficient capacity to also accommodate ten years of background traffic growth through to 2030.

Road	Section	2020 AM	2020 PM	2030 AM	2030 PM	Capacity
		peak vtph	peak vtph	peak vtph	peak vtph	vtph
John Street	north of Hunter Street	1024	1663	1188	1930	2000
John Street	south of Hunter Street	478	740	555	859	2000
Ryan Avenue	west of John Street	501	975	581	1132	2000
John Street	north of William Street	481	739	558	858	2000
John Street	south of William Street	463	733	537	851	2000
William Street	east of John Street	114	192	139	234	1800

Table 2 – Two-way mid-block road capacity assessment.

In terms of intersection capacity it is noted that the majority of intersections on the local road network along Bathurst Street and William Street likely to be used for access to the site were observed to operate with uninterrupted flow conditions with little or no delay from vehicles using these intersections therefore it is reasonable to conclude that the existing local road network intersections have sufficient capacity to cater for traffic flows from the proposed development.

ersec

In terms of connection to the state road network it is considered the two main intersections through which the majority of traffic generated by the development on the site would be the John Street / William Street give way controlled T-intersection and the John Street / Ryan Avenue / Hunter Street signal controlled intersection. To demonstrate these are working satisfactorily and would continue to work satisfactorily in the future these intersections have been modelled using the recently released Sidra Intersection 9 modelling software. This software is a micro-analytical program which identifies "Level of Service" (LoS) criteria for intersection analysis which range from LoS A to LoS F. Assessment is then based on the LoS requirements of the TfNSW shown below: Table 4.2

Level of Service	Average Delay per Vehicle (secs/veh)	Traffic Signals, Roundabout	Give Way & Stop Signs
A	< 14	Good operation	Good operation
В	15 to 28	Good with acceptable delays & spare capacity	Acceptable delays & spare capacity
с	29 to 42	Satisfactory	Satisfactory, but accident study required
D	43 to 56	Operating near capacity	Near capacity & accident study required
E	57 to 70	At capacity; at signals, incidents will cause excessive delays	At capacity, requires other control mode
		Roundabouts require other control mode	

Level of service criteria for intersections

Source: - RTA's Guide to Traffic Generating Developments (2002).

С

С

D

eue

33.7

29.7

48.5

In undertaking this assessment the following assumptions were made.

- The intersection is to remain as currently constructed.
- Traffic data used was sourced by NTPE in July 2020.

2020 PM

2030 AM

2030 PM

A background traffic growth rate of 1.5 % per annum (compound) has been adopted. ٠

The results of the modelling are summarised for the 'all vehicles' case with the worst delay and level of service provided for the sign controlled intersection within Tables 3 & 4 below while the full Sidra movement summary tables provided in Attachment B.

Table 3 – John St / Ryan Ave / Hunter St signalised intersection – Sidra Results Summary					
	Deg. Satn	Average Delay	Average Level	95 % back of que	
Model	(v/c)	(s)	of Service	length (cars)	
2020 AM	0.895	26.0	В	21.2	

0.894

0.873

0.909

The modelling shows that whilst the John Street / Ryan Avenue / Hunter Street signalised
intersection is a busy intersection during peak periods the intersection still operates within the
criteria set by TfNSW for satisfactory operation and the cycle times are practical ranging from 75
seconds to 105 seconds. However in the PM peak by 2030 the intersection is approaching
capacity and an accident study should be undertaken to determine if the intersection should be
upgraded.

36.1

29.4

44.0

Inmersect

Traffic and Parking Assessment - 1 - 3 Bathurst Street, Singleton - Singleton Council

Table 4 – John St / William Street give way intersection – Sidra Results Summary

Model	Deg. Satn (v/c)	Worst Average Delay (s)	Worst Level of Service	95 % back of queue length (cars)
2020 AM	0.179	5.8	А	0.3
2020 PM	0.238	7.6	А	1.3
2030 AM	0.208	6.2	А	0.4
2030 PM	0.281	8.5	А	1.7

This modelling therefore shows the existing intersection operates satisfactorily and will continue to doe so through to 2030 with 1.5 % per annum (compound) background traffic growth. The degree of saturation, average delay and queue lengths at the intersection will remain well within the acceptable criteria set by TfNSW.

Overall it is concluded the existing road network can suitably cater for the traffic generated by existing development on the site.

9.0 ON-SITE CAR PARKING

9.1 – Singleton Council DCP (2014) requirements

On-site car parking provision needs to be in accordance with AS2890.1 – 2004 parking facilities – Part 1 Off street car parking and Singleton Council's DCP (2014).

The peak parking demand rates specified within Council's DCP that would be applied to the existing development on the site are;

Office Space (Ourcare Offices)

1 space per 40 m² GFA and 1 bicycle space per 5 car spaces.

Function Centre (Senior Citizens Centre)

0.5 per staff plus 1 space per 20 m² GFA.

Note there is no change to the servicing arrangements for the site as a result of this development therefore no specific changes to servicing areas is required. The existing buildings GFA have been estimated from the aerial photographs of the site (source Near Map) and are as follows.

- Ourcare offices 420 m² GFA
- Senior Citizens Centre 600 m² GFA (no staff).

Therefore the required on-site car parking for the development based on the Singleton DCP can therefore be calculated as;

On-site car parking = 420 / 40 + 600 / 20 = 10.5 + 30 = 41 car spaces.

Therefore it is concluded that 41 spaces within the Pitt Street public car park will need to be assigned to the existing offices and Senior Citizens building to comply with Council's DCP.

Having observed the existing car parking provided on the site it is also concluded that this on-site car parking is compliant with the requirements of Australian Standard *AS2890.1-2004 Parking facilities – Part 1 Off-street car parking.*

In ersect

Traffic and Parking Assessment – 1 – 3 Bathurst Street, Singleton – Singleton Council

9.2 - Parking Surveys.

To determine if there is spare capacity within the Pitt Street public car park a parking survey using historical aerial photographs (Near Map) and a single beat car park count (to confirm aerial photograph findings) was undertaken. The results are shown below in *Tables 5 and 6.*

Table 5 - Spot Parking Survey

Date	Time	Maximum no. of vacant car parks in Pitt Street car park
Wednesday 8 th July 2020	10 am - 11 am	61
	12 pm - 1 pm	50
Tuesday 25 th August 2020	1 pm - 2 pm	52
	3 pm - 4 pm	64

Table 6 - Near map Parking Survey

Date	No. vacant car parks in Pitt Street car park
Sunday 3 rd May 2020	79
Monday 10 th September 2018	39
Monday 11 th January 2016	61
Friday 6 th March 2015	35
Tuesday 1 st July 2014	45

The parking surveys undertaken for the project were undertaken while the Ourcare services offices were operating therefore the parking demand from the office (estimated to be 11 spaces) was being surveyed. The Senior Citizens building was not being used therefore the actual vacancy number required in the car park is only 30 spaces (41 - 11). The results indicate that there is likely to be at least 35 spaces available to cater for any parking overflow generated by the private use of Senior Citizens Centre during normal business hours. The survey also determined that little use of the Pitt Street public car park occurs on weekends indicating that there is sufficient overflow car parking already available within the Pitt Street public car park to cater for overflow parking from the Senior Citizens Centre if operating at full capacity.

Overall based on the results of the parking surveys it is reasonable to conclude that there is sufficient spare capacity within the Pitt Street public car park to allow up to 41 spaces being allocated to the Ourcare Offices and Senior Citizens Building without the car park being likely to reach capacity at any time during the weekdays or weekends.

10.0 VEHICULAR ACCESS

The existing Pitt Street public car parking is serviced by access crossings to both Bathurst Street and the unnamed laneway within the Pitt Street public car park. These are combined entry / exit driveways approximately 7 metres wide which satisfy the criteria for a category 2 access within Australian Standard AS2890.1-2004 Parking facilities – Part 1 Off-street car parking. Further Australian Standard AS2890.1-2004 Parking facilities – Part 1 Off-street car parking Table 3.1 requires an access to a car park servicing a short term 25 space car park accessed off a local road to be a minimum Category 1 access. Therefore the existing vehicular access exceeds this requirement. Further the accesses are not within a prohibited area for access as shown in Figure 3.1 of Australian Standard AS2890.1-2004 Parking facilities – Part 1 Off-street car parking. Vehicular and pedestrian sight lines from the accesses are also in accordance with Figure 3.2 of Intersect

Traffic and Parking Assessment – 1 – 3 Bathurst Street, Singleton – Singleton Council

Australian Standard *AS2890.1-2004 Parking facilities – Part 1 Off-street car parking* which requires a minimum 45 metres sight distance for a 50 km/h speed frontage.

Overall it is concluded the existing vehicular accesses to the Pitt Street public car park is fully compliant with Australian Standard *AS2890.1-2004 Parking facilities – Part 1 Off-street car parking* therefore are satisfactory for use by the development on the site, providing a suitably safe access to the site.

11.0 PEDESTRIAN FACILITIES

The development would generate some pedestrian traffic on the local road network as staff and visitors access the site from other areas of the CBD or from public transport stops. However the existing pedestrian facilities provided in the area are considered satisfactory for the current level of usage generated by the development and no improvements or additions to the public footpath network is required to provide a suitably safe pedestrian network in the vicinity of the site.

12.0 ALTERNATE TRANSPORT MODE FACILITIES

The proposed development may generate some patronage of the existing public transport system (buses) servicing the site. It is noted the site is already well serviced by public transport with bus routes and bus stops being within convenient walking distance of the site. Therefore, changes to the existing public transport system or additional infrastructure is not required.

Similarly the development does not generate any significant bicycle traffic therefore no nexus exists for the provision of additional cycle ways near the site.




Traffic and Parking Assessment - 1 - 3 Bathurst Street, Singleton - Singleton Council

13.0 CONCLUSIONS

This traffic and parking assessment for the reclassification of land at Lot 1 in DP 1151446 - 1 - 3Bathurst Street, Singleton has determined the following:

- The existing local and state road network can satisfactorily accommodate the existing two-way mid-block traffic volumes, including development traffic, and has sufficient capacity to also accommodate ten years of background traffic growth through to 2030.
- The existing state and local road network can suitably cater for the traffic generated by existing development on the site with all intersections on the road network in close vicinity of the currently operating satisfactorily and continuing to operate satisfactorily with ten years background traffic growth through to 2030.
- There is sufficient spare capacity within the Pitt Street public car park to allow a total of 41 spaces to be allocated to the Ourcare Offices and Senior Citizens building without the public car park reaching its capacity.
- That the existing Pitt Street public car parking is compliant with the requirements of Australian Standard AS2890.1-2004 Parking facilities – Part 1 Off-street car parking.
- The existing vehicular accesses to the Pitt Street public car park is fully compliant with Australian Standard AS2890.1-2004 Parking facilities – Part 1 Off-street car parking therefore are satisfactory for use by the development on the site, providing a suitably safe access to the site.
- The development would generate some pedestrian traffic on the local road network as staff and visitors access the site from other areas of the CBD or from public transport stops. However the existing pedestrian facilities provided in the area are considered satisfactory for the current level of usage generated by the development and no improvements or additions to the public footpath network is required to provide a suitably safe pedestrian network in the vicinity of the site.
- It is noted the site is already well serviced by public transport with bus routes and bus stops being within convenient walking distance of the site. Therefore, changes to the existing public transport system or additional infrastructure is not required.
- The development does not generate any significant bicycle traffic therefore no nexus exists for the provision of additional cycle ways near the site.

14.0 **RECOMMENDATION**

Having carried out this traffic and parking assessment for the reclassification of land at Lot 1 in DP 1151446 - 1 - 3 Bathurst Street, Singleton, it is recommended that the proposal can be supported from a traffic and parking perspective as the existing road network satisfactorily caters for the existing development on the site, there is sufficient available car parking within the Pitt Street public car park to allow 41 spaces to be allocated to the development and there is no unacceptable road safety risk associated with the existing vehicular access to the site. The existing development therefore already complies with the requirements of Singleton Council, TfNSW and Australian Standards in regard to the traffic, parking and access arrangements for the site.

6. barrey

JR Garry BE (Civil), Masters of Traffic Director Intersect Traffic Pty Ltd

Traffic and Parking Assessment - 1 - 3 Bathurst Street. Singleton - Singleton Council

ATTACHMENT A TRAFFIC COUNT DATA





Traffic and Parking Assessment - 1 - 3 Bathurst Street. Singleton - Singleton Council

ATTACHMENT B SIDRA MOVEMENT SUMMARY TABLES

Traffic and Parking Assessment - 1 - 3 Bathurst Street, Singleton - Singleton Council

MOVEMENT SUMMARY

Site: 101 [2020AM (Site Folder: General)]

John Street / William Street / Hunter Street

Site Category: (None) Signals - EQUISAT (Fixed-Time/SCATS) Isolated Cycle Time = 75 seconds (Site Practical Cycle Time)

Mov	Tum		UT	DEM		Deg		Level of		ACK OF	Prop	Effective	Aver	Aver
ID		VOLL [Total	HV J	FLC [Total	HV]	Satn		Service	[Veh	EUE Dist]	Que	Stop Rate	No. Cycles	Speed
		veh/h	veh/h	veh/h	%	v/c	580		veh	m				km/h
East	Hunte	r Street												
4a	L1	12	0	13	0.0	0.045	30.8	LOS C	0.5	3.2	0.85	0.66	0.85	29.8
6a	R1	19	1	20	5.3	0.225	38.4	LOS C	1.2	8.3	0.96	0.71	0.96	28.2
6b	R3	13	0	14	0.0	0.225	41.6	LOS C	1.2	8.3	0.97	0.71	0.97	27.7
Appro	oach	44	1	46	2.3	0.225	37.3	LOS C	1.2	8.3	0.93	0.70	0.93	28.5
North	East	John Stre	et											
24b	L3	102	1	107	1.0	# 0.167	10.2	LOSA	1.5	10.5	0.58	0.64	0.58	36.7
25	T1	311	0	327	0.0	* 0.833	24.3	LOSB	21.2	152.8	0.87	0.91	1.03	31.1
26	R2	272	20	286	7.4	0.833	29.5	LOS C	21.2	152.8	0.90	0.93	1.07	30.8
Appr	oach	685	21	721	3.1	0.833	24.3	LOS B	21.2	152.8	0.84	0.88	0.98	31.7
North	West:	Ryan Av	enue											
27	L2	192	15	202	7.8	0.196	11.2	LOSA	3.4	25.6	0.50	0.65	0.50	35.7
27a	L1	15	0	16	0.0	0.117	38.5	LOS C	0.6	4.5	0.96	0.68	0.96	28.4
29	R2	2	0	2	0.0	#0.117	40.1	LOS C	0.6	4.5	0.96	0.68	0.96	28.0
Appr	oach	209	15	220	7.2	0.196	13.4	LOSA	3.4	25.6	0.53	0.65	0.53	35.0
South	West	John St	reet											
30	1.2	1	1	1	100.0	0.895	51.2	LOS D	7.1	50.2	1.00	1.13	1.60	26.2
31	T1	134	1	141	0.7	≈ 0.895	47.2	LOS D	7.1	50.2	1.00	1.13	1.60	26.3
32a	R1	18	0	19	0.0	0.895	49.4	LOS D	7.1	50.2	1.00	1.13	1.60	26,5
Appr	oach	153	2	161	1.3	0.895	47.5	LOS D	7.1	50.2	1.00	1.13	1.60	26.3
All Vehic		1091	39	1148	3.6	0.895	26.0	LOS B	21.2	152.8	0.81	0.86	0.98	31.2

Site Level of Service (LOS) Method: Delay (RTA NSW). Site LOS Method is specified in the Parameter Settings dialog (Site tab).

Vehicle movement LOS values are based on average delay per movement. Intersection and Approach LOS values are based on average delay for all vehicle movements. Delay Model: SIDRA Standard (Geometric Delay is included).

Queue Model: SIDRA Standard.

Gap-Acceptance Capacity: SIDRA Standard (Akcelik M3D). HV (%) values are calculated for All Movement Classes of All Heavy Vehicle Model Designation.

* Critical Movement (Signal Timing)

Traffic and Parking Assessment - 1 - 3 Bathurst Street, Singleton - Singleton Council

MOVEMENT SUMMARY

Site: 101 [2020PM (Site Folder: General)]

John Street / William Street / Hunter Street

Site Category: (None) Signals - EQUISAT (Fixed-Time/SCATS) Isolated Cycle Time = 105 seconds (Site Practical Cycle Time)

Vehi	cle M	ovemen	t Perfor	mance										
Mov ID	Turn	INP VOLU [Total veh/h		DEM FLC [Total veh/h		Deg. Satn v/c		Level of Service		ACK OF EUE Dist] m	Prop. Que	Effective Stop Rate	Aver. No. Cycles	Aver. Speed km/h
East:	Hunte	er Street												
4a	L1	16	0	17	0.0	0.044	35.4	LOS C	0.7	4.8	0.79	0.66	0.79	28.7
6a	R1	19	0	20	0.0	0.220	55.2	LOS D	1.2	8.5	0.98	0.70	0.98	25.0
6b	R3	4	0	4	0.0	0.220	58.4	LOS E	1.2	8.5	0.99	0.70	0.99	24.7
Appr	oach	39	0	41	0.0	0.220	47.4	LOS D	1.2	8.5	0.90	0.69	0.90	26.4
North	East:	John Stre	et											
24b	L3	27	0	28	0.0	*0.179	22.1	LOS B	4.1	28.7	0.65	0.59	0.65	33.5
25	T1	349	0	367	0.0	*0.894	34.1	LOS C	33.7	238.8	0.83	0.86	0.98	28.8
26	R2	352	9	371	2.6	0.894	45.0	LOS D	33.7	238.8	0.92	0.98	1.13	27.1
Appro	oach	728	9	766	1.2	0.894	38.9	LOS C	33.7	238.8	0.87	0.91	1.04	28.1
North	West:	Ryan Av	enue											
27	L2	572	16	602	2.8	0.631	20.9	LOS B	20.9	149.7	0.74	0.78	0.74	32.7
27a	L1	22	0	23	0.0	0.301	56.6	LOS E	1.7	12.0	0.99	0.72	0.99	24.8
29	R2	9	0	9	0.0	*0.301	58.1	LOS E	1.7	12.0	0.99	0.72	0.99	24.6
Appro	oach	603	16	635	2.7	0.631	22.8	LOS B	20.9	149.7	0.75	0.78	0.75	32.1
South	West	John Str	reet											
30	L2	1	1	1	100.0	0.868	55.2	LOS D	21.8	153.2	1.00	1.04	1.23	25.5
31	T1	359	1	378	0.3	*0.868	51.2	LOS D	21.8	153.2	1.00	1.04	1.23	25.6
32a	R1	6	0	6	0.0	0.868	53.4	LOS D	21.8	153.2	1.00	1.04	1.23	25.8
Appr	oach	366	2	385	0.5	0.868	51.3	LOS D	21.8	153.2	1.00	1.04	1.23	25.6
All Vehic	les	1736	27	1827	1.6	0.894	36.1	LOS C	33.7	238.8	0.86	0.89	0.98	28.7

Site Level of Service (LOS) Method: Delay (RTANSW). Site LOS Method is specified in the Parameter Settings dialog (Site tab). Vehicle movement LOS values are based on average delay per movement.

Intersection and Approach LOS values are based on average delay for all vehicle movements.

Delay Model: SIDRA Standard (Geometric Delay is included).

Queue Model: SIDRA Standard.

Gap-Acceptance Capacity: SIDRA Standard (Akçelik M3D). HV (%) values are calculated for All Movement Classes of All Heavy Vehicle Model Designation.

* Critical Movement (Signal Timing)

Traffic and Parking Assessment - 1 - 3 Bathurst Street, Singleton - Singleton Council

MOVEMENT SUMMARY

Site: 101 [2030AM (Site Folder: General)]

John Street / William Street / Hunter Street

Site Category: (None) Signals - EQUISAT (Fixed-Time/SCATS) Isolated Cycle Time = 90 seconds (Site Practical Cycle Time) Design Life Analysis (Final Year): Results for 10 years

Vehi	cle M	ovemen	t Perfor	mance										
Mov ID	Turn	INP VOLU [Total veh/h	IMES HV]	DEM FLO [Total		Deg. Satn v/c	Delay	Level of Service	QU [Veh.	ACK OF EUE Dist]	Prop. Que	Effective Stop Rate	Aver. No. Cycles	Aver Speed
East	Hunte	r Street	veh/h	veh/h	70	v/c	Sec	_	veh	m		_		km/l
4a	L1	12	0	15	0.0	0.062	38.9	LOS C	0.7	4.7	0.88	0.68	0.88	28.0
6a	R1	19	1	23	5.3	0.312	47.2	LOS D ¹¹	1.6	11.7	0.97	0.72	0.97	26.4
6b	R3	13	0	16	0.0	0.312	50.6	LOS D ¹¹	1.6	11.7	0.99	0.72	0.99	25.9
Appr	oach	44	1	54	2.3	0.312	45.9	LOS D ¹¹	1.6	11.7	0.95	0.71	0.95	26.
North	East	John Stre	et											
24b	L3	102	1	125	1.0	*0.174	10.1	LOSA	1.9	13.6	0.53	0.63	0.53	36.
25	T1	311	0	380	0.0	*0.871	28.4	LOS B	29.7	214.2	0.84	0.91	1.01	30.
26	R2	272	20	332	7.4	0.871	33.9	LOS C	29.7	214.2	0.87	0.93	1.05	29.
Appr	oach	685	21	837	3.1	0.871	27.9	LOS B	29.7	214.2	0.81	0.88	0.95	30.
North	West:	Ryan Av	enue											
27	L2	192	15	235	7.8	0.214	11.3	LOSA	4.4	33.1	0.46	0.64	0.46	35.
27a	L1	15	0	18	0.0	0.164	47.2	LOS D ¹¹	0.9	6.4	0.97	0.69	0.97	26.
29	R2	2	0	2	0.0	*0.164	48.8	LOS D ¹¹	0.9	6.4	0.97	0.69	0.97	26.
Appr	oach	209	15	255	7.2	0.214	14.3	LOSA	4.4	33.1	0.51	0.64	0.51	34.
South	hWest	John Str	reet											
30	L2	1	1	1	100.0	0.873	56.1	LOS D ¹¹	9.4	66.8	1.00	1.08	1.42	25.
31	T1	134	1	164	0.7	*0.873	52.1	LOS D ¹¹	9.4	66.8	1.00	1.08	1.42	25.
32a	R1	18	0	22	0.0	0.873	54.2	LOS D ¹¹	9.4	66.8	1.00	1.08	1.42	25.
Appr	oach	153	2	187	1.3	0.873	52.4	LOS D ¹¹	9.4	66.8	1.00	1.08	1.42	25.
All Vehic	les	1091	39	1333	3.6	0.873	29.4	LOS C	29.7	214.2	0.78	0.85	0.93	30.3

Site Level of Service (LOS) Method: Delay (RTA NSW). Site LOS Method is specified in the Parameter Settings dialog (Site tab).

Vehicle movement LOS values are based on average delay per movement. Intersection and Approach LOS values are based on average delay for all vehicle movements. Delay Model: SIDRA Standard (Geometric Delay is included). Queue Model: SIDRA Standard.

Gap-Acceptance Capacity: SIDRA Standard (Akçelik M3D).

HV (%) values are calculated for All Movement Classes of All Heavy Vehicle Model Designation.

11 Level of Service is worse than the Level of Service Target specified in the Parameter Settings dialog.

* Critical Movement (Signal Timing)

Traffic and Parking Assessment – 1 – 3 Bathurst Street. Singleton – Singleton Council

MOVEMENT SUMMARY

Site: 101 [2030PM (Site Folder: General)]

John Street / William Street / Hunter Street

Site Category: (None)

Signals - EQUISAT (Fixed-Time/SCATS) Isolated Cycle Time = 150 seconds (Site Practical Cycle Time) Design Life Analysis (Final Year): Results for 10 years

Mov ID	Turn	VOLL		FLC		Deg Satn		Level of Service	QU	ACK OF EUE	Prop Que	Effective Stop	Aver No.	Aver
		† Total veh/h	HV] veh/h	[Total veh/h	HV J %	v/c	SOC		(Veh. veh	Dist m		Rate	Cycles	km/t
East	Hunte	r Street												
4a	L1	16	0	20	0.0	0.081	38.8	LOS C	0.9	6.6	0.70	0.65	0.70	27.9
6a	R1	19	0	23	0.0	0.380	82.8	LOS F11	2.1	15.0	1.00	0.72	1.00	21.
6b	R3	4	0	5	0.0	0.380	84.9	LOS F ¹¹	2.1	15.0	1.00	0.72	1.00	20.9
Appn	oach	39	0	48	0.0	0.380	65.0	LOS E	2.1	15.0	0.88	0.69	0.88	23.4
North	East	John Stre	et											
24b	L3	27	0	33	0.0	≈0.180	23.8	LOSB	6.2	43.6	0.57	0.54	0.57	33.
25	T1	349	0	426	0.0	* 0.899	36.1	LOS C	48.5	343.9	0.77	0.78	0.85	28.
26	R2	352	9	430	2.6	0.899	47.4	LOS D	48.5	343.9	0.87	0.90	0.98	26.
Appn	oach	728	9	889	1.2	0.899	41.1	LOS C	48.5	343.9	0.81	0.83	0.90	27.
North	West	Ryan Av	enue											
27	1.2	572	16	699	2.8	0.682	25.3	LOSB	33.6	240.9	0.73	0.79	0.73	31.
27a	L1	22	0	27	0.0	0.499	83.2	LOS F	2.9	20.3	1.00	0.73	1.00	21.
29	R2	9	0	11	0.0	* 0.499	84.8	LOS F ¹¹	2.9	20.3	1.00	0.73	1.00	20.
Appn	bach	603	16	737	2.7	0.682	28.3	LOS B	33.6	240.9	0.74	0.79	0.74	30.
South	West	John St	reet											
30	L2	1	1	1	100.0	0.909	77.2	LOS F1	36.6	257.1	1.00	1.04	1.21	22
31	T1	359	1	439	0.3	*0.909	73.2	LOS F ¹¹	36.6	257.1	1.00	1.04	1.21	22.3
32a	R1	6	0	7	0.0	0.909	75.4	LOS F	36.6	257.1	1.00	1.04	1.21	22.3
Appr	oach	366	2	447	0.5	0.909	73.2	LOS F"	36.6	257.1	1.00	1.04	1.21	22
All Vehic	loc	1736	27	2121	1.6	0.909	44.0	LOS D"	48.5	343.9	0.83	0.86	0.91	27.0

Site Level of Service (LOS) Method: Delay (RTANSW). Site LOS Method is specified in the Parameter Settings dialog (Site tab).

Vehicle movement LOS values are based on average delay per movement.

Intersection and Approach LOS values are based on average delay for all vehicle movements. Delay Model: SIDRA Standard (Geometric Delay is included).

Queue Model: SIDRA Standard

Gap-Acceptance Capacity: SIDRA Standard (Akcelik M3D).

HV (%) values are calculated for All Movement Classes of All Heavy Vehicle Model Designation.

11 Level of Service is worse than the Level of Service Target specified in the Parameter Settings dialog.

Critical Movement (Signal Timing)

Traffic and Parking Assessment – 1 – 3 Bathurst Street. Singleton – Singleton Council

MOVEMENT SUMMARY

V Site: 101 [2020 AM (Site Folder: General)] John Street / William Street Give Way Site Category: (None)

Give-	Way	(Two-	Way)	

Vehi	cle M	ovemen	t Perfor	mance										
Mov ID	Turn	VOLU	PUT JMES	DEM FLO	ws	Deg. Satn		Level of Service	QU	ACK OF EUE	Prop. Que	Effective Stop		Aver. Speed
		[Total veh/h	HV] veh/h	[Total veh/h	HV] %	v/c	Sec		[Veh. veh	Dist] m		Rate	Cycles	km/h
East:	Willia	m Street												
4a	L1	28	0	29	0.0	0.034	4.5	LOSA	0.2	1.2	0.34	0.50	0.34	37.8
6b	R3	10	0	11	0.0	0.034	5.8	LOSA	0.2	1.2	0.34	0.50	0.34	36.5
Appro	bach	38	0	40	0.0	0.034	4.8	LOSA	0.2	1.2	0.34	0.50	0.34	37.6
North	East:	Jeff Garr	y											
24b	L3	56	1	59	1.8	0.179	4.1	LOSA	0.0	0.0	0.00	0.09	0.00	40.2
25	T1	262	3	276	1.1	0.179	0.0	LOSA	0.0	0.0	0.00	0.09	0.00	39.4
Appro	bach	318	4	335	1.3	0.179	0.7	NA	0.0	0.0	0.00	0.09	0.00	39.6
South	West:	John St	reet											
31	T1	153	3	161	2.0	0.099	0.3	LOSA	0.3	2.1	0.15	0.05	0.15	39.4
32a	R1	20	0	21	0.0	0.099	4.0	LOSA	0.3	2.1	0.15	0.05	0.15	39.7
Appro	bach	173	3	182	1.7	0.099	0.8	NA	0.3	2.1	0.15	0.05	0.15	39.4
All Vehic	les	529	7	557	1.3	0.179	1.0	NA	0.3	2.1	0.07	0.11	0.07	39.3

Site Level of Service (LOS) Method: Delay (RTA NSW). Site LOS Method is specified in the Parameter Settings dialog (Site tab). Vehicle movement LOS values are based on average delay per movement.

Minor Road Approach LOS values are based on average delay for all vehicle movements.

NA: Intersection LOS and Major Road Approach LOS values are Not Applicable for two-way sign control since the average delay is not a good LOS measure due to zero delays associated with major road movements.

Delay Model: SIDRA Standard (Geometric Delay is included).

Queue Model: SIDRA Standard.

Gap-Acceptance Capacity: SIDRA Standard (Akçelik M3D).

HV (%) values are calculated for All Movement Classes of All Heavy Vehicle Model Designation.

SIDRA INTERSECTION 9.0 | Copyright © 2000-2020 Akcelik and Associates Pty Ltd | sidrasolutions.com Organisation: INTERSECT TRAFFIC PTY LTD | Licence: PLUS / 1PC | Processed: Wednesday, 26 August 2020 9:13:09 AM Project: Not Saved

Traffic and Parking Assessment - 1 - 3 Bathurst Street, Singleton - Singleton Council

MOVEMENT SUMMARY

V Site: 101 [2020 PM (Site Folder: General)] John Street / William Street Give Way Site Category: (None) Give-Way (Two-Way)

Mov ID	Turn	INF VOLU		DEM FLO		Deg. Satn		Level of Service		ACK OF	Prop. Que	Effective Stop	Aver. No.	Aver. Speed
		[Total veh/h	HV] veh/h	[Total veh/h	HV] %	v/c	sec		[Veh. veh	Dist] m		Rate	Cycles	km/t
East:	Willia	m Street												
4a	L1	18	0	19	0.0	0.056	4.7	LOS A	0.2	1.6	0.40	0.61	0.40	37.2
6b	R3	26	0	27	0.0	0.056	7.6	LOSA	0.2	1.6	0.40	0.61	0.40	35.5
Appro	bach	44	0	46	0.0	0.056	6.4	LOSA	0.2	1.6	0.40	0.61	0.40	36.4
North	East:	Jeff Garr	у											
24b	L3	73	0	77	0.0	0.216	4.1	LOSA	0.0	0.0	0.00	0.10	0.00	40.1
25	T1	312	1	328	0.3	0.216	0.0	LOSA	0.0	0.0	0.00	0.10	0.00	39.4
Appro	bach	385	1	405	0.3	0.216	0.8	NA	0.0	0.0	0.00	0.10	0.00	39.5
South	West:	John St	reet											
31	T1	328	1	345	0.3	0.238	0.8	LOSA	1.3	9.1	0.28	0.09	0.28	38.9
32a	R1	75	1	79	1.3	0.238	4.7	LOSA	1.3	9.1	0.28	0.09	0.28	39.4
Appro	bach	403	2	424	0.5	0.238	1.6	NA	1.3	9.1	0.28	0.09	0.28	39.0
All Vehic	laa	832	3	876	0.4	0.238	1.5	NA	1.3	9.1	0.16	0.12	0.16	39.1

Site Level of Service (LOS) Method: Delay (RTA NSW). Site LOS Method is specified in the Parameter Settings dialog (Site tab). Vehicle movement LOS values are based on average delay per movement.

Minor Road Approach LOS values are based on average delay for all vehicle movements.

NA: Intersection LOS and Major Road Approach LOS values are Not Applicable for two-way sign control since the average delay is not a good LOS measure due to zero delays associated with major road movements.

Delay Model: SIDRA Standard (Geometric Delay is included).

Queue Model: SIDRA Standard.

Gap-Acceptance Capacity: SIDRA Standard (Akçelik M3D).

HV (%) values are calculated for All Movement Classes of All Heavy Vehicle Model Designation.

SIDRA INTERSECTION 9.0 | Copyright © 2000-2020 Akcelik and Associates Pty Ltd | sidrasolutions.com Organisation: INTERSECT TRAFFIC PTY LTD | Licence: PLUS / 1PC | Processed: Wednesday, 26 August 2020 11:16:20 AM Project: C:\Work Documents\Projects\2020\2020.041 - Singleton Council Land reclassifiaction\Sidra\William Street\John_William.sip9

Traffic and Parking Assessment - 1 - 3 Bathurst Street, Singleton - Singleton Council

MOVEMENT SUMMARY

V Site: 101 [2030 AM (Site Folder: General)] John Street / William Street Give Way Site Category: (None) Give-Way (Two-Way)

Design Life Analysis (Final Year): Results for 10 years

Vehi	cie M	overner	nt Perfor	mance										
Mov ID	Turn		PUT JMES	DEM FLO		Deg Sutn		Level of Service	QU	ACK OF EUE	Prop	Effective Stop	Aver No.	Aver Speed
		[Total veh/h	HV] voh/h	[Total veh/h	HV] %	v/c	SOC		[Veh. veh	Dist] m		Rate	Cycles	km/h
East	Willia	m Street												
4a	L1	28	0	34	0.0	0.041	4.7	LOSA	0.2	1.5	0.37	0.52	0.37	37.7
6b	R3	10	0	12	0.0	0.041	6.2	LOSA	0.2	1.5	0.37	0.52	0.37	36.3
Appro	oach	38	0	46	0.0	0.041	5.1	LOSA	0.2	1.5	0.37	0.52	0.37	37.5
North	East	Jeff Garr	у											
24b	L3	56	1	68	1.8	0.208	4.1	LOSA	0.0	0.0	0.00	0.09	0.00	40.2
25	T1	262	3	320	1,1	0.208	0.0	LOSA	0.0	0.0	0.00	0.09	0.00	39.4
Appro	oach	318	4	388	1.3	0.208	0.7	NA	0.0	0.0	0.00	0.09	0.00	39.6
South	hWest	John St	reet											
31	T1	153	3	187	2.0	0.115	0.4	LOSA	0.4	2.6	0.16	0.05	0.16	39.3
32a	R1	20	0	24	0.0	0.115	4.3	LOSA	0.4	2.6	0.16	0.05	0.16	39.6
Appro	oach	173	3	211	1.7	0.115	0.9	NA	0.4	2.6	0.16	0.05	0.16	39.4
All Vehic	des	529	7	646	1.3	0.208	1.1	NA	0.4	2.6	0.08	0.11	0.08	39.3

Site Level of Service (LOS) Method: Delay (RTA NSW). Site LOS Method is specified in the Parameter Settings dialog (Site tab). Vehicle movement LOS values are based on average delay per movement. Minor Road Approach LOS values are based on average delay for all vehicle movements.

NA: Intersection LOS and Major Road Approach LOS values are Not Applicable for two-way sign control since the average delay is not a good LOS measure due to zero delays associated with major road movements.

Delay Model: SIDRA Standard (Geometric Delay is included).

Queue Model: SIDRA Standard.

Gap-Acceptance Capacity: SIDRA Standard (Akçelik M3D).

HV (%) values are calculated for All Movement Classes of All Heavy Vehicle Model Designation.

SIDRA INTERSECTION 9.0 | Copyright © 2000-2020 Akcelik and Associates Pty Ltd | sidrasolutions.com Organisation: INTERSECT TRAFFIC PTY LTD | Licence: PLUS / 1PC | Processed: Wednesday, 26 August 2020 9:14:30 AM Project: Not Saved

Traffic and Parking Assessment - 1 - 3 Bathurst Street, Singleton - Singleton Council

MOVEMENT SUMMARY

V Site: 101 [2030 PM (Site Folder: General)] John Street / William Street Give Way Site Category: (None) Give-Way (Two-Way)

Design Life Analysis (Final Year): Results for 10 years

Vehi	cle M	ovemen	t Perfor	mance										
Mov ID	Tum		PUT JMES HV] veh/h	DEM FLO [Total veh/h		Deg. Satn v/c		Level of Service		ACK OF EUE Dist] m	Prop. Que	Effective Stop Rate	Aver. No. Cycles	Aver. Speed km/h
East:	Willia	m Street												
4a 6b Appre	L1 R3	18 26 44	0 0	22 32 54	0.0 0.0 0.0	0.072 0.072 0.072	5.0 8.5 7.1	LOS A LOS A	0.3 0.3 0.3	2.0 2.0 2.0	0.44 0.44 0.44	0.65 0.65 0.65	0.44 0.44 0.44	37.0 35.2 36.1
North	East	Jeff Garr	y											
24b 25	L3 T1	73 312	0 1	89 381	0.0 0.3	0.251 0.251	4.1 0.0	LOS A LOS A	0.0 0.0	0.0 0.0	0.00	0.10 0.10	0.00 0.00	40.1 39.4
Appro		385	1	470	0.3	0.251	0.8	NA	0.0	0.0	0.00	0.10	0.00	39.5
South		John St	reet											
31	T1	328	1	401	0.3	0.281	1.1	LOSA	1.7	11.6	0.32	0.09	0.32	38.7
32a	R1	75	1	92	1.3	0.281	5.3	LOSA	1.7	11.6	0.32	0.09	0.32	39.2
Appro	oach	403	2	492	0.5	0.281	1.9	NA	1.7	11.6	0.32	0.09	0.32	38.8
All Vehic	les	832	3	1016	0.4	0.281	1.7	NA	1.7	11.6	0.18	0.12	0.18	38.9

Site Level of Service (LOS) Method: Delay (RTA NSW), Site LOS Method is specified in the Parameter Settings dialog (Site tab). Vehicle movement LOS values are based on average delay per movement.

Minor Road Approach LOS values are based on average delay for all vehicle movements.

NA: Intersection LOS and Major Road Approach LOS values are Not Applicable for two-way sign control since the average delay is not a good LOS measure due to zero delays associated with major road movements.

Delay Model: SIDRA Standard (Geometric Delay is included).

Queue Model: SIDRA Standard.

Gap-Acceptance Capacity: SIDRA Standard (Akçelik M3D)

HV (%) values are calculated for All Movement Classes of All Heavy Vehicle Model Designation.

SIDRA INTERSECTION 9.0 | Copyright © 2000-2020 Akcelik and Associates Pty Ltd | sidrasolutions.com Organisation: INTERSECT TRAFFIC PTY LTD | Licence: PLUS / 1PC | Processed: Wednesday, 26 August 2020 11:16:25 AM Project: C:\Work Documents\Projects\2020\2020.041 - Singleton Council Land reclassifiaction\Sidra\William Street\John_William.sip9

Appendix F Council Resolution for Carparking 2021

SINGLETON COUNCIL

Council Meeting - 19 July 2021

Having declared a pecuniary interest as a Board Member of Ourcare Services Limited, Cr Martin retired from the meeting at 6.40pm.

Infrastructure & Planning Report (DP&I53/21)

DI&P53/21 Carparking Associated with Proposed Reclassification of Land at 1-3 Bathurst Street, Singleton FILE:55.2018.2

The purpose of this report was to seek a Council resolution stating that on-site carparking, or a monetary contribution for carparking, is not required for the proposed reclassification of land at 1-3 Bathurst Street, Singleton. This is in response to feedback from the NSW Department of Planning, Industry and Environment (DPIE) that carparking needs to be addressed prior to the proposal being able to be considered for a Gateway determination to progress the proposal.

129/21 **RESOLVED:** that Council resolve not to require on-site car parking or a monetary contribution in lieu of on-site car parking as part of the proposed reclassification of 1-3 Bathurst Street, Singleton.

THOMPSON/MCNAMARA

Upon being put to the meeting, the motion was declared carried. For the Motion were Crs S Moore, T McNamara, V Scott, D Thompson, H Jenkins, S George, T Jarrett and S Lukeman Total (8). Against the Motion was Nil Total (0). Cr Adamthwaite was an apology for the meeting and Cr Martin was not present during consideration of this item.

Cr Martin returned to the meeting at 6.41pm.

Infrastructure & Planning Report (DP&I54/21)

DI&P54/21 Draft Asset Management Policy

FILE:POL/9006

The purpose of this report was for Council to consider adopting draft POL/9006.4 Asset Management Policy following a recent biennial review.

- 130/21 **RESOLVED:** that Council:
 - 1. Adopt draft POL/9006.4 Asset Management Policy.
 - 2. Rescind POL/9006.3 Asset Management Policy.

JENKINS/GEORGE

Page 9

Minutes of Meeting of Singleton Council held on 19 July 2021

Appendix G Checklist from LEP Practice Note PN 16-001

The Department's Practice Note PN 16-001 includes a checklist for	r proposale cooking to closely or real costs, sublic land through a
LEP. The information required to be addressed in the checklist is o	
Requirement	Comment
The current and proposed classification of the land	The subject land is currently classified as community land and is propose to be reclassified to operational land under the provisions of the <i>Loca</i> <i>Government Act 1993</i> .
Whether the land is a 'public reserve' (defined in the LG Act)	The site is not defined as 'public reserve' under the <i>Local Government Ac</i> 1993.
The strategic and site specific merits of the reclassification and evidence to support this	Addressed throughout the planning proposal
Whether the planning proposal is the result of a strategic study or report	Addressed under Part 3 Justification Section A – Need for the Planning Proposal.
Whether the planning proposal is consistent with council's community plan or other local strategic plan	Addressed under Part 3 Section B – Relationship to Strategic Planning Framework.
A summary of council's interests in the land, including: - how and when the land was first acquired (e.g. was it dedicated, donated, provided as part of a subdivision for public open space or other purpose, or a developer contribution) - if council does not own the land, the land owner's consent; - the nature of any trusts, dedications etc;	Council purchased the land in 1968 and in subsequent years a carpar was developed. The land is currently owned by Council.
Whether an interest in land is proposed to be discharged, and if so, an explanation of the reasons why	There are no interests in the land to be discharged as a result of the planning proposal.
The effect of the reclassification (including, the loss of public open space, the land ceases to be a public reserve or particular interests will be discharged	The effect of the reclassification will be that the land will be classified a operational, allowing for the sale of the site. This will result in a small los of community land which is demonstrated in Figure 4 of the plannin proposal.
Evidence of public reserve status or relevant interests, or lack thereof applying to the land (e.g. electronic title searches, notice in a Government Gazette, trust documents)	The land does not have public reserve status. The deposited plan included in Appendix A of the planning proposal as evidence of this.
Current use(s) of the land, and whether uses are authorised or unauthorised	The site is currently used as a community facility by Ourcare Services Lt and the Senior Citizen Centre. Ourcare Services Ltd is a not-for-proi organisation which provides a range of services to the Singleto community including community transport, meals on wheels, neighbou aid, home maintenance, home modification, domestic assistance an personal care. This is addressed further in the 'Introduction' section of the planning proposal.
Current or proposed lease or agreements applying to the land, together with their duration, terms and controls	Addressed throughout. A copy of the current lease is included in Append C.
Current or proposed business dealings (e.g. agreement for the sale or lease of the land, the basic details of any such agreement and if relevant, when council intends to realise its asset, either immediately after rezoning/reclassification or at a later time)	The current business dealings are addressed throughout. The curren lease and arrangements are included in Appendix C. Details of the proposed sale are addressed throughout the planning proposal.
Any rezoning associated with the reclassification (if yes, need to demonstrate consistency with an endorsed Plan of Management or strategy)	The planning proposal is not seeking to change the current zoning of the land, boundaries of the zone or development standards.
How council may or will benefit financially, and how these funds will be used;	Addressed throughout the planning proposal. The offer to purchase is \$625,000 (ex GST), and council proposes that th funds be re-invested into other Council assets to improve their operatin efficiencies. Solar power is currently being investigated for this.
How council will ensure funds remain available to fund proposed open space sites or improvements referred to in justifying the reclassification, if relevant to the proposal	This planning proposal does not commit funds to proposed open space of specific improvements.
A Land Reclassification (part lots) Map, in accordance with any standard technical requirements for spatial datasets and maps, if land to be reclassified does not apply to the whole lot	A Land Reclassification (part lots) Map is not applicable as the land to b reclassified applies to the whole lot.
Preliminary comments by a relevant government agency, including an agency that dedicated the land to council, if applicable	The land is owned by Council. No formal consultation with State an Commonwealth public authorities has been undertaken at this stage no is proposed. However, consultation will be undertaken with State agencies in accordance with the Gateway determination, if required.



Singleton Council Public Hearing into Reclassification of 1-3 Bathurst Street Singleton Independent Report 9 December 2021

Date of Public Hearing – Wednesday 8 December 2021 Time of Public Hearing – 5.30pm – 6.30pm Held – Online via Microsoft Teams Independent Facilitator and Author of Report Alexandra Joy from UQ Power Council Representatives – Robert Drew, Coordinator Planning and Development Services Maryanne Crawford, Manager Development & Environmental Services

Community Representatives in attendance – Janice Goodwin Two other community representatives were registered but did not attend.

This is a report prepared by Alexandra Joy, an independent facilitator outlining the proceedings of a public hearing held on the evening of 8 December 2021 on behalf of Singleton Council.

ORDER OF PROCEEDINGS FOR PUBLIC HEARING

WELCOME BY FACILITATOR

- Opening of public hearing
- Welcome all attendees
- Acknowledgement of Country Wonnarua land
- Introduction of self as facilitator and acknowledgement that as the facilitator presiding over the public hearing I am not a councillor or employee of the council holding the public hearing, nor been a councillor or employee of Singleton Council at any time during the 5 years before the date of this hearing.

OVERVIEW OF PUBLIC HEARING PROCESS BY FACILITATOR

- Proposed reclassification of land at 1-3 Bathurst Street, Singleton. Pursuant to Section 294 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000, the public hearing took place online.
- As per section 29 Public hearing into reclassification the public hearing was conducted in accordance with section 57 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 in respect of a planning proposal under Part 3 of that Act to reclassify community land as operational land.

Facilitator outlined next steps and that they would furnish a report after the Public Hearing
• Facilitation outlined next steps and that they would furnish a report after the Public Hearing Council will then make this report available no later than 4 days after it has received for the
public.
GROUND RULES
The Facilitator then outlined the ground rules for the proceedings including:
One speaker at a time
• Invite persons who nominated to speak to address hearing (10 mins max per speaker)
• Community representatives are asked to stick to the topic of the land in question being
Bathurst Street Singleton
• The Facilitator will record any issues raised and then seek confirmation that all issues
raised have been correctly recorded.
The public hearing session will have duration of no less than one hour and the Facilitate
will stay on the line and keep the call open until a full hour at least has passed.
OVERVIEW OF THE PROPOSED RECLASSIFICATION
Council employee Robert Drew provided an explanation of the proposed reclassification of
land at 1-3 Bathurst Street Singleton from Community Land to Operational Land to allow
for the purchase of the building by the existing tenants on the proviso that their services
to the community are maintained.
 Robert provided a visual slide including an aerial map/image of the site.
 Robert explained the process to be undertaken and the rough timeframes that could be
expected pending outcomes of the process.
PUBLIC COMMENT
 Facilitator then opened up the forum for discussion and comment by members of the publi
attendance.
Member of the community Janice Goodwin provided support for the proposed reclassificat
Mrs Goodwin indicated that she is the Honorary Secretary for the Senior Citizens associatio
which has around 30 members currently and uses the space on 1-2 days per week. She
indicated that she and the Senior Citizens association have no objection to the proposed
change of use and reclassification of community land to operational land so long as they ca still operate their service and lease the space for the use of their community group.
 As there were no other members of the public in attendance this was the only comment
• As there were no other members of the public in attendance this was the only comment received.
 Facilitator thanked Mrs Goodwin for her time, explained the next steps and officially closed
the Public Hearing.
 The Facilitator and Mr Drew stayed online with the forum open until 1 hour had passed, no
other members of the public attended.
CONCLUSION
Given that no public comment was received during the open feedback time and that the
only community member in attendance at the Public Hearing was supportive of the
change it can be concluded that the community are not opposed to the proposed
reclassification.
 It is recommended that this may now proceed to the next steps in preparing advice
for Council to consider progressing the reclassification process.

+61 0415843654 aj@alexandrajoy.com.au www.alexandrajoy.com.au